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upon the closing sales price of the registrant�s common stock on that date on the New York Stock Exchange).
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements that reflect our current expectations and projections about our future
results, performance, prospects and opportunities. We have tried to identify forward-looking statements by using words such as �may,� �will,�
�expect,� �anticipate,� �believe,� �intend,� �estimate,� �should,� �could,� �potential,� �goal,� �strategy� and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements
are based on information currently available to us and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those described
in �Risk Factors� in this annual report on Form 10-K, that could cause our actual results, performance, prospects or opportunities to differ
materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements.

You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Except as otherwise required by federal securities laws, we undertake
no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed
circumstances or any other reason after the date of this annual report on Form 10-K.

In this annual report on Form 10-K, unless the context requires otherwise, the terms �we,� �us,� and �our� refer to The Dolan Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries. During 2010, we changed our name from Dolan Media Company to The Dolan Company. We operate our
majority-owned subsidiary, American Processing Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, �APC�), under the trade name, National Default
Exchange or NDeX. Therefore, when we refer to �National Default Exchange� or �NDeX� in this annual report on Form 10-K, we mean all of our
mortgage default processing operations in Michigan, Indiana and Minnesota and at Barrett-NDEx, as well as those acquired from the Albertelli
Sellers in October 2009. When we refer to �Barrett-NDEx� in this annual report on Form 10-K, it means the mortgage default processing
operations serving the Texas, California, Nevada and Georgia markets that NDeX acquired from National Default Exchange Management, Inc.,
National Default Exchange Holdings, LP, THP/Barrett-NDEx AIV, Corp. and THP/Barrett-NDEx AIV, LP on September 2, 2008. The term
�Barrett Law Firm� refers to Barrett, Daffin, Frappier, Turner & Engel, LLP and its affiliates. When we refer to the �Albertelli Sellers� in this annual
report on Form 10-K, it means James E. Albertelli, P.A., The Albertelli Firm, P.C., Albertelli Title, Inc. and James E. Albertelli, as a group. We
also refer to James E. Albertelli, P.A. and The Albertelli Firm, P.C., together, as the �Albertelli Law Firm.� The term �Trott Sellers� in this annual
report on Form 10-K means David A. Trott, Ellen Coon, Trustee of the Ellen Coon Living Trust u/a/d 9/9/98, Marcy J. Ford, Trustee of the
Marcy Ford Revocable Trust u/a/d 7/12/04, William D. Meagher, Trustee of the William D. Meagher Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, and Jeanne M. Kivi,
Trustee of the Jeanne M. Kivi Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, each of whom we individually refer to as a �Trott Seller.�
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PART I

Item1. Business
Overview

We are a leading provider of necessary professional services and business information to legal, financial and real estate sectors in the United
States. We serve our customers through two complementary operating divisions: our Professional Services Division and our Business
Information Division. Our Professional Services Division comprises two reporting segments: mortgage default processing services and litigation
support services. Through our subsidiary, NDeX, we provide mortgage default processing services to eight law firm customers located in
California, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Michigan, Minnesota, and Texas, as well as directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers on residential
real estate located in California. Our subsidiaries DiscoverReady and Counsel Press comprise our litigation support services reporting segment.
DiscoverReady provides outsourced discovery management and document review services to major United States companies and their counsel.
Counsel Press provides appellate services to law firms and attorneys nationwide. Our Business Information Division produces legal publications,
business journals, court and commercial media, other highly focused online information products and services, and operates web sites and
produces events for targeted professional audiences in 21 geographic markets across the United States. Our information is delivered through a
variety of methods, including approximately 60 print publications and 80 web sites. We also operate specialized information services covering
legislative and regulatory activities and providing transcription, media monitoring and translation services

In 2011, management committed to a plan of action to sell two of our smallest stand-alone businesses within the Business Information Division
(which will reduce our geographic markets for publications to 19). For a further discussion of this, please see �Recent Developments�Discontinued
Operations/Assets Held for Sale� in Item 7 below. Such operations have been classified in our financial statements as assets held for sale at
December 31, 2011, and the results of these operations are shown in discontinued operations for each period presented. Accordingly, the
discussion that follows regarding financial information refers to continuing operations only.

Our business model has multiple diversified revenue streams that allow us to generate revenues and cash flow throughout all phases of the
economic cycle. This diversification allows us to maintain the flexibility to capitalize on growth opportunities. In addition, our balanced business
model, together with our diverse geographic mix, produces stability by mitigating the effects of economic fluctuations. The following table
shows the percentage of our total revenues generated by our products and services for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009.

Percentage of Revenues
Revenue type 2011 2010 2009
Cyclical/non-cyclical revenues
Display and classified advertising revenues 8.0% 7.3% 8.9% 
Public notice revenues 3.1% 3.2% 3.8% 
Subscription and other revenues 7.8% 5.0% 5.5% 
Litigation support services segment revenues 26.9% 19.2% 8.2% 

Total cyclical/non-cyclical revenues 45.8% 34.7% 26.4% 
Countercyclical revenues
Mortgage default processing services segment revenues 45.7% 53.5% 58.7% 
Public notice revenues 8.5% 11.8% 14.9% 

Total countercyclical revenues 54.2% 65.3% 73.6% 
Cyclical revenues and cash flows tend to increase during economic expansions and decrease during economic downturns. In contrast,
countercyclical revenues and cash flows tend to increase during economic downturns and decrease during economic expansions, and
non-cyclical revenues and cash flows tend to remain relatively unaffected by changes in the economic cycle. For example, absent government
intervention, a worsening economy tends to lead to a higher rate of residential mortgage foreclosures and
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a greater number of foreclosure-related public notices being published, while an improving economy tends to have the opposite impact. We
believe that revenues associated with our litigation support services and subscription and other revenues in our Business Information Division
are primarily non-cyclical because such revenues do not tend to fluctuate with the economic cycles. We regard our public notice revenues as
both cyclical/non-cyclical and countercyclical because a portion of such revenues are related to foreclosure notices, which are countercyclical,
and the balance of such revenues are related to listings for fictitious business names, limited liability companies and other entity notices, which
are typically non-cyclical.

Our History

The Dolan Company is a Delaware corporation incorporated in March 2003 under the name DMC II Company to continue operations started in
1992 by our predecessor company, named Dolan Media Company. In July 2003, after our predecessor company spun off its business
information and other businesses to us in connection with a restructuring, we resumed operations under the name Dolan Media Company. In
2010, we changed our name from Dolan Media Company to The Dolan Company.

We have a successful history of growth through acquisitions. We have completed more than 70 acquisitions under both our predecessor
company from 1992 through March 2003, and since March 2003, including one acquisition in 2011. In July 2011, we acquired substantially all
of the assets of ACT Litigation Services, Inc. (�ACT�). ACT specializes in providing technology and process solutions to clients with electronic
discovery needs, and also provides hosting and review services. ACT is part of our DiscoverReady business.

We expect that our acquisitions will continue to be a component of growth in our three operating segments. We also expect to continue to
identify opportunities to expand the businesses in our Professional Services Division by starting operations in markets where we have not
previously provided these services or by acquiring business lines that we have not previously provided. For more information about ACT, the
business we acquired in 2011, you should refer to �Item 7: Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations�Recent Acquisitions� below.

Our Industries

Professional Services

Our Professional Services Division consists of two operating segments: mortgage default processing services and litigation support services. Our
mortgage default processing services segment comprises the operations of NDeX. Our litigation support services segment comprises the
operations of DiscoverReady, our discovery management and document review services business, and Counsel Press, our appellate services
business. We provide these support services to the legal profession. In addition, NDeX also provides its services directly to mortgage lenders and
loan servicers on California foreclosure files. Companies are increasingly looking for ways to control legal costs and for legal work to be
performed by the lowest cost high-quality provider.

Mortgage Default Processing Services

Prior to 2011, the volume of delinquencies and defaults over the previous few years had been at historically high levels and had created
additional demand for default processing services and had served as a growth catalyst for the mortgage default processing market. However,
beginning in late 2010, as a result of marketplace and regulatory dynamics, many large loan servicers began to slow down and reduce the
referral of defaulted files for foreclosure processing while they review their processes and practices. We believe this to be a temporary
slowdown, and while we do not expect the level of referrals will be as high in the coming years as they were for the few years prior to 2011, we
expect the temporary slowdown to end sometime in 2012 and the flow of foreclosures to resume at higher levels. See, however, �Item 1A: Risk
Factors� for a discussion of increased regulations and voluntary foreclosure relief programs that could have an adverse impact on the mortgage
default processing market.
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Litigation Support Services

One of the litigation support services we provide is discovery management and document review services, including certain technology services
related to processing and hosting the data. Discovery is the process by which parties use the legal system to obtain relevant information,
primarily in litigation, regulatory, and governmental investigation matters. Some United States companies with in-house legal departments
choose to perform or manage some portions of the discovery process in-house, rather than outsourcing them. This process can be expensive and
time-consuming for companies and their lawyers depending upon the volume of emails, electronic files and paper documents a company must
review to respond to a document request. As the volume of data requiring review continues to increase, we anticipate that companies and their
lawyers will be required to find more cost-effective and efficient solutions to managing their discovery process.

We also provide appellate services to lawyers in connection with both state and federal appeals. We currently perform more state appellate work,
as state appellate case volume generally is larger than federal case volume. There are typically about 300,000 state appeals filed each year,
compared to approximately 58,000 federal appeals filed per year, according to information available to us from the Administrative Office of the
U.S. Courts and the National Center for State Courts. While certain states, such as New York, have very specific appellate filing requirements,
federal appeals typically are more complicated and have more challenging document and filing requirements. Our clients typically require
Counsel Press� expertise more when their cases are more complicated and the filing requirements are more challenging.

Business Information

We provide business information products to companies and professionals in the legal, financial, real estate and governmental affairs sectors
primarily through print and online business journals and court and commercial newspapers, as well as other electronic media offerings. Our
business journals generally rely on display and classified advertising as a significant source of revenue and provide content that is relevant to the
business communities they target. Our court and commercial newspapers generally rely on public notices as their primary source of revenue and
offer extensive and more focused information to the legal communities they target. All of our business journals and court and commercial
newspapers also generate circulation revenue to supplement their advertising and public notice revenue base. We believe, based on data we have
collected over several years, that there are more than 230 local business journals and more than 350 court and commercial newspapers
nationwide, which generated approximately $2.0 billion in revenues in 2011.

Mainstream media outlets, such as television, radio, metropolitan and national newspapers and the Internet, generally provide broad-based
information to a geographically dispersed or demographically diverse audience. By contrast, we provide proprietary content that is tailored to the
legal, financial and real estate sectors of each local and regional market we serve and that is not readily obtainable elsewhere. Our business
information products are often the only source of local information for our targeted business communities and compete only to a limited extent
for advertising customers with other media outlets, such as television, radio, metropolitan and national newspapers, the Internet, outdoor
advertising, directories and direct mail.

We are qualified to carry public notices in 14 of the 21 markets we serve. A public notice is a legally required announcement informing citizens
about government or government-related activities that may affect citizens� everyday lives. Most of these activities involve the application of
governmental authority to a private event, such as a mortgage foreclosure or probate filing, and notices also can include listings for fictitious
business names, limited liability companies and other entities, notifications of unclaimed property, governmental hearings and trustee sales.
Every jurisdiction in the United States has laws that regulate the manner in which public notices are published. Statutes specify wording,
frequency of publication and other unusual characteristics that may vary according to jurisdiction and make the publication of public notices
more complex than traditional advertising. These laws are designed to ensure that the public receives important information about the actions of
its government from a newspaper that is accessible and already a trusted source of community information. Currently, local newspapers
generally are the medium that is used to satisfy laws regulating the process of notifying the public. The extensive qualification requirements for
publishing public notices serve as barriers to entry to new and existing publications that desire to carry public notices.

In 2010, we acquired DataStream Content Solutions, LLC (�DataStream�) and certain assets of Federal News Service, Inc. (�Federal News�), and we
formed a new joint venture, Legislative Information Services of America, LLC (�LISA�). As a result,
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through new subscription-based offerings, DataStream, Federal News and LISA bring us into new industries with their transcription services and
customized access to state and federal legislative and regulatory data. The market for these products and services includes government agencies,
including the U.S. Congress; news media and other business information providers; and governmental relations professionals in lobbying firms
and Fortune 1000-level companies throughout the U.S.

Our Products and Services

Professional Services�Mortgage Default Processing Services Segment

We offer mortgage default processing and related services through our majority-owned subsidiary, NDeX, to our eight law firm customers and,
on California foreclosure files, to mortgage lenders and loan servicers. We currently own 93.8% of the membership interests in NDeX.
Generally, NDeX assists its law firm and other customers in processing foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction and, to a lesser extent, litigation and
other mortgage default related case files, in connection with residential mortgage defaults in California, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Michigan,
Minnesota, Nevada and Texas. NDeX also provides real estate title services to the Barrett Law Firm and provides loan modification and loss
mitigation support on mortgage default files to its customers.

Our largest customer is the Barrett Law Firm, which represented approximately 45% of our mortgage default processing services segment
revenues and 20% of our total revenues in 2011. Trott & Trott is our second largest customer, representing 26% of our mortgage default
processing services segment revenues and 12% of our total revenues in 2011. In 2011, the top 10 clients of our law firm customers accounted for
72% of the mortgage default case files handled by our law firm customers. In 2011, we received approximately 317,200 mortgage default case
files for processing from our customers.

Pursuant to 15- to 25-year services agreements, NDeX is the sole provider of processing services for foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction and, to a
lesser extent, litigation, for residential mortgage defaults to its eight law firm customers. These contracts provide for the exclusive referral to
NDeX of processing work related to residential mortgage default case files handled by each law firm, although Trott & Trott and the Barrett Law
Firm may send files elsewhere if directed by their respective clients. All of NDeX�s customers pay a fixed fee per file based on the type of file
that NDeX services. The initial term of our services agreements with the Trott & Trott and the Barrett Law Firm expire in 2021 and 2033,
respectively. The initial term of our services agreements with other law firm customers expire between 2022 and 2030. In each case, the initial
terms of these services agreements will automatically renew for up to two successive five-to ten-year periods unless either party elects to
terminate the term then-in-effect with prior notice. During the term of our services agreement with our law firm customer in Indiana, we have
agreed not to provide mortgage default processing services with respect to real estate located in Indiana for any other law firm. Similarly, we
have agreed with our law firm customer in Minnesota not to provide our services to any other law firm with respect to Minnesota real estate
during the term of our services agreement. We also agreed with the Albertelli Law Firm, our Florida law firm customer, that we would not
provide our services with respect to real estate located in Florida for any other law firm until after October 2011. For the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, our mortgage default processing services segment accounted for 46%, 54%, and 59% of our total revenues
and 63%, 74% and 88% of our Professional Services Division�s total revenues, respectively.

The default processing begins when a borrower defaults on mortgage payment obligations and the mortgage lender or servicer sends the case file
containing the relevant information regarding the loan to our law firm customer, or directly to NDeX, with respect to residential real estate
located in California. Our law firm customers are retained by mortgage lending and mortgage servicing firms to provide counsel with respect to
the foreclosure, eviction, bankruptcy and, to a lesser extent, litigation and other mortgage default related case files in each of the states in which
we provide these services for residential mortgage defaults.

The procedures surrounding the foreclosure process involve numerous steps, each of which must adhere to strict statutory guidelines and all of
which are overseen and directed by attorneys at our law firm customers. NDeX assists these customers with processing residential mortgage
defaults, including data entry, supervised document preparation, mailing of required notices and placements of required publications and other
non-legal processes. Specific procedural steps in the foreclosure process vary by state.
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We service customers in both non-judicial and judicial foreclosure states. In a judicial foreclosure state, a loan is secured by a mortgage and the
foreclosing party must file a complaint and summons that begin a lawsuit requesting that the court order a foreclosure. In a non-judicial state, a
loan is secured by a mortgage that contains a power of sale clause, and the lender may begin the foreclosure process without a court order.

Fees. Government sponsored entities, including Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, monitor and establish guidelines that are generally accepted by
mortgage lending and mortgage servicing firms nationwide for the per file case fees to be paid to their counsel. Thus, our law firm customers
receive a fixed fee per file from their clients and we then receive our agreed upon fixed fee per file from the applicable law firm. Under the
services agreements with our law firm customers, we are entitled to receive a fee when our law firm customer directs us to begin processing a
residential mortgage case file, regardless of whether the case proceeds all the way to foreclosure, eviction, bankruptcy or litigation. If our
customers� client proceeds to eviction or chooses to litigate, or if the borrower files for bankruptcy, and in some instances when the time to
process the file is prolonged, we receive additional fixed fees per case file. In California, foreclosures may be undertaken by non-attorneys.
Thus, in the case of the majority of California foreclosure files, we receive the full fee directly from our customers, the mortgage lender or loan
servicers.

Technology. NDeX has two proprietary case management software systems that store, manage and report on the large amount of data associated
with each foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction or litigation case file serviced by NDeX in each of the states in which we do business. Under both
systems, each case file is scanned, stored and tracked digitally, thereby improving record keeping. The systems also provide NDeX�s
management with real-time information regarding employee productivity and the status of case files. In 2012, we intend to implement
Barrett-NDEx and continue to migrate NDeX Florida on the case management system originally developed for use in Michigan, so that we are
using the same system in all of the states where we do business.

Professional Services�Litigation Support Services Segment

Through our litigation support services segment, we provide outsourced litigation support services to major United States and global companies
and their in-house lawyers and law firms, through DiscoverReady, and we provide outsourced appellate services to local and regional law firms
through Counsel Press. DiscoverReady, in which we own a 90.0% interest, provides discovery management and document review services,
including certain technology services related to processing and hosting the data. Counsel Press assists law firms in organizing, preparing and
filing appellate briefs, records and appendices, in paper and electronic formats. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, our
litigation support services segment accounted for 27%, 19% and 8% of our total revenues and 37%, 26% and 12% of our Professional Services
Division�s total revenues, respectively.

Discovery is the process by which parties use the legal system to obtain relevant information, primarily in litigation, regulatory and government
investigation matters. This process can be expensive and time-consuming for companies depending upon the volume of emails, electronic files
and paper documents a company must review to respond to a document request. DiscoverReady assists these companies and their counsel in
document reviews and managing the discovery process. DiscoverReady also provides related technology management services. In 2011,
DiscoverReady had two customers who each accounted for more than 10% of its revenues, together accounting for 11% of total consolidated
revenues.

Our litigation support services professionals at Counsel Press provide clients with consulting services, including procedural and technical advice
and support with respect to U.S. state and federal appellate processes. With our assistance, our customers are able to file high-quality appellate
briefs, records, appendices, and other documents that comply with the highly-localized and specialized rules of each court in which appeals are
filed. Counsel Press also offers a full range of traditional printing services and electronic filing services. For example, Counsel Press provides
the appellate bar with printing and filing services using its �Counsel Press E Brief� electronic and interactive court filing technology, which
converts paper files containing case citations, transcripts, exhibits and pleadings, as well as audio and video presentations, into integrated and
hyperlinked electronic media that can be delivered on CD-ROM or over the Internet. Counsel Press� case management system and other
proprietary business process applications are an important component of our digital strategy that enables our customers to more efficiently
manage the appeals process.
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Our appellate services are critical to our customers as their ability to satisfy their clients� needs depends upon their ability to file a timely appeal
that complies with a particular court�s technical requirements. Using our proprietary case management system, Counsel Press is able to process,
even on short notice, files that exceed 50,000 pages, producing on-deadline filings meeting exacting court standards. In 2011, Counsel Press
assisted more than 7,000 individual attorneys working within law firms, corporations, non-profit agencies, and government agencies in
organizing, printing and filing appellate briefs and other documents in many states, all of the federal courts of appeals and the U.S. Supreme
Court. In addition to its appellate services, Counsel Press provides additional tracking and professional services to its clients.

Fees. We charge our customers fees for our litigation support services, which are generally based upon the volume of data that we manage, the
number of documents that we review, the type of technology utilized, the number of consulting hours employed, the size and complexity of the
matter, and the requirements of the court or client.

Technology. DiscoverReady uses technology-aided systems to host, manage and automate the document review process. These systems are
consolidated in our New York, Michigan, Connecticut, California and Massachusetts data centers, and are used nationwide in our e-discovery
efforts. We have developed flexible technology that integrates third-party and custom-built tools to deliver efficient combinations of data
collection, processing, hosting, review, privilege identification and production to our customer projects. Our technology allows us to
simultaneously support numerous projects, allowing each to be in a different stage, and to operate with a custom workflow. Our systems and
processes follow rigorous security standards and routinely pass our customers� exacting standards and audits. We consistently improve the
system that delivers our e-discovery process by adding new technology and by increasing automation, and we are in the final stages of
deploying our next generation system that will significantly increase the speed, capacity and capability of our processes.

Counsel Press uses a proprietary case-management system and proprietary web-based applications within that system to manage our customer
relationships and files. Each Counsel Press staff member has access to real-time information about any file we are managing, or have managed,
or seek to manage. We store large amounts of data and summarize that data for our management and staff in reports on productivity, workload,
market opportunity, case management and case processing functions. Our primary customer-facing technology is our CP Client Portal which is
available via secure Internet connection. The CP Client Portal provides our clients real-time access to the information we create and files we
collect.

Business Information

Our business information products are important sources of necessary information for the legal, financial and real estate sectors in the 21
markets that we serve in the United States. We provide our business information products through our portfolio of approximately 60 publications
and 80 web sites. We also operate specialized information services covering legislative and regulatory activities and providing transcription,
media monitoring and translation services.

We believe, based on our 2011 revenues, we are the second largest publisher of local business journals in the United States and the second
largest publisher of court and commercial publications that specialize in carrying public notices. The business information products we target in
the Minnesota and Missouri markets each accounted for just more than 10% of our business information revenues for 2011, and together
accounted for 7% of our total 2011 revenues. Our business information products contain proprietary content written and created by our staff and
local expert contributors and stories from newswires and other relevant sources. Our journalists and contributors contribute, on average, over
1,000 articles and stories per week to our print titles and web sites that are tailored to the needs and preferences of our targeted markets.

We strive to be the most immediate and primary source of industry information to our audience, offering necessary proprietary content that
enhances the daily professional activities of our readers. Our business information products offer timely news, insight and commentary that
inform and educate professionals in the legal, financial, real estate and governmental affairs sectors about current topics and issues affecting
their professional communities. Specifically, our content focuses on enabling our readers to be well-informed of industry dynamics, their
competitors, recent transactions in their market, and current and potential client opportunities.
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We also offer to legal professionals related product enhancements and auxiliary products, such as directories, local judicial and courthouse
profiles, legal forms and �new attorney� kits. Additionally, several of our titles provide information regarding construction data and bidding
information on hundreds of projects each day, while other publications offer comprehensive coverage of the real estate industry, including
listings and foreclosure reports. Our business information portfolio also includes certain titles and online alert services that provide information
about regulatory agencies, legislative activities and local political news that are of interest to legislators, lobbyists and the greater political
community.

In addition to our various print titles, we employ a digital strategy to provide our business information products electronically through our web
sites and our email notification systems that offer both free and subscription-based content. We customize the delivery of our proprietary content
to meet our customers� needs. Our email notification systems allow us in real-time to provide up-to-date information to customers, who can
conveniently access such information, as well as other information on our web sites, from a desktop, laptop or mobile device. Our digital
strategy acts both as a complement to our print publications, with subscribers to a variety of our publications having access to web sites and
email notifications associated with such publications, and independently, with exclusive paid subscription access to most of our web services.
Our electronic content includes access to stand-alone subscription products, archives of articles, legislative tracking and alert services and case
digests containing case summaries, local verdicts and settlements, judicial profiles and email alerts containing case summaries and links to
decisions in subscribers� selected practice areas.

We sell packaged print and online advertising products to advertisers that desire to reach readers through different media. Dolan Media
Newswires, our Internet-based, subscription newswire, is available at www.dolanmedianewswires.com for news professionals and represents the
work of our journalists and contributors. We also operate online, subscription-based legislative information services that are used by lobbyists,
associations, corporations, unions, government affairs professionals, state agencies and the media in Arizona, Minnesota and Oklahoma.
Through these services, we offer online legislation tracking, up-to-date legislative news and other highly-detailed legislative information.

Through DataStream, we offer customized access to legislative databases which provide state and federal legislative and regulatory information.
DataStream�s proprietary processes and technology transform highly complex and unstructured data into valuable products and services for its
business and government clients. It specializes in applying XML markup language to convert complex and unstructured data into �smarter� forms,
allowing flexible queries and dynamic database updates. DataStream�s proprietary business lines include Legislative Impact® and Regulatory
Impact®, data management technologies which simplify searches of vast federal databases and are licensed to business clients and to the U.S.
House of Representatives Office of Legislative Counsel. DataStream also offers other data management, conversion and analytic tools and
services.

Through Federal News, we offer transcription services. Federal News� transcriptions, delivered to subscribers through our website and email
alerts, cover presidential public appearances; major congressional hearings; speeches, statements and press conferences by administration
leaders, congressional leaders and their spokespersons; briefings and important events at the White House, Departments of State, Defense,
Justice and Homeland Security and the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative; speeches and press conferences by visiting international leaders;
political interviews on television; and key events during presidential campaigns.

Advertising. All of our print products, as well as a large number of our electronic products, carry commercial advertising, which consists of
display and classified advertising. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, advertising (including revenues from events
discussed under �Seminars, Programs and Other Events� below) accounted for 8%, 7% and 9% of our total revenues and 29%, 27% and 27% of
our Business Information Division�s total revenues, respectively. We generate our advertising revenues from a variety of local business and
individual customers in the legal, financial and real estate sectors that we serve. For example, our top 10 advertising customers only represented,
in the aggregate, 2% of our total Business Information revenues in 2011. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2011, we derived
approximately 94% of our advertising revenues from local advertisers and about 6% of our advertising revenues from national advertisers (i.e.,
advertisers that place advertising in several of our publications at one time).
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Because spending by local advertisers is generally less volatile than that of national advertisers, we believe that our advertising revenue streams
carry a greater level of stability than publications that carry primarily national advertising and therefore we are better positioned to withstand
broad downturns in advertising spending.

Public Notices. Public notices are legal notices required by federal, state or local law to be published in qualified publications. A publication
must typically satisfy several legal requirements in order to provide public notices. In general, a publication must possess a difficult-to-obtain
U.S. Postal Service periodical permit, be of general and paid circulation within the relevant jurisdiction, include news content, and have been
established and regularly and uninterruptedly published for one to five years immediately preceding the first publication of a public notice. Some
jurisdictions also require that a public notice business be adjudicated by a governmental body. We are qualified to carry public notices in 14 of
the 21 markets in which we publish business journals or court and commercial newspapers. Our court and commercial newspapers publish more
than 350 different types of public notices, including foreclosure notices, probate notices, notices of fictitious business names, limited liability
company and other entity notices, trustee sale notices, unclaimed property notices, notices of governmental hearings, notices of elections, bond
issuances, zoning matters, bid solicitations and awards and governmental budgets. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
public notices accounted for 12%, 15% and 19% of our total revenues and 42%, 55% and 57% of our Business Information Division�s total
revenues, respectively. We believe that over 90% of our public notice customers in 2011 also published public notices in 2010. Our primary
public notice customers include real estate-related businesses and trustees, governmental agencies, attorneys and businesses or individuals filing
fictitious business name statements.

Subscription-Based Revenues and Other. We sell our business information products primarily through subscriptions to our publications, web
sites and email notification systems, legislative databases, and transcription services. We also provide commercial printing services and sell
database information through royalty or licensing fee arrangements. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, our
subscription-based and other revenues accounted for 8%, 5% and 6%, respectively, of our total revenues and 28%, 18% and 17% of our
Business Information Division�s total revenues, respectively. Subscription renewal rates for our business information products were 80% in the
aggregate in 2011, compared to 81% in 2010. Our renewal rates reflect that our products are relied upon as sources of necessary information by
the business communities in the markets we serve.

Seminars, Programs and Other Events. We believe that one of our strengths is our ability to develop, organize and produce professional
education seminars, awards programs and other local events to demonstrate our commitment to our targeted business communities, extend our
market reach and introduce our services to potential customers. While we generally charge admission and/or sponsorship fees for these seminars,
awards programs and other local events, these events also offer opportunities for cross-promotion and cross-selling of advertising with our local
print products that produce the event. Our sponsored events attracted approximately 42,000 attendees and 900 paying sponsors in 2011.
Revenues from our events are included as part of our display and classified advertising revenues.

Printing. We print seven of our business information publications at one of our three printing facilities located in Baltimore, Minneapolis and
Oklahoma City. The printing of our other print publications is outsourced to printing facilities owned and operated by third parties. We purchase
some of our newsprint from U.S. producers directly, but most of our newsprint is purchased indirectly through our third-party printers.
Newsprint prices are volatile and fluctuate based upon factors that include both foreign and domestic production capacity and consumption.
Newsprint, together with outsourced printing costs, accounted for about 8% of operating expenses attributable to our Business Information
Division in the year ended December 31, 2011.

Investments

We have, at times, made strategic minority investments in private companies. We have two equity method investments, the most significant of
which is The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC (�DLNP�), Michigan�s largest court and commercial newspaper publisher. DLNP also publishes
several other court and commercial newspapers and operates a statewide public notice placement network. We own a 35.0% membership
interest in DLNP.
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Competition

Professional Services Division-Mortgage Default Processing Services

Some mortgage loan lenders and servicers have in-house mortgage default processing service departments, while others outsource this function
to law firms that offer internal mortgage default processing services or have relationships with third-party providers of mortgage default
processing services. We estimate that the outsourced mortgage default processing services market primarily consists of the back-office
operations of approximately 350 local and regional law firms. Mortgage lending and mortgage loan servicing firms demand high service levels
from their counsel and the providers of mortgage default processing services, with their primary concerns being the efficiency and accuracy by
which counsel and the provider of processing services can complete the file and the precision with which loss mitigation efforts are pursued.
Accordingly, mortgage default processing service firms compete on the basis of efficiency by which they can process files and the quality of
their mortgage default processing services. We believe that increasing case volumes and rising client expectations provide us an opportunity due
to our ability to leverage our proprietary case management systems to provide efficient and effective services on a timely basis.

Professional Services Division�Litigation Support Services

The market for litigation support services is highly fragmented and we believe that it includes a large number of document review companies
and appellate service providers across the country as well as an unknown number of law firms who provide these services directly for their
clients. We also believe that many United States companies that would benefit from our litigation support services have in-house legal
departments that provide and manage a number of our services for the company. We compete with a large number of service providers in this
segment and believe that document review and discovery management service providers (like DiscoverReady) include consulting practices of a
number of major accounting firms and general management consulting firms. We believe that most appellate service providers (like Counsel
Press) are general printing service companies that do not have the resources or experience to assist counsel with large or complex appeals or to
prepare electronic filings, including hyperlinked digital briefs, that are being required by an increasing number of appellate courts. This presents
us with an opportunity to compete on the basis of the quality and array of services we offer, as opposed to the price of such services. We believe
that, in addition to price pressure, the other principal competitive factors in this segment are our ability to attract and retain qualified
professionals, our relationships with customers, our reputation and the ability to provide high-quality services while still managing engagements
effectively.

Business Information Division

Our Business Information Division�s customers focus on the quantity and quality of necessary information, the quantity and type of advertising,
timely delivery and, to a lesser extent, price. We benefit from well-established customer relationships in each of the target markets we serve. We
have developed these strong customer relationships over an extended period of time by providing timely, relevant and dependable business
information products that have created a solid foundation of customer loyalty and a recognized brand in each market we serve.

Our segment of the media industry is characterized by high barriers to entry, both economic and social. The local and regional communities we
serve generally can sustain only one publication as specialized as ours. Moreover, the brand value associated with long-term reader and
advertiser loyalty, and the high start-up costs associated with developing and distributing content and selling advertisements, help to limit
competition. Subscription renewal rates for local business journals and court and commercial periodicals are generally high. Accordingly, it is
often difficult for a new business information provider to enter a market and establish a significant subscriber base for its content.

We compete for display and classified advertising and circulation with at least one metropolitan daily newspaper and one local business journal
in many of the markets we serve. Generally, we compete for these forms of advertising on the basis of how efficiently we can reach an
advertiser�s target audience and the quality and tailored nature of our proprietary content. We compete for public notices with usually one
metropolitan daily newspaper in the 14 markets in which we are qualified to publish public notices. We compete for public notices based on our
expertise, focus, customer service and competitive pricing.
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Our legislative and political information businesses, DataStream and Federal News, are based chiefly on a subscription model, and by providing
highly targeted or uniquely customized information, both have developed long-term and close customer relationships. DataStream�s management
and conversion of data for government clients, including the U.S. House of Representatives and the Library of Congress, has allowed
DataStream to develop proprietary systems for efficiently capturing and enhancing complex feeds of government data which, in turn, are relied
upon by the leading business and legislative information service providers and aggregators in Washington D.C. We believe these relationships
with both government information sources and the distributors of government information create a high barrier to entry, with our main
competitors being large information and data service providers. Federal News Service, which similarly provides transcription services to
information aggregators in addition to news media, government relations professionals, government agencies and foreign embassies, does face
direct competition from a unit of a Washington D.C.-based legislative and political information service.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright, and patent laws and filings, as well as trade secrets laws, license agreements and
confidentiality agreements and practices, to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. We own many registered and unregistered
trademarks for use in our business, including trademarks in the mastheads of all but one of our print products, and trade names, including NDeX,
Counsel Press and DiscoverReady. If trademarks remain in continuous use in connection with similar goods or services, their term can be
perpetual, subject, with respect to registered trademarks, to the timely renewal of their registrations with the United States Patent and Trademark
Office. We have a perpetual, royalty-free license for New Orleans CityBusiness, which, except for our military newspapers, is the only one of
our print titles for which we do not own a registered or unregistered trademark.

We approach copyright ownership with respect to our publications in a manner customary in the publishing industry. We own the copyright in
all of our newspapers, journals and newsletters as compilations, and we generally own the copyright in our other print products. With respect to
the specific articles in our publications, with the exception of certain of our military newspapers, we own all rights, title and interest in original
materials created by our full-time journalists, designers, photographers and editors. For outside contributors, we generally obtain all rights, title
and interest in the work or the exclusive �first-time publication� and non-exclusive republication rights with respect to publication in our print and
electronic business information products. We license the content of many of our Business Information products to several third-party
information aggregators on a non-exclusive basis for republication and dissemination on electronic databases marketed by the licensees. These
are multi-year licenses which are subject to renewal. We also license Dolan Media Newswires to third-party publications.

We sold our patent related to bankruptcy claim processing in 2011, and currently have 10 United States patent applications pending on recent
DiscoverReady, DataStream and NDeX innovations. We have copyright and trade secret rights in our proprietary case management software
systems, document conversion system and other software products and information systems. We also have extensive subscriber and other
customer databases we believe would be extremely difficult to replicate. We attempt to protect our software, systems and databases as trade
secrets by restricting access to them and by using confidentiality agreements.

Despite the various means we have taken to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights, it is possible that others may obtain
information we regard as confidential or that others will independently develop similar software, databases, business methods or customer lists.
In addition to the proprietary rights we have and the means we have taken to protect them, we believe our continued success also depends on our
name recognition, product enhancements and new product developments, and the knowledge, skill and expertise of our personnel.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we employed 2,006 persons, of whom 1,135 were employed by NDeX in our mortgage default processing services
segment, 282 were employed in our litigation support services segment, 525 were employed in our Business Information Division (which is also
a segment) and 64 of whom served in executive or administrative capacities. Three unions represent a total of 14 employees. We believe we
have a good relationship with our employees.

13

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

15



Other Information about The Dolan Company

You may learn more about us from our web site at www.thedolancompany.com. However, the information and other material available on our
web site is not part of this annual report. We file with the SEC, and make available on our web site as soon as reasonably practicable after filing,
our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments of those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Please see Note 17 of our audited consolidated financial statements later in
this report for information about financial information related to our segments for the last three fiscal years.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risks as well as the other information
contained in this annual report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements, before
investing in shares of our common stock. As indicated earlier in this annual report on Form 10-K under the title �Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward Looking Statements,� certain information contained in this annual report are forward-looking statements. If any of the following
events actually occur or risks actually materialize, our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flow could be materially
adversely affected and could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements in this annual report on Form
10-K. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Relating to Our Business in General

We may have difficulty managing our growth, which may result in operating inefficiencies and negatively impact our operating margins.

Our growth may place a significant strain on our management and operations, especially as we continue to expand our product and service
offerings, the number of markets we serve and the number of local offices we maintain throughout the United States, including through
acquiring new businesses. We may not be able to manage our growth on a timely or cost effective basis or accurately predict the timing or rate
of this growth. We believe that our current and anticipated growth will require us to continue implementing new and enhanced systems,
expanding and upgrading our data processing software and training our personnel to use these systems and software. Our growth also has
required, and will continue to require, us to increase our investment in management personnel, financial and management systems, and controls
and office facilities. In particular, we are, and will continue to be, highly dependent on the effective and reliable operation of our centralized
accounting, circulation and information systems. In addition, the scope of procedures for assuring compliance with applicable rules and
regulations has changed as the size and complexity of our business has changed. If we fail to manage these and other growth requirements
successfully or if we are unable to implement or maintain our centralized systems, or rely on their output, we may experience operating
inefficiencies or not achieve anticipated efficiencies. In addition, the increased costs associated with our expected growth may not be offset by
corresponding increases in our revenues, which would decrease our operating margins.

We intend to continue to pursue acquisition opportunities, which we may not do successfully and may subject us to considerable business
and financial risks.

We have grown, and anticipate that we will continue to grow, through opportunistic acquisitions of professional services and business
information businesses. While we evaluate potential acquisitions on an ongoing basis, we may not be successful in assessing the value, strengths
and weaknesses of acquisition opportunities or completing acquisitions on acceptable terms. For example, to the extent that market studies
performed by third parties are not accurate indicators of market and business trends, we may not appropriately evaluate or realize the future
market growth or business opportunities in targeted geographic areas and business lines that we expect from an acquisition. Furthermore, we
may not be successful in identifying acquisition opportunities, and suitable acquisition opportunities may not be made available or known to us.
In addition, we may compete for certain acquisition targets with companies that have greater financial resources than we do. Our ability to
pursue acquisition opportunities may also be limited by non-competition provisions to which we are subject. For example, our ability to carry
public notices in Michigan and to provide mortgage default processing services in Indiana and Minnesota is limited by contractual
non-competition provisions. We anticipate financing
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future acquisitions through cash provided by operating activities, borrowings under our bank credit facility and/or other debt or equity financing,
including takedowns on our $200 million shelf registration statement, which the SEC declared effective on January 27, 2010. All of these could
reduce our cash available for other purposes or, in the case of a common stock or other equity offering under our shelf registration statement,
substantially dilute your investment in us. For example, we were required to incur additional indebtedness to fund the acquisitions of
Barrett-NDEx, DiscoverReady, and ACT, and this additional debt consumed a significant portion of our ability to borrow and may limit our
ability to pursue other acquisitions or growth strategies.

We may incur significant expenses while pursuing acquisitions, which could negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations.
In 2011, we expensed an aggregate of approximately $0.9 million of acquisition costs.

Acquisitions that we complete may expose us to particular business and financial risks that include, but are not limited to:

� diverting management�s time, attention and resources from managing our business;

� incurring additional indebtedness and assuming liabilities;

� incurring significant additional capital expenditures and operating expenses to improve, coordinate or integrate managerial,
operational, financial and administrative systems;

� experiencing an adverse impact on our earnings from non-recurring acquisition-related charges or the write-off or amortization of
acquired goodwill and other intangible assets;

� failing to integrate the operations and personnel of the acquired businesses;

� facing operational difficulties in new markets or with new product or service offerings; and

� failing to retain key personnel and customers of the acquired businesses, including subscribers and advertisers for acquired
publications, clients of the law firm customers served by acquired mortgage default processing and other customers served by
acquired mortgage default processing and litigation support services businesses.

We may not be able to successfully manage acquired businesses or increase our cash flow from these operations. If we are unable to successfully
implement our acquisition strategy or address the risks associated with acquisitions, or if we encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties,
complications or delays frequently encountered in connection with the integration of acquired entities and the expansion of operations, our
growth and ability to compete may be impaired, we may fail to achieve acquisition synergies and we may be required to focus resources on
integration of operations rather than other profitable areas.

We depend on key personnel and we may not be able to operate and grow our business effectively if we lose the services of any of our key
personnel or are unable to attract qualified personnel in the future.

We rely heavily on our senior management team because they have substantial experience with our diverse product and service offerings and
business strategies. In addition, we rely on our senior management team to identify internal expansion and external growth opportunities. Our
ability to retain senior management and other key personnel is therefore very important to our future success.

We have employment agreements with our senior management, but these employment agreements do not ensure that they will not voluntarily
terminate their employment with us. In addition, our key personnel are subject to non-competition restrictions, which generally restrict such
employees from working for competing businesses for one year after the end of their employment with us. But these non-compete provisions are
not always enforceable. We do not have key man insurance for any of our current management or other key personnel. The loss of any key
personnel would require the remaining key personnel to divert immediate attention to seeking a replacement. Competition for senior
management personnel is intense, and fit is important to us. An inability to find a suitable replacement for any departing executive officer or key

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

17



employee on a timely basis could adversely affect our ability to operate and grow our business.
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We are subject to risks relating to litigation due to the nature of our product and service offerings.

We may, from time to time, be subject to or named as a party in libel actions, negligence claims, contract claims and other legal proceedings in
the ordinary course of our business given the editorial content of our business information products, the technical rules with which our litigation
support services and mortgage default processing businesses must comply, the strict deadlines these businesses must meet, and the vast amounts
of data with which our businesses deal. We could incur significant legal expenses and our management�s attention may be diverted from our
operations in defending ourselves against and resolving claims. An adverse resolution of any future lawsuit or claim against us could result in a
negative perception of us and cause the market price of our common stock to decline or otherwise have an adverse effect on our operating results
and growth prospects.

We rely on exclusive proprietary rights and intellectual property that may not be adequately protected under current laws, and we may
encounter disputes from time to time relating to our or others� use of intellectual property of third parties.

Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our proprietary rights. We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks,
trade secrets, patents, domain names and agreements to protect our proprietary rights. We rely on service mark and trademark protection in the
United States to protect our rights to our key marks and distinctive logos. These measures may not be adequate, or we may not have secured or
be able to secure, appropriate protections for all of our proprietary rights. Despite our efforts to protect these rights, unauthorized third parties
may attempt to use our trademarks, confidential information, inventions and other proprietary rights. Our management�s attention may be
diverted by these attempts and we may need to use funds in litigation to protect our proprietary rights against any infringement or violation.

We may encounter disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property, and we may not prevail in these
disputes. Third parties may raise a claim against us alleging an infringement or violation of trademarks, copyrights, patents or other proprietary
rights. Some third party proprietary rights may be extremely broad, and it may not be possible for us to conduct our operations in such a way as
to avoid those intellectual property rights. Any such claim could subject us to costly litigation and impose a significant strain on our financial
resources and management personnel regardless of whether such claim has merit. Our general liability insurance may not cover potential claims
of this type adequately or at all, and we may be required to alter our business or pay monetary damages, which may be significant.

We rely on our proprietary case management software systems, our document hosting, processing, conversion and review systems, and our
web sites and online networks, and a disruption, failure or security compromise of these systems may disrupt our business, damage our
reputation and adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

Our proprietary case management software systems are critical to our mortgage default processing service business because they enable us to
efficiently and timely service a large number of foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction and, to a lesser extent, litigation and other mortgage default
related case files. Our litigation support services businesses rely upon proprietary document hosting, conversion, processing and review systems
that facilitate our efficient processing of documents, data, document review, appellate briefs, records and appendices. Similarly, we rely on our
web sites, online networks, and email notification systems to provide timely, relevant and dependable business information to our customers.
Therefore, network or system shutdowns caused by events such as computer hacking, dissemination of computer viruses, worms and other
destructive or disruptive software, denial of service attacks and other malicious activity, as well as power outages, natural disasters and similar
events, could have an adverse impact on our operations, customer satisfaction and revenues due to degradation of service, service disruption or
damage to equipment and data.

In addition to shutdowns, our systems are subject to risks caused by misappropriation, misuse, leakage, falsification and accidental release or
loss of information, including sensitive case data maintained in our document and data management systems and credit card information for our
business information customers. As a result of the increasing awareness concerning the importance of safeguarding personal information,
ongoing attempts to hack and misuse companies� information, and legislation that continues to be adopted regarding the protection and security
of personal information, information-related costs and risks are increasing, particularly for businesses like ours that handle a large amount of
personal and confidential data.

16

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

19



Disruptions or security compromises of our systems could result in large expenditures to repair or replace such systems, to remedy any security
breaches and protect us from similar events in the future. We also could be exposed to negligence claims or other legal proceedings brought by
our customers or their clients, and we could incur significant legal expenses and our management�s attention may be diverted from our operations
in defending ourselves against and resolving lawsuits or claims. In addition, if we were to suffer damage to our reputation as a result of any
system failure or security compromise, NDeX�s customers and/or their clients could choose to send fewer foreclosure, bankruptcy or eviction
case files to us and/or our law firm customers. Any reduction in the number of case files handled by our customers would also reduce the
number of mortgage default case files handled by us. Similarly, our litigation support services clients may elect to use other service providers. In
addition, customers of our Business Information Division may seek out alternative sources of the business information available on our web sites
and email notification systems. Further, in the event that any disruption or security compromise constituted a material breach under our services
agreements, our law firm or litigation support services customers could terminate these agreements. In any of these cases, our revenues and
profitability could be adversely affected.

We may be required to incur additional indebtedness or raise additional capital to fund our operations and acquisitions, repay our
indebtedness and fund capital expenditures, and this additional cash may not be available to us on satisfactory timing or terms or at all.

Our ability to generate cash depends to some extent on general economic, financial, legislative and regulatory conditions in the markets which
we serve and as they relate to the industries in which we do business and other factors outside of our control. We derive a significant portion of
our revenues from foreclosures (approximately 54% of our total revenues in 2011). Therefore, legislation, loss mitigation, moratoria, loan
modifications and other efforts that significantly mitigate and/or delay foreclosures may adversely impact our ability to use cash flow from
operations to fund day-to-day operations in our mortgage default processing services segment and Professional Services Division, and, to a
lesser extent, our Business Information Division, to repay our indebtedness, to fund capital expenditures, to meet our cash flow needs and to
pursue any material expansion of our business, including through acquisitions or increased capital spending. We may, therefore, need to incur
additional indebtedness or raise funds from the sale of additional equity. Financing, however, may not be available to us at all, at an acceptable
cost or on acceptable terms, when needed. Our existing bank credit facility may also limit our ability to raise additional funds through debt or
equity financing. In addition, if we issue a significant amount of additional equity securities, the market price of our common stock could decline
and our stockholders could suffer significant dilution of their interests in us.

If our indefinite-lived intangible assets (including goodwill) or finite-lived intangible assets become impaired, we may be required to record a
significant charge to earnings.

In the course of our operating history, we have acquired numerous assets and businesses. Some of our acquisitions have resulted in the recording
of a significant amount of indefinite-lived and finite-lived intangible assets on our financial statements. At December 31, 2011, our
indefinite-lived intangible assets (including goodwill) were $285.1 million, in the aggregate, and our finite-lived intangible assets, net of
accumulated amortization, were $213.0 million. If we acquire new assets or businesses in the future, as we intend to do, we may record
additional goodwill or other intangible assets.

We assess our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis using a measurement date of November 30 and, based on this assessment, we have
determined that our goodwill is not impaired. See �Item 7: Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations�Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates�Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets� later in this report for information for our
annual test of goodwill impairment. Accounting standards require that we also assess the impairment of our goodwill and identifiable intangible
assets whenever events, circumstances or other conditions indicate that we may not recover the carrying value of the asset. This may require us
to conduct an interim assessment of our goodwill and finite-lived intangible assets. As a result of this interim assessment, we may record a
significant charge to earnings in our financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or identifiable intangible
assets is determined. A significant charge to earnings, if taken, could adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations, and
future earnings and, as a result, could cause our stock price to decline. For example, in 2011, we recorded an impairment charge of $1.9 million,
in the aggregate, related to discontinued operations and changing business conditions.
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Our failure to comply with the covenants contained on our debt instruments could result in an event of default that could adversely affect
our financial condition and ability to operate our business as planned.

We have, and will continue to have, significant debt and debt service obligations. Our credit agreement contains, and any agreements to
refinance our debt likely will contain, financial and restrictive covenants that limit our ability to incur additional debt, including to finance future
operations or other capital needs, and to engage in other activities that we may believe are in our long-term best interests, including to dispose of
or acquire assets. Our failure to comply with these covenants may result in an event of default, which if not cured or waived, could result in the
banks accelerating the maturity of our indebtedness or preventing us from accessing availability under our credit facility. If the maturity of our
indebtedness is accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash resources to satisfy our debt obligations and we may not be able to continue our
operations as planned. In addition, the indebtedness under our credit agreement is secured by a security interest in substantially all of our
tangible and intangible assets, including the equity interests of our subsidiaries, and therefore, if we are unable to repay such indebtedness the
banks could foreclose on these assets and sell the pledged equity interests, which would adversely affect our ability to operate our business.

The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, highly volatile. The market price of our common stock depends on
a variety of factors, which could cause our common stock to trade at prices below the price you have paid.

Our common stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol �DM� since August 2, 2007. Since that time, the closing sales
price of our common stock has ranged from a high of $30.84 to a low of $2.97 per share. The market price of our common stock could continue
to fluctuate significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could affect our share price include, but are not limited to:

� variations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

� changes in the legal or regulatory environment affecting our business;

� changes in our earnings estimates or expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates by securities
analysts and investors;

� the contents of published research reports about us or our industry or the failure of securities analysts to cover our common stock;

� additions or departures of key management personnel;

� any increased indebtedness we may incur in the future;

� announcements by us or others and developments affecting us;

� actions by institutional stockholders;

� changes in market valuations of similar companies;

� speculation or reports by the press or investment community with respect to us or our industry in general;

� future offerings of debt or equity;
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� future offerings of our common stock in the public market; and

� general economic, market and political conditions.
These factors could cause our common stock to trade at prices below the price you paid for our common stock, which could prevent you from
selling your common stock at or above this price. In addition, the stock market in general, and the New York Stock Exchange in particular, has
from time to time, experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market prices of individual securities. These
fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of publicly traded companies. In the past, following
periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company�s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that
company. If similar litigation were instituted against us, it could result in substantial costs and divert management�s attention and resources from
our operations.
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Anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated by-laws and stockholder rights plan
may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that you may consider favorable or prevent the removal of our current board of
directors and management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and stockholder rights plan could delay, defer or prevent a
third party from acquiring us, despite the possible benefit to our stockholders, or otherwise adversely affect the price of our common stock and
your rights as a holder of our common stock. For example, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
bylaws (1) permit our board of directors to issue one or more series of preferred stock with rights and preferences designated by our board,
(2) stagger the terms of our board of directors into three classes and (3) impose advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and
nominations of directors to be considered at stockholders� meetings. In addition, our stockholder rights plan, which our board adopted on
January 29, 2009, and which was amended on May 26, 2010, entitles the holders of rights, when exercisable, to acquire, in exchange for the
exercise price of each right, shares of our common stock, having a value equal to two times the exercise price of each right. These provisions
may discourage potential takeover attempts, discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over market price or adversely affect the
market price of, and the voting and other rights of the holders of, our common stock. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and
make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors other than the candidates nominated by our board. We are also subject to
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range
of business combinations with any �interested� stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an
�interested� stockholder and which may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company. In addition, our bank credit facility
contains provisions that could limit our ability to enter into change of control transactions.

Risks Relating to Our Professional Services Division

If the number of case files referred to us by our mortgage default processing service law firm customers (or loan servicers and mortgage
lenders we serve directly for mortgage default files in California) decreases or fails to increase, or if regulatory, market or other factors
cause our law firm customers or their clients to fail to timely pay for our services, or pay at all, our operating results and ability to execute
our growth strategy could be adversely affected.

NDeX has eight law firm customers and provides mortgage default professing services directly to lenders and loan servicers for residential real
estate in California. Revenues from NDeX constituted 63% and 74% of our Professional Services Division�s revenues in 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and 46% and 54% of our total revenues in 2011 and 2010, respectively. We are paid different fixed fees for each foreclosure,
bankruptcy, eviction, litigation, and other mortgage default related case files referred by these eight law firms to us for processing services.
Therefore, the success of NDeX and our mortgage default processing services segment is tied to the number of these case files that each of our
law firm customers receives from their mortgage lending and mortgage loan servicing firm clients and the number of California foreclosure files
we receive directly from our mortgage lender and loan servicer customers. In 2011, our largest law firm customer was the Barrett Law Firm,
who represented 45% of our mortgage default processing services revenues. Trott & Trott was our second largest law firm customer in 2011, and
accounted for 26% of these revenues. Albertelli Law was our third largest law firm customer in 2011, and accounted for 13% of these revenues.
Also, in 2011, the top ten clients for all of our law firm customers, on an aggregated basis, accounted for 72% of the case files our law firm
customers directed to us for mortgage default processing services.

Our operating results and ability to execute our growth strategy could be adversely affected if (1) any of our law firm customers lose business
from their clients; (2) these clients are affected by changes in the market and industry or other factors that cause them to be unable to pay for the
services of our law firm customer or reduce the volume of files referred to our law firm customers which they direct us to process; or (3) our law
firm customers are unable to attract additional business from current or new clients for any reason, including any of the following: the provision
of poor legal services, the loss of key attorneys (such as David A. Trott, who has developed and maintains a substantial amount of Trott & Trott�s
client relationships), the desire of the law firm�s clients to allocate files among several law firms, or a decrease in the number of residential
mortgage foreclosures in the eight states where we do business, including due to market factors or governmental action. A failure by one or more
of our law firm customers to pay us as a
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result of these or other factors could materially reduce the cash flow of NDeX and result in losses in our mortgage default processing services
segment. Further, to the extent that the law firm clients direct the law firms to use another provider of mortgage default processing services or
those clients conduct such services in-house, the number of files we process would be adversely affected. We could also lose any law firm
customer if we materially breach our services agreement with such customer.

Bills introduced and laws enacted to mitigate foreclosures, voluntary relief programs and voluntary halts or moratoria by servicers or
lenders, as well as governmental investigations, litigation and court orders, may have an adverse affect, and at times have had an adverse
effect, on our mortgage default processing services and public notice operations.

The significant number of mortgage defaults, foreclosures and evictions over the past few years have resulted, and may continue to result, in
new and increased government regulation (either legislatively or through courts) of residential mortgage products or the foreclosure of
delinquent loans. If new or more stringent regulations are enacted, our customers and/or their clients would likely be subject to these regulations.
As a result, new or more stringent regulations may adversely impact the number of mortgage default files that our law firm customers receive
from their clients and can then direct us to process or that we receive for processing from our California mortgage lender and loan servicer
customers.

Federal, state and local governmental entities and leaders have increasingly focused attention on foreclosures and have proposed and enacted
legislation or taken other action that may have, and some of which has had, an adverse impact on the number of mortgage default case files
NDeX is asked to process, the length of time it takes to process such files, the time over which we recognize revenue associated with the
processing of those files, the amount of work necessary to manage and process such files, and the number of foreclosure public notices placed in
our Business Information products and DLNP (our minority investment) for publication. Such legislation includes the Hope for Homeowners
Act of 2008, the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act, the Streamlined Modification Program, and the Homeowner Affordability and Stability
Plan (including the Making Home Affordable Program, the Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP) and the Home Affordable
Foreclosure Alternatives Program (HAFA)), the Protecting Tenants at Foreclosure Act, and laws passed to mitigate foreclosures in California,
Maryland, Michigan, Indiana, and Florida. There also have been voluntary foreclosure relief programs developed by lenders, loan servicers and
the Hope Now Alliance (a consortium that includes loan servicers).

The past year continued to include legislation and agency actions aimed at mitigating foreclosures, additional scrutiny on mortgage foreclosures,
and voluntary stoppages of foreclosures by servicers and lenders. Mortgage foreclosures continued to receive heightened scrutiny due to media
coverage of reported procedural and documentation error and lapses by other parties in the industry, which were first reported in 2010. The state
attorneys general continued to review the country�s foreclosure processes in 2011, which has culminated in a multi-state settlement in early
2012. Mortgage servicers continued to react to the attention being paid to the foreclosure process in 2011 by various government officials,
agencies and constituencies with self-imposed foreclosure sale and eviction moratoria while the servicers verified their internal policies and
procedures and provided related information in response to requests by governmental bodies and officials. The servicers continued to react to
this environment of increased scrutiny by requesting additional information from and conducting audits on law firms and vendors to which they
refer their mortgage foreclosures, including NDeX.

These and other laws, proposed legislation, investigations, directives, voluntary programs, actions, plans, audits, settlements and court orders,
have delayed, and may delay or reduce in the future, the referral of files to our law firm customers, or in the case of foreclosures on properties
located in California, the referral of files directly to us for processing. In addition, they may continue to increase the processing time and effort
required for the foreclosure files between the referral to the attorney or trustee and the foreclosure sale. In some instances they may continue to
increase the time over which we recognize revenue associated with the processing of such files, may reduce margins, or may make it more
difficult for our law firm customers or their clients to timely pay for our services.

Similarly, new or more stringent regulations and court orders could adversely affect when public notices are sent to our business information
products or Detroit Legal Publishing News (�DLNP�) (our minority investment) for publication. If legislation settlements, court orders or
programs are successful in reducing the number of mortgages going into default, then the number of foreclosure public notices referred to us or
DLNP for publication will also be reduced. If any of these occur, it could have a negative impact on our earnings and growth.
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David A. Trott, the chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX, James Frappier, a senior vice president of NDeX, and certain other
employees of NDeX who are also shareholders and principal attorneys of our law firm customers, may under certain circumstances have
interests that differ from or conflict with our interests.

NDeX�s chairman and chief executive officer, David A. Trott, along with James Frappier, a senior vice president of NDeX, and other executive
vice presidents and senior executives in NDeX�s operations, are the principal attorneys and shareholders of NDeX�s eight law firm customers. In
addition, certain members of the senior management at Barrett-NDEx own an interest in NDeX and have the right to require that we redeem
their interest beginning in September 2012 (See �Item 7: Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations�Noncontrolling Interest� later in this report). As a result of these relationships with NDeX and our law firm customers, Mr. Trott and
these individuals may experience conflicts of interest in the execution of their duties on behalf of us. The resolutions of these conflicts might not
be in a manner favorable to us. For example, they may be precluded by their ethical obligations as attorneys or may otherwise be reluctant to
take actions on behalf of us that are in our best interests, but are not or may not be in the best interests of their law firms or their clients. Further,
as licensed attorneys, they may be obligated to take actions on behalf of their law firms or their respective clients that are not in our best
interests. In addition, Mr. Trott has other direct and indirect relationships with DLNP and other vendors NDeX uses that could cause similar
conflicts. See �Related Party Transactions and Policies�David A. Trott� in our proxy statement and Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements
for a description of these relationships.

We have owned and operated DiscoverReady for a short period and we are highly dependent on the skills and knowledge of the individuals
serving as chief executive officer and president of DiscoverReady as none of our executive officers had managed or operated a discovery
management or document processing and review services company prior to this acquisition.

We acquired an 85.0% equity interest in DiscoverReady on November 2, 2009, and currently own 90% of these interests. DR Holdco LLC owns
the remaining 10% membership interest in DiscoverReady. DR Holdco is a limited liability company owned by James K. Wagner, Jr. and
Steven R. Harber, DiscoverReady�s chief executive officer and president, respectively, along with other DiscoverReady employees.
DiscoverReady provides outsourced discovery management and document hosting, processing and review services to major United States and
global companies and law firms. Prior to our acquisition of this business, our executive officers have not managed or operated a discovery
management and document review business. Thus, we rely heavily on the management skills and experiences of Messrs. Wagner and Harber,
who co-founded and built DiscoverReady and have a deep understanding of the discovery management and document processing and review
business. If our executive officers cannot effectively manage and operate this business, the operating results and prospects for DiscoverReady,
our litigation support services segment and our Professional Services Division may be adversely affected and we may not be able to execute our
growth strategy with respect to DiscoverReady.

We have employment agreements with Messrs. Wagner and Harber; however, these employment agreements do not ensure that either of them
will not voluntarily terminate their employment with us. We do not have key man insurance for either of Messrs. Wagner or Harber. The loss of
Wagner or Harber could require our executive officers to divert immediate attention to seeking a replacement and operating a business in which
our executive officers have no prior experience. Our inability to find a suitable replacement for Wagner or Harber on a timely basis could
adversely affect our ability to operate and grow DiscoverReady.

DiscoverReady�s business revenues have traditionally been concentrated among a few customers and if these large repeat customers choose
to manage their discovery with their own staff or with another provider and if we are unable to develop new customer relationships, our
operating results and the ability to execute our growth strategy at DiscoverReady may be adversely affected.

DiscoverReady generates revenue through fee-based arrangements for outsourced discovery management and document hosting, processing and
review services with major United States and global companies and law firms. DiscoverReady�s top customer, which is in the financial services
industry, accounted for 41% of its total revenues for 2011. Both the traditional DiscoverReady business and
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ACT, which DiscoverReady acquired in July 2011, have succeeded primarily through strong relationships with certain repeat clients and by
working on large matters from repeat clients and new clients. Thus, the success of DiscoverReady is tied to our relationships with our key
customers and our ability to continuously develop new customer relationships. Our operating results and ability to execute our growth strategy
for DiscoverReady could be adversely affected if we lose business from our top repeat customers or we are unable to attract additional business
from current or new customers for any reason, including any of the following: poor service, the loss of key employees, or the decision of our
customers to perform document review services with their own staff or to with another provider. If any of these were to occur, it could reduce
the cash flow of DiscoverReady and adversely affect the results of operations of this business.

Regulation of the legal profession may constrain the operations of the businesses in our Professional Services Division, and numerous
related issues could impair our ability to provide professional services to our customers and reduce our revenues and profitability.

Each state has adopted laws, regulations and codes of ethics that provide for the licensure of attorneys, which grants attorneys the exclusive right
to practice law and places restrictions upon the activities of licensed attorneys. The boundaries of the �practice of law,� however, are indistinct,
vary from one state to another and are the product of complex interactions among state law, bar associations and constitutional law formulated
by the U.S. Supreme Court. Many states define the practice of law to include the giving of advice and opinions regarding another person�s legal
rights, the preparation of legal documents or the preparation of court documents for another person. In addition, all states and the American Bar
Association prohibit attorneys from sharing fees for legal services with non-attorneys.

Pursuant to services agreements between NDeX and its law firm customers, we provide mortgage default processing services to law firms and
directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers on California foreclosure files. Through DiscoverReady, we provide outsourced discovery
management and document hosting, processing, and review services. Through Counsel Press, we provide procedural and technical knowledge
and services to law firms and attorneys to assist them in filing appellate briefs, records and appendices on behalf of their clients that comply with
court rules. Current laws, regulations and codes of ethics related to the practice of law pose the following principal risks:

� State or local bar associations, state or local prosecutors or other persons may challenge the services provided by NDeX, Counsel
Press or DiscoverReady as constituting the unauthorized practice of law. Any such challenge could have a disruptive effect upon the
operations of our business, including the diversion of significant time and attention of our senior management. We may also incur
significant expenses in connection with such a challenge, including substantial fees for attorneys and other professional advisors. If a
challenge to any of these businesses were successful, we may need to materially modify our professional services operations in a
manner that could adversely affect that division�s revenues and profitability and we could be subject to a range of penalties that could
damage our reputation in the legal markets we serve. In addition, any similar challenge to the operations of NDeX�s law firm
customers could adversely impact their mortgage default business, which would in turn adversely affect our mortgage default
processing segment and Professional Service Division�s revenues and profitability;

� The services agreements to which NDeX is a party could be deemed to be unenforceable if a court were to determine that such
agreements constituted an impermissible fee sharing arrangement between the law firm and NDeX; and

� Applicable laws, regulations and codes of ethics, including their interpretation and enforcement, could change in a manner that
restricts NDeX�s, Counsel Press� or DiscoverReady�s operations. Any such change in laws, policies or practices could increase our cost
of doing business or adversely affect our revenues and profitability.
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Failure to effectively customize our proprietary case management software systems so that they can be used to serve law firm customers in
new states could adversely affect our mortgage default processing service business and growth prospects.

We have two proprietary case management software systems, each of which stores, manages and reports on the large amount of data associated
with each foreclosure, bankruptcy or eviction case file we process. Our law firm customers must satisfy different requirements depending on the
state in which they serve their clients. When we enter a service agreement with a law firm customer in a state where we do not currently do
business, we need to customize one of our proprietary case management software systems so that it can be used to assist that customer in
satisfying the foreclosure requirements of their state. If we are not, on a timely basis, able to effectively customize one of our case management
software systems to serve our new law firm customers, we may not be able to realize the operational efficiencies and increased capacity to
handle files that we anticipated when we entered the service agreements. At times, we base the fees we agree to receive from these law firm
customers for each case file they direct us to process on the assumption that we would realize those operational efficiencies. Therefore, the
failure to effectively customize our case management software system could impact our profitability under our services agreement with new law
firm customers in our mortgage default processing services segment. In 2012, we intend to implement our mortgage default processing
operations at Barrett-NDEx to the proprietary case management software system initially developed for use in Michigan, as well as continue to
migrate NDeX Florida. To the extent that we are unable to effectively migrate those operations, we may not be able to realize the operational
efficiencies and capacity to handle files that we experienced prior to the migration.

Risks Relating to Our Business Information Division

We depend on the economies and the demographics of our targeted sectors in the local and regional markets that we serve, and changes in
those factors could have an adverse impact on our revenues, cash flows and profitability.

Our advertising revenues and, to a lesser extent, circulation revenues depend upon a variety of factors specific to the legal, financial and real
estate sectors of the 19 markets our Business Information Division serves. These factors include, among others, the size and demographic
characteristics of the population, including the number of companies and professionals in our targeted business sectors, and local economic
conditions affecting these sectors. For example, if the local economy or targeted business sector in a market we serve experiences a downturn,
display and classified advertising, which constituted 29%, 27% and 27% of our Business Information revenues in 2011, 2010, and 2009,
respectively, generally decreases for our business information products that target such market or sector. This was the case in 2009, when our
display and classified advertising revenues decreased $5.2 million from 2008, due to a decrease in the number of ads placed in our publications
as customers tightened discretionary spending in response to the local economic conditions in the markets we serve. Further, if the local
economy in a market we serve experiences growth, public notices, which constituted 42%, 55% and 57% of our Business Information revenues
in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, may decrease as a result of fewer foreclosure proceedings requiring the posting of public notices. Our
Business Information Division�s revenues could be particularly affected by economic or demographic changes in Maryland, Minnesota or
Missouri because revenues from our publications targeting each of these markets accounted for more than 10% of this division�s revenues in
2011 and/or 2010. If the level of advertising in our business information products or public notices in our court and commercial newspapers
were to decrease, our revenues, cash flows and profitability could be adversely affected.

A change in the laws governing public notice requirements, as well as new or increased regulation of residential mortgage products, may
delay, reduce or eliminate the amount of public notices required to be published in print, affect how newspapers are chosen for the
publication of public notices or adversely change the eligibility requirements for publishing public notices, which could adversely affect our
revenues, profitability and growth opportunities.

In various states, legislatures have considered proposals that would eliminate or reduce the number of public notices required by statute. In
addition, some state legislatures have proposed that state and local governments publish official government notices themselves online. The
impetus for the passage of such laws may increase as online alternatives to print sources of information become more generally accepted. Some
states have also proposed, enacted or interpreted laws to alter the frequency with which public notices are required to be published, reduce the
amount of information required to be disclosed in public notices or change the requirements for publications to be eligible to publish public
notices. In addition, new or increased government regulation of residential mortgage defaults may result in fewer or delayed foreclosures and,
therefore, the publication of fewer related public notices or a delay in the publication of related public notices. Further, legislation changing the
public notices required to be
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published in print or that adversely change the eligibility requirements for publishing public notices in states where we publish or intend to
publish court and commercial newspapers would adversely affect our public notice revenues and could adversely affect our ability to
differentiate our business information products, which could have an adverse impact on our revenues, profitability and growth opportunities.

Government regulations related to the Internet could increase our cost of doing business, affect our ability to grow or may otherwise
negatively affect our business.

Governmental agencies and federal and state legislatures have adopted, and may continue to adopt, new laws and regulatory practices in
response to the increasing use of the Internet and other online services. These new laws may be related to issues such as online privacy,
copyrights, trademarks and service mark, sales taxes, fair business practices, domain name ownership and the requirement that our operating
units register to do business as foreign entities or otherwise be licensed to do business in jurisdictions where they have no physical location or
other presence. In addition, these new laws, regulations or interpretations relating to doing business through the Internet could increase our costs
materially and adversely affect the revenues and results of operations in our Business Information Division.

If we are unable to generate traffic to our online publications and other web sites and electronic services, our ability to continue to grow our
Business Information Division may be negatively affected.

We have devoted, and expect to devote, a significant amount of resources to distributing the information we provide through the Internet, web
sites, electronic mail and other online services and the growth of our Business Information Division will increasingly depend upon our ability to
effectively use these methods to provide information to our customers. For these methods to be successful, we will need to attract and retain
frequent visitors to our web sites or users of our other electronic services, develop and expand the content, products and other tools that we offer
on our web sites and through other electronic services, attract advertisers to our web sites and other electronic services and continue to develop
and upgrade our technologies. If we are not successful in our efforts, our Business Information revenues and results of operations and our ability
to grow this division will be adversely affected.

Our business and reputation could suffer if third-party providers of printing, delivery and outsourced technology services that we rely upon,
as well as newspapers where we place foreclosure public notices fail to perform satisfactorily.

We outsource a significant amount of our printing to third-party printing companies. As a result, we are unable to ensure directly that the final
printed product is of a quality acceptable to our subscribers. We also outsource a significant amount of our technology and software systems
support to third-party information technology vendors. Further, we rely on public notice newspapers in the markets where we process mortgage
default files, including DLNP, to timely and accurately publish our foreclosure public notices. To the extent that any of these third party
providers do not perform their services satisfactorily, do not have the resources to meet our needs or decide or are unable to provide these
services to us on commercially reasonable terms, our ability to provide timely and dependable business information products, as well as our
professional services, could be adversely affected. In addition, we could face increased costs or delays if we must identify and retain other
third-party providers of these services.

Most of our print publications are delivered to our subscribers by the U.S. Postal Service. We have experienced, and may continue to experience,
delays in the delivery of our print publications by the U.S. Postal Service. To the extent we try to avoid these delays by using third-party carriers
other than the U.S. Postal Service to deliver our print products, we will incur increased operating costs. In addition, the U.S. Postal Service is
considering eliminating Saturday delivery from its services. To the extent this change is implemented, it may have an adverse affect on our
Minnesota and Missouri business information operations, which publish Saturday editions for certain of their papers. In addition, timely delivery
of our publications is extremely important to many of our advertisers, public notice publishers and subscribers. Any delays in delivery of our
print publications to our subscribers could negatively affect our reputation, cause us to lose advertisers, public notice publishers and subscribers
and limit our ability to attract new advertisers, public notice publishers and subscribers.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties
Our executive and corporate offices are located in Minneapolis, where we lease an aggregate of approximately 30,000 square feet under two
separate leases terminating in September 2019 and March 2014. We own our office facilities in Phoenix and Baltimore and our print facility in
Minneapolis. We lease other office space in each of our operating divisions as well as two print facilities in our Business Information division.

NDeX (in our mortgage default processing services segment) subleases an aggregate of approximately 25,000 square feet in suburban Detroit
from Trott & Trott, PC, a law firm in which NDeX�s chairman and chief executive officer, David A. Trott, owns a majority interest, at a rate of
$11.81 per square foot, triple net, which sublease expires on February 29, 2012. Trott & Trott leases this space from NW13, LLC, a limited
liability company in which Mr. Trott owns 75% of the membership interests.

We consider our properties suitable and adequate for the conduct of our business. We do not believe we will have difficulty renewing the leases
we currently have or finding alternative space in the event those leases are not renewed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are from time to time involved in ordinary, routine claims and litigation incidental to our normal course of business, none of which we
believe to be material to our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant�s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Dividends

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol �DM.� The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated,
the high and low per share sales prices of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low
Period
Year Ended December 31, 2011
First Quarter $ 14.65 $ 11.12
Second Quarter $ 12.94 $ 8.19
Third Quarter $ 9.20 $ 7.33
Fourth Quarter $ 9.74 $ 8.18

Year Ended December 31, 2010
First Quarter $ 12.21 $ 9.52
Second Quarter $ 13.88 $ 10.11
Third Quarter $ 12.50 $ 9.02
Fourth Quarter $ 15.00 $ 8.95

On March 1, 2012, the closing price per share of our common stock was $8.97. We urge potential investors to obtain current market quotations
before making any decision to invest in our common stock. On March 1, 2012, there were 1,184 holders of record of our common stock.

The holders of our common stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends as may be declared by our board of directors out of funds legally
available for dividends. We have not historically declared or paid dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate declaring or paying any
cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The payment of any dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board
of directors and will depend upon our financial condition, results of operations, earnings, capital requirements and surplus, contractual
restrictions (including those in our credit agreement), outstanding indebtedness and other factors our board deems relevant.

Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison from August 2, 2007 (the date our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange)
through December 31, 2011, of cumulative stockholders total return for our common stock, companies we deem to be in our industry peer group
for both our Business Information and Professional Services Divisions, the New York Stock Exchange Market Index and the Russell 3000
Index. The companies included in the industry peer group for the Business Information Division consist of Daily Journal Corp (DJCO), Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation (DNB), IHS Inc. (IHS), Morningstar, Inc. (MORN), Reed Elsevier (ENL) and Wolters Kluwer NV (WTKWY). The
companies included in the industry peer group for the Professional Services Division consist of Automatic Data Processing, Inc. (ADP),
American Reprographics Co. (ARC), First American Financial Corporation (FAF), Fidelity National Financial, Inc. (FNF), Huron Consulting
Group (HURN), Lender Processing Services, Inc. (LPS) and Thompson-Reuters Corp (TRI). The returns set forth on the following graph are
based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance. The performance graph assumes $100 was invested on August 2,
2007, in our common stock, the companies in our peer
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group indices (weighted based on market capitalization as of such date), the NYSE Market Index and the Russell 3000 Index, at the closing per
share price on that date. Data for the NYSE Market Index, Russell 3000 Index and our peer groups assume reinvestment of dividends. Since our
common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange, we have not declared any dividends to be paid to our stockholders and do not
have any present plans to declare dividends.

ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON AUG. 2, 2007

ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED

FISCAL YEAR ENDING DEC. 31, 2011

Company/Market/Peer Group 8/2/2007 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2011
The Dolan Company 100.00 164.62 37.19 57.62 78.56 48.08
NYSE Composite Index 100.00 102.20 62.19 79.96 90.84 87.51
Russell 3000 Index 100.00 100.55 63.05 80.93 94.65 95.60
Business Information Division Only 100.00 110.45 70.19 82.26 91.07 86.56
Professional Services Division Only 100.00 98.01 80.65 89.38 100.45 93.87
Source: Morningstar
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Unregistered Sales of Securities and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not have any unregistered sales of securities that were not described in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q or in a current report on Form
8-K during the year ended December 31, 2011. The following table depicts repurchases of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2011.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities (1)

Period

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased

Average
Price Paid
per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly

Announced
Plans

or Programs

Maximum Number
of Shares that

May
Yet Be Repurchased

Under the Plans
or

Programs
October 1, 2011 through October 31, 2011 �  �  1,862,500
November 1, 2011 through November 30, 2011 �  �  1,862,500
December 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011 �  �  1,862,500

�  �  1,862,500

(1) In December 2010, our Board of Directors approved a common stock repurchase program that allows us to purchase up to 2 million shares
of our common stock at market prices at the discretion of management at any time through December 31, 2013.

We repurchased 137,500 shares of common stock during the first quarter of 2011. No other shares of common stock have been repurchased
during 2011.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following table presents our selected consolidated financial data for the periods and as of the dates presented below. You should read the
following information along with �Item 7: Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,� and our
consolidated financial statements and related notes, all of which are included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. We derived the
historical financial data for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, from our audited
consolidated financial statements, included in this annual report on Form 10-K. We derived the historical financial data for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the historical financial data as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, from our audited consolidated financial
statements not included in this annual report. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for future
periods. These historical results include the operating results of businesses that we have acquired during each of the periods presented and
exclude the results of discontinued operations for all periods. See Note 3 of our audited consolidated financial statements later in this report for
more information regarding businesses we have acquired in each of 2011, 2010 and 2009, and Note 9 to our audited financial statements
included in this filing on Form 10-K for businesses we have presented as discontinued operations.

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Professional Services Division revenues $ 207,077 $ 223,069 $ 172,535 $ 99,496 $ 67,015
Business Information Division revenues 78,493 83,826 85,397 84,322 79,042

Total revenues 285,570 306,895 257,932 183,818 146,057

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 22,443 $ 35,684 $ 34,850 $ 16,725 $ (50,440) 
Net income (loss) attributable to The Dolan Company $ 19,493 $ 32,355 $ 30,813 $ 14,303 $ (54,034) 
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Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to The Dolan Company
per share:
Basic and diluted $ 0.68 $ 1.08 $ 1.04 $ 0.53 $ (3.41) 
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $ 617,695 $ 535,401 $ 528,290 $ 470,627 $ 226,367
Long-term debt, less current portion 168,724 131,568 137,960 143,450 56,301
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Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

In 2011, our total revenues decreased $21.3 million, or 6.9%, from $306.9 million in 2010 to $285.6 million in 2011, primarily as a result of a
$33.9 million decrease in our mortgage default processing services revenues and a $5.3 million decrease in our Business Information Division
revenues, offset by a $17.9 million increase in our litigation support services revenues as a result of the ACT Litigation Services, Inc. (�ACT�)
acquisition. The decrease in mortgage default processing services revenues was driven primarily by a decrease in the number of foreclosure files
received for processing and change in the mix of types of files that we did receive, as discussed below. Net income attributable to The Dolan
Company decreased to $19.5 million for 2011 from $32.4 million for the same period in 2010, but excluding the impact of fair value adjustments
recorded on earnout liabilities of $15.8 million in 2011, net income attributable to The Dolan Company was $3.7 million for 2011. Income from
continuing operations decreased to $22.4 million for 2011 from $35.7 million in 2010. As a result, income from continuing operations
attributable to The Dolan Company per diluted share decreased to $0.68 in 2011 from $1.08 in 2010.

Recent Developments

Discontinued Operations / Assets Held for Sale

In 2011, management committed to a plan of action to dispose of two of our smallest-market operating units within the Business Information
Division. As explained in �Business Information Division Results� below, we expect the sale of these assets to occur in 2012, and as such, have
classified the results of these operations (net of tax benefit), including impairment charges and certain exit costs, as discontinued operations. We
recorded an aggregate impairment of long-lived assets of $0.7 million, along with $0.4 million in estimated exit costs.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In addition to the impairment taken related to discontinued operations/assets held for sale as discussed above, management tested certain
long-lived assets in the Business Information Division for impairment as a result of certain triggering events. This resulted in an impairment of
$1.2 million in 2011.

Increase in our Ownership in DiscoverReady

In May 2011, we purchased approximately one-third of the outstanding membership units of DiscoverReady held by its minority partner, DR
Holdco LLC, for approximately $5.0 million in cash. We accounted for this acquisition as an equity transaction by reducing redeemable
noncontrolling interest on our balance sheet by $5.0 million. No deal costs were incurred on this transaction. As a result of this transaction, our
ownership percentage in DiscoverReady increased from 85.3% to 90.0%, and the noncontrolling interest decreased from 14.7% to 10.0%.
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In connection with this purchase, the terms of the DiscoverReady limited liability company agreement were amended. Under the terms of the
amended agreement, DR Holdco has the right, for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2012, to require DiscoverReady to repurchase
approximately 50% of DR Holdco�s equity interest in DiscoverReady, and for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2013, to require
DiscoverReady to purchase DR Holdco�s remaining equity interest in DiscoverReady. In addition, for a period of 90 days following November 2,
2013, DiscoverReady also has the right to require DR Holdco to sell its entire equity interest in DiscoverReady. In each case, if either party
timely exercises its right, DiscoverReady would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the fair market value of the equity interest. These rights
may be exercised earlier under certain circumstances.

Stock Buy-Back Plan

Our board of directors approved a stock buy-back plan in December 2010. This plan allows us to repurchase up to 2 million shares of issued and
outstanding common stock at prevailing market prices or negotiated prices through December 31, 2013. The number of shares and the timing of
the purchases will be determined at the discretion of management. During 2011, we repurchased 137,500 shares under this plan for an aggregate
of $1.7 million, all of which were purchased in the first quarter of 2011.

Increase in our Ownership in NDeX

On December 31, 2009 and January 4, 2010, we, along with our wholly-owned subsidiary, Dolan APC, LLC, entered into two separate common
unit purchase agreements with the Trott Sellers, under the terms of which the Trott Sellers sold an aggregate 7.6% ownership interest in NDeX
to us, for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million and 248,000 shares of our common stock. We will pay the remaining balance to the Trott
Sellers in connection with these transactions, or $1.1 million as of the date of this annual report on Form 10-K, in equal monthly installments of
approximately $0.1 million, in the aggregate, excluding interest accruing on the unpaid principal balance at a rate of 4.25%.

David A. Trott and the other Trott Sellers are partners in the law firm, Trott & Trott, P.C., which is a customer of NDeX. Trott is the managing
partner of Trott & Trott, P.C. and we also employ him as the chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX, where he is one of our executive
officers. Under the common units purchase agreements described above where we purchased an aggregate 7.6% ownership interest in NDeX,
Trott sold us his 5.1% ownership interest in NDeX for which we will pay him an aggregate of $8.8 million (exclusive of interest) and for which
we issued to him 168,644 shares of our common stock. See also �Related Party Transactions and Policies�David A. Trott� in our proxy statement,
which is expected to be filed with the SEC in early April 2011, for a description of certain other relationships between Trott, his law firm or his
other affiliated entities and us.

Each Trott Seller had the right, until February 7, 2010, to require NDeX to repurchase their respective membership interest in NDeX at a price
based on 6.25 times NDeX�s trailing twelve month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization less the aggregate amount of any
interest bearing indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the repurchase date. The present value of the total consideration paid to the Trott
Sellers in connection with the sale of their respective NDeX interests to us approximated the price we would have paid to the Trott Sellers had
they elected to exercise, in full, their put right set forth in the NDeX operating agreement.

On February 28, 2010, NDeX redeemed 23,560 common units, representing a 1.7% interest in NDeX, from Feiwell & Hannoy, in connection
with Feiwell & Hannoy�s exercise of its put right as set forth in the NDeX operating agreement. NDeX redeemed these common units for $3.5
million, which was determined pursuant to the formula set forth in NDeX�s operating agreement. The redemption price is payable to Feiwell &
Hannoy over a period of three years, in quarterly installments, with interest accruing at a rate of 3.25%. Feiwell & Hannoy is a law firm
customer of NDeX.

After the closing of the transactions described above, our ownership interest in NDeX increased from 84.7% to 93.8%.
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Regulatory Environment

Beginning in 2008, federal, state and local governmental entities and leaders have increasingly focused attention on foreclosures and have
proposed and enacted legislation or taken other action that may have, and some of which has had, an adverse impact on the number of mortgage
default case files NDeX is asked to process, the length of time it takes to process such files, the time over which we recognize revenue
associated with the processing of those files, and the number of foreclosure public notices placed in our Business Information products and
DLNP (our equity method investment) for publication. This legislation includes the Hope for Homeowners Act of 2008, the Emergency
Economic Stabilization Act, the Streamlined Modification Program, and the Homeowner Affordability and Stability Plan (including the Making
Home Affordable Program, the Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP), and the Home Affordable Foreclosure Alternatives Program
(HAFA)), the Protecting Tenants at Foreclosure Act, and laws passed to mitigate foreclosures in California, Maryland, Michigan, Indiana, and
Florida. There also have been voluntary foreclosure relief programs developed by lenders, loan servicers and the Hope Now Alliance (a
consortium that includes loan servicers). We have described these programs in our annual and quarterly reports in the past few years.

Overall, 2011 included continued scrutiny of mortgage foreclosures processes by various government agencies and individuals, voluntary
slowing of foreclosure referrals by servicers and lenders as they reviewed systems and provided information requested by the government, newly
mandated procedures, and signs of progress in governmental review.

In February 2011, the Department of the Treasury submitted a report to Congress entitled �Reforming America�s Housing Finance Market� which
included a plan to responsibly reduce the role of the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation (Freddie Mac) in the mortgage market and expressed a goal of ultimately winding down both institutions. Many of the files we
process are supported by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, meaning that any change to these institutions, or broader changes to the mortgage market
as a whole, may adversely impact the number of mortgage default files received by our law firm customers from their clients (and therefore the
number directed to us to process) and received by us for processing in California by our mortgage lender and loan servicer customers.

In the federal sector, 14 major mortgage servicers signed consent orders with the Board of Governors of The Federal Reserve System and the
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (�OCC�) in April 2011, agreeing to submit action plans detailing how they will comply with new
requirements for servicing defaulted loans. The OCC consent agreements required improvements to certain internal processes and enhanced
controls related to third-party vendors that provide services related to residential default or foreclosure, including the law firm customers of
NDeX. In June 2011, the OCC issued guidance clarifying that, in addition to these 14 major mortgage servicers, all mortgage servicers under
OCC supervision must assure compliance with all appropriate foreclosure management standards. OCC Bulletin 2011-29 issued in June 2011
stressed that banks engaged in mortgage servicing must ensure compliance with foreclosure laws, conduct foreclosures in a safe and sound
manner, and establish responsible business practices that provide accountability and appropriate treatment of borrowers. The bulletin provided
additional clarification on expectations regarding governance of foreclosure process to include adequate staffing and training, dual-track
processing, management of affidavit and notary practices, documentation, oversight of third-party service providers, and adherence to all laws
and regulations related to mortgage foreclosure. The OCC required servicers to complete revisions in foreclosure processing to the satisfaction
of the Federal Reserve and the OCC and to reorganize their related foreclosure operations to follow the amended procedures. In addition, all
national banks were required by the end of September 2011 to conduct a self-assessment of foreclosure management practices and to correct any
weaknesses identified. The OCC continues to review the plans and information the banks submitted. The OCC indicated that it may require
changes to the plans provided and that it is working with the United States Department of Justice and other federal and state authorities to
finalize and synchronize the plans into a consistent set of servicing requirements.

In July 2011, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (�CFPB�) outlined its approach to supervising large depository institutions to ensure
compliance with federal consumer protection laws. This supervisory process, which applies to the 111 depository institutions with total assets of
more than $10 billion, began on July 21, 2011. More recently, the CFPB issued Supervision and Examination guidance for all lenders. This
guidance covers lending and servicing principals and how the CFPB will examine lenders� and servicers� processes going forward. We do not see
a direct impact of this process upon our operations except that it further
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complicates operations of the mortgage servicers, making them more concerned about compliance issues and potentially extending their current
slowdown in foreclosure referrals. In October 2011, the CFPB outlined its initial approach to supervising mortgage servicers to ensure they
comply with federal consumer financial protection laws. It said it will focus initially on loans in default where consumers are struggling to make
payments. CFPB examiners will be looking to ensure that information provided to consumers about loan modifications and foreclosures is
timely and transparent.

At the state level in 2011, the attorneys general of all 50 states continued to investigate the mortgage servicing industry and to negotiate with
mortgage servicers in hopes of achieving changes in the foreclosure process, possible payment of financial penalties and an increased level of
mortgage loan modifications. (While these officials in most states lack direct regulatory authority over mortgage servicers, the attorneys general
indicated a willingness to act in the courts if necessary to enforce their positions.) In January 2012 a draft settlement between the nation�s five
largest mortgage lenders and the U.S. state attorneys general was announced and sent to state officials for review. That settlement would only
apply to privately held mortgages issued between 2008 and 2011, not those held by government-controlled Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. Under
the proposed deal, $17 billion would go toward reducing the principal that certain homeowners owe on their mortgages, $5 billion would be
placed in a reserve account for various state and federal programs and approximately $3 billion would assist homeowners� efforts to refinance at
an interest rate of 5.25%. As of this filing, the vast majority of states were reported to have agreed to this settlement.

Given the OCC deadlines for reports and compliance, the CFPB�s requirements, the attorneys general efforts, and the generally heightened
scrutiny that residential mortgage foreclosure servicers experienced in 2011, servicers continued to react to this scrutiny by reviewing and
verifying their policies and procedures, applying more steps, checks, and reviews to pending foreclosures, and releasing into foreclosure only
those cases that have been carefully reviewed. Many servicers also reacted to this environment of increased scrutiny by requesting additional
information and process verification from law firms and other third-party vendors. These servicer actions continued to sharply reduce the
number of mortgage defaults being referred to begin foreclosure in 2011. We believe that servicers will continue to exercise an abundance of
caution, examining each default referral in extreme detail, effectively continuing the slow pace of referrals. Until any new foreclosure
procedures are made uniform and final, such new procedures cannot become automated as part of our proprietary workflow process management
systems. We believe that the reduced level of foreclosure referrals is likely to continue until final procedures are in place, but that a large number
of defaulted loans in pre-foreclosure status and pending foreclosures remain to be undertaken and completed.

Recent Acquisitions

ACT Litigation Services, Inc.

On July 25, 2011, we, through DiscoverReady, completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of ACT Litigation Services, Inc.
(�ACT�) for (i) an upfront payment of approximately $60.0 million in cash that was paid in full at closing, plus (ii) up to $5.0 million in potential
additional purchase price that will be held back for a period of 20 months (subject to partial early release) to secure certain obligations of ACT
and its shareholders, plus (iii) an earnout payment based primarily upon the extent to which an agreed-upon multiple of ACT�s pro forma
EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2011, exceeds the base purchase price of $65.0 million, plus (iv) two additional earnout payments of
up to a maximum of $15.0 million in the aggregate that are contingent upon reaching certain revenue milestones for the years ended
December 31, 2012, and 2013. All of the earnout payments are subject to certain set-off rights under the purchase agreement. Management
estimated the fair value of the earnouts to be paid, in the aggregate, to be $39.9 million at acquisition date. As a result of 2011 actual pro forma
EBITDA (which was lower than the initial estimate) as well as revised expectations regarding certain of the earnout targets, the estimated fair
value of the earnouts to be paid, in the aggregate, was reduced to $26.7 million at December 31, 2011. As a result, we recorded a non-cash fair
value adjustment in the amount of $13.2 million to the estimated earnout liability in 2011. The total fair value of the long-lived tangible and
intangible assets acquired was $100.9 million, and the total working capital acquired was $8.9 million.

We used funds available under our revolving line of credit to fund the closing payments in connection with this acquisition. The acquired
operations of ACT are part of our Litigation Support Services segment within our Professional Services Division.
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ACT specializes in providing technology and process solutions to clients with electronic discovery needs. It also provides hosting and review
services. For more information on the products and services ACT provides, see �Our Products and Services�Professional Services� earlier in this
annual report.

Revenues

We derive revenues from our two operating divisions, our Professional Services Division and our Business Information Division, operating as
three reportable segments: (1) mortgage default processing services; (2) litigation support services; and (3) business information. For the year
ended December 31, 2011, our total revenues were $285.6 million, and the percentage of our total revenues attributed to each of our divisions
and segments was as follows:

� 73% from our Professional Services Division (46% from mortgage default processing services and 27% from litigation support
services); and

� 27% from our Business Information Division.
Professional Service Division. Our Professional Services Division generates revenues primarily by providing mortgage default processing,
outsourced discovery management and document review, and appellate services through fee-based arrangements. We further break down our
Professional Services Division into two reportable segments, mortgage default processing services and litigation support services.

Mortgage Default Processing Services. Through NDeX, we assist eight law firms in processing foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction and to a lesser
extent, litigation and other mortgage default processing case files for residential mortgages that are in default. We also provide foreclosure
processing services directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers for properties located in California. In addition, NDeX provides loan
modification and loss mitigation support on mortgage default files to its customers and related real estate title work to the Barrett Law Firm.
Shareholders and/or principal attorneys of our law firm customers, including David A. Trott, chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX, are
executive management employees of NDeX.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, we received approximately 317,200 mortgage default case files for processing. Our mortgage default
processing service revenues accounted for 46% of our total revenues and 63% of our Professional Services Division�s revenues during 2011. We
recognize mortgage default processing services revenues over the period during which the services are provided. We consolidate the operations,
including revenues, of NDeX and record a noncontrolling interest adjustment for the percentage of earnings that we do not own. See
�Noncontrolling Interest� below for a description of the impact of the noncontrolling interest in NDeX on our operating results. With the exception
of foreclosure files we process for our law firm customer, Feiwell & Hannoy, and California foreclosure files, we bill our customers upon receipt
of the file and record amounts billed for services not yet performed as deferred revenue. For foreclosure files we process for Feiwell & Hannoy,
we bill Feiwell & Hannoy in two installments and record amounts for services performed but not yet billed as unbilled services and amounts
billed for services not yet performed as deferred revenue. For the majority of California foreclosure files processed by us, we bill our customers
for services at the time the file is complete and record amounts related to services performed, but not yet billed, as unbilled services. In
California, because we provide mortgage default processing services directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers, we incur certain costs on
behalf of our customers, such as trustee sale guarantees, title policies, and post and publication charges. We pass these costs directly through to
our mortgage lender and loan servicer customers, and bill them at the time the file is complete. We have determined that these expenses should
be recorded at net and, accordingly, do not record any revenue for these pass-through costs. We also provide title services primarily to the
Barrett Law Firm, and we bill for these services when the title matter is completed and recognize revenue as we perform the services.

NDeX�s revenues are primarily driven by the number of residential mortgage defaults in each of the states for which it processes files as well as
the quantity and mix of the files we process (e.g., foreclosures, evictions, bankruptcies or litigation) because each has a different pricing
structure. We have entered into long-term services agreements with each of our law firm customers. These agreements provide for the exclusive
referral of files from the law firms to NDeX for servicing, except that the Barrett Law Firm and Trott & Trott may refer files elsewhere if they
are otherwise directed by clients. During 2011, each of the Barrett Law Firm, Trott & Trott and Albertelli Law accounted for more than 10% of
our mortgage default processing services revenues, with the Barrett Law
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Firm accounting for 45%, Trott & Trott accounting for 26%, and Albertelli Law accounting for 13% of these revenues. Our services agreements
with Trott & Trott, Albertelli Law and the Barrett Law Firm have initial terms that expire in 2021, 2029 and 2033, respectively. However, these
terms may be automatically extended for up to two successive ten year periods, in the case of our agreements with Trott & Trott and Albertelli
Law, or successive five year periods, in the case of our agreement with the Barrett Law Firm, unless either party elects to terminate the term
then-in-effect with prior notice. The initial terms of our services agreements with our other law firm customers expire between 2022 to 2030,
which terms may be automatically extended for up to two successive five or ten-year periods depending upon the law firm customer unless
either party elects to terminate the term then-in-effect with prior notice.

Under each services agreement, we are paid a fixed fee for each residential mortgage default file the law firm sends to us for processing, with the
amount of such fixed fee being based upon the type of file. We typically bill this fee upon receipt of a default case file, which consists of any
mortgage default case file sent to us for processing, regardless of whether the case actually proceeds to foreclosure. If such file leads to a
bankruptcy, eviction or litigation proceeding, we are entitled to an additional fixed fee in connection with handling a file for such proceedings.
We also receive a fixed fee for handling files in eviction, litigation and bankruptcy matters that do not originate from mortgage foreclosure files.
The Barrett Law Firm also pays us a monthly trustee foreclosure administration fee. Although the services agreements with our law firm
customers contemplate the review and possible revision of the fees for the services we provide, price increases have not historically affected our
mortgage default processing services revenues materially. In some cases, our services agreements adjust the fee paid to us for the files we
process on an annual basis pursuant to an agreed-upon consumer price index. In other cases, our services agreements require us to agree with our
law firm customer regarding the terms and amount of any fee increase.

Deferred revenue includes revenues billed for mortgage default processing services that we expect to recognize in future periods due to the
extended period of time it takes to process certain files. At December 31, 2011, we had such deferred revenue on our balance sheet in the amount
of $12.3 million.

Litigation Support Services. Our litigation support services segment generates revenues by providing discovery management and document
review services through DiscoverReady and appellate services through Counsel Press. For the year ended December 31, 2011, our litigation
support services revenues accounted for 27% of our total revenues and 37% of our Professional Services Division�s revenues. DiscoverReady
provides its services to major United States and global companies and their counsel and assists them in document reviews and helping them
manage the discovery process. Discovery is the process by which parties use the legal system to obtain relevant information, primarily in
litigation and regulatory matters. This process can be expensive and time-consuming for companies depending upon the volume of emails,
electronic files and paper documents a company must review to respond to a document request. DiscoverReady also provides related technology
management services. DiscoverReady bills its customers primarily based upon the number of documents reviewed and the amount of data or
other information it processes in connection with those reviews. Accordingly, our discovery management and document review services revenue
are largely determined by the volume of data we review, process and host. Our discovery management and document review services revenue
accounted for 22% of our total revenues, 81% of our litigation support services segment revenues, and 30% of our total Professional Services
Division revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011. During 2011, DiscoverReady�s top customer, who is in the financial services industry,
accounted for 41% of DiscoverReady�s total revenues.

Counsel Press assists law firms and attorneys throughout the United States in organizing, preparing and filing appellate briefs, records and
appendices, in paper and electronic formats, that comply with the applicable rules of the U.S. Supreme Court, any of the 13 federal courts of
appeals and any state appellate court or appellate division. Counsel Press charges its customers primarily on a per-page basis based on the final
appellate product that is filed with the court clerk. Accordingly, our appellate service revenues are largely determined by the volume of appellate
cases we handle and the number of pages in the appellate cases we file. For the year ended December 31, 2011, our appellate services revenues
accounted for 5% of our total revenues, 19% of our litigation support services revenues, and 7% of our total Professional Services Division
revenues.

We recognize litigation support services revenues during the month in which the services are provided. In the case of Counsel Press, this is when
our final appellate product is filed with the court. In most cases, DiscoverReady
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bills its customers each month for the services provided. DiscoverReady�s services consist of multiple element deliverables, and as such, revenue
is assigned to each deliverable service and recognized as those services are performed. In situations where they bill their customers in advance of
services performed, revenue is deferred until the month it is earned. See �Revenue Recognition� below for additional information pertaining to
revenue recognition in our litigation support services segment.

We consolidate the operations of DiscoverReady and record an adjustment for noncontrolling interest for the percentage of DiscoverReady that
we do not own. Because the redeemable feature of this noncontrolling interest is based on fair value (unlike the noncontrolling interest in
NDeX), we do not record this adjustment as an item affecting net income attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders. See
�Noncontrolling Interest� below.

Business Information. Our Business Information Division generates revenues primarily from display and classified advertising, public notices
and subscriptions. We sell commercial advertising, which consists of display and classified advertising in our print products and web sites. We
include within our display and classified advertising revenue those revenues generated by sponsorships, advertising and ticket sales generated by
our local events. Our display and classified advertising revenues accounted for 8% of our total revenues and 29% of our Business Information
Division revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011. We recognize display and classified advertising revenues upon placement of an
advertisement in one of our publications or on one of our web sites. We recognize display and classified advertising revenues generated by
sponsorships, advertising and ticket sales from local events when those events are held. Advertising revenues are driven primarily by the
volume, price and mix of advertisements published, as well as how many local events are held.

We publish more than 300 different types of public notices in our court and commercial newspapers, including foreclosure notices, probate
notices, notices of fictitious business names, limited liability company and other entity notices, unclaimed property notices, notices of
governmental hearings and trustee sale notices. Our public notice revenues accounted for 12% of our total revenues and 42% of our Business
Information Division revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011. We recognize public notice revenues upon placement of a public notice in
one of our court and commercial newspapers. Public notice revenues are driven by the volume and mix of public notices published. This is
primarily affected by the number of residential mortgage foreclosures in the 14 markets where we are qualified to publish public notices and the
rules governing publication of public notices in such states. In six of the states in which we publish public notices, the price for public notices is
statutorily regulated, with market forces determining the pricing for the remaining states.

We sell our business information products, including our DataStream and Federal News products and services, primarily through subscriptions.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, our subscription and other revenues, which consist primarily of subscriptions, single-copy sales,
transcriptions and access to state and federal legislative information, accounted for 8% of our total revenues and 28% of our Business
Information Division�s revenues. We recognize subscription revenues ratably over the subscription periods, which range from three months to
multiple years, with the average subscription period being twelve months. Deferred revenue includes payment for subscriptions collected in
advance that we expect to recognize in future periods. At December 31, 2011, we had such deferred revenue on our balance sheet in the amount
of $8.0 million. Subscription and other revenues are primarily driven by the number of copies sold and the subscription rates charged to
customers.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of the following:

� Direct operating expenses, which consist primarily of the cost of compensation and employee benefits for the operational staff at
NDeX, DiscoverReady, and Counsel Press and our editorial personnel in our Business Information Division, production and
distribution expenses, such as compensation (including stock-based compensation expense) and employee benefits for personnel
involved in the production and distribution of our business information products, the cost of newsprint and delivery of our business
information products, and packaging and data service fees in connection with our California foreclosure files;

� Selling, general and administrative expenses, which consist primarily of the cost of compensation (including stock-based
compensation expense) and employee benefits for our sales, human resources, accounting and information technology personnel,
publishers and other members of management, rent, other sales and marketing related expenses and other office-related payments;
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� Amortization expense, which represents the cost of finite-lived intangibles acquired through business combinations allocated over
the estimated useful lives of these intangibles, with such useful lives ranging from two to thirty years;

� Depreciation expense, which represents the cost of fixed assets and software allocated over the estimated useful lives of these assets,
with such useful lives ranging from one to thirty years; and

� Fair value adjustments on earnout liabilities, which consists of non-cash adjustments to estimates of earnouts to be paid to sellers of
businesses we acquire, based on management�s estimated fair value of the earnout liability at each reporting date.

Total operating expenses as a percentage of revenues were 86% in 2011, and depend upon our mix of business from Professional Services,
which is typically our higher margin revenue, and Business Information. This mix may continue to shift between fiscal periods and over time as
Professional Services revenues continue to grow at a faster pace that Business Information revenues.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC. We own 35% of the membership interests in The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC (�DLNP�), the
publisher of The Detroit Legal News and ten other publications. We account for our investment in DLNP using the equity method. For the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, our percentage share of DLNP�s earnings was $2.2 million, $4.7 million and $4.9 million,
respectively, which we recognized as operating income. This is net of amortization of $1.5 million for each period. NDeX handles all public
notices required to be published in connection with files it processes for Trott & Trott pursuant to our services agreement with Trott & Trott and
places a significant amount of these notices in The Detroit Legal News. Trott & Trott pays DLNP for these public notices. See �Liquidity and
Capital Resources�Cash Flow Provided by Operating Activities� below for information regarding distributions paid to us by DLNP.

Under the terms of the amended and restated operating agreement for DLNP, on a date that is within 60 days prior to November 30, 2011, and
each November 30th after that, each member of DLNP has the right, but not the obligation, to deliver a notice to the other members, declaring
the value of all of the membership interests of DLNP. Upon receipt of this notice, each other member has up to 60 days to elect to either
purchase his, her or its pro rata share of the initiating member�s membership interests or sell to the initiating member a pro rata portion of the
membership interest of DLNP owned by the non-initiating member. Depending on the election of the other members, the member that delivered
the initial notice of value to the other members will be required to either sell his or her membership interests, or purchase the membership
interests of other members. The purchase price payable for the membership interests of DLNP will be based on the value set forth in the initial
notice delivered by the initiating member. No notice of such right was given by any member in 2011.

Other. Other than DLNP, as of December 31, 2011, we have one additional equity method investment. In 2010, we invested in 19.5% of the
membership interests in BringMetheNews, LLC (�BMTN�). The net investment balance in BMTN at December 31, 2011 and 2010, is $0.6 million
and 0.7 million, respectively.

On December 31, 2009, we sold our investment in GovDelivery in connection with its merger with Internet Capital Group. We received $3.6
million in cash upon the consummation of the sale, with an additional $0.6 million held back for the payment of indemnification claims pursuant
to the terms of the merger agreement. Accordingly, we recorded a gain on our sale of this investment in 2009 in the amount of $2.4 million,
which was included in other income in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ending December 31, 2009. We received the full
amount held back, and have included this as other income of $0.4 and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.
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You should refer to �Recent Developments� earlier in this annual report for information about the change in our ownership in DiscoverReady,
NDeX and LISA during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interests in NDeX, DiscoverReady, and LISA consisted of the following as of December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009:

December 31,
Entity NCI Holder 2011 2010 2009
NDeX APC Investments, LLC �  �  2.5% 

Feiwell & Hannoy �  �  1.7% 
Sellers of Barrett-NDEx (as a group) 6.2% 6.2% 6.1% 

6.2% 6.2% 10.3% 

DiscoverReady DR Holdco, LLC 10.0% 14.7% 15.0% 
LISA Telran, Inc. 28.0% 50.0% n/a

Under the terms of the NDeX operating agreement, each month, we are required to distribute the excess of NDeX�s earnings before interest,
depreciation and amortization less debt service with respect to any interest-bearing indebtedness of NDeX, capital expenditures and working
capital reserves to NDeX�s members on the basis of common equity interest owned. We paid the following distributions during the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

APC Investments $ �  $ 113 $ 1,607
Feiwell & Hannoy �  48 363
Sellers of Barrett-NDEx (as a group) 248 480 1,270

Total $  248 $ 641 $ 3,240

The sellers of Barrett-NDEx or their transferees, each as members of NDeX, have the right, for a period of six months following September 2,
2012, to require NDeX to repurchase all or any portion of their respective membership interest in NDeX. To the extent any seller of
Barrett-NDEx timely exercises this right, the purchase price of such membership interest will be based on 6.25 times NDeX�s trailing twelve
month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization less the aggregate amount of any interest bearing indebtedness outstanding
for NDeX as of the date the repurchase occurs. The aggregate purchase price would be payable by NDeX in the form of a three-year unsecured
note bearing interest at a rate equal to prime plus 2%.

In connection with our purchase of approximately one-third of the outstanding membership units of DiscoverReady held by DR Holdco
discussed above, the terms of the DiscoverReady limited liability company agreement were amended. Under the terms of the amended
agreement, DR Holdco has the right, for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2012, to require DiscoverReady to repurchase
approximately 50% of DR Holdco�s equity interest in DiscoverReady, and for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2013, to require
DiscoverReady to purchase DR Holdco�s remaining equity interest in DiscoverReady. In addition, for a period of 90 days following November 2,
2013, DiscoverReady also has the right to require DR Holdco to sell its entire equity interest in DiscoverReady. In each case, if either party
timely exercises its right, we would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the fair market value of the equity interest. These rights may be
exercised earlier under certain circumstances.
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DiscoverReady may engage an independent third party valuation firm to assist it in determining the fair market value of the equity interest being
repurchased by DiscoverReady or sold to us if any of the above-described rights are exercised. The purchase price for any equity interests
repurchased or sold pursuant to these rights, if exercised, will be paid in cash to the extent allowed by the terms of our then-existing credit
agreement, or pursuant to a three-year unsecured promissory note, bearing interest at a rate equal to prime plus 1%.

The DiscoverReady operating agreement does not require us to pay any monthly cash distributions to DR Holdco; however, we are obligated to
make distributions to DR Holdco to pay its tax liabilities. During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we made distributions of $0.3
million and $1.0 million to DR Holdco.

We are required to record the redeemable noncontrolling interests (�NCI�) in NDeX and DiscoverReady to their redemption amounts at each
reporting period. The NDeX NCI is adjusted to the estimated redemption amount at each reporting period based on the formula as discussed
above. The DiscoverReady NCI is adjusted to fair value each period. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the adjustments recorded to the
NCI for NDeX were $(7.5) million net of tax, and the adjustments recorded to the NCI for DiscoverReady were $1.3 million net of tax. Please
see our audited consolidated statements of stockholders� equity and comprehensive income, as well as Note 1 to our audited consolidated
financial statements, included in this annual report on Form 10-K for further information regarding accounting for noncontrolling interests and
its implications to our financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (�GAAP�). The preparation of
these financial statements requires management to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

We continually evaluate the policies and estimates we use to prepare our consolidated financial statements. In general, management�s estimates
and assumptions are based on historical experience, information provided by third-party professionals and assumptions that management
believes to be reasonable under the facts and circumstances at the time these estimates and assumptions are made. Because of the uncertainty
inherent in these matters, actual results could differ significantly from the estimates, assumptions and judgments we use in applying these critical
accounting policies.

We believe the critical accounting policies that require the most significant estimates, assumptions and judgments to be used in the preparation
of our consolidated financial statements are business combinations, revenue recognition in connection with mortgage default processing
services, impairment of intangible assets and other long-lived assets, fair value of DiscoverReady�s noncontrolling interest, share-based
compensation expense, income taxes, and accounts receivable allowances.

Business Combinations and Earnout Liabilities

We have acquired a number of businesses during the last several years, and we expect to acquire additional businesses in the future. In a
business combination, we determine the fair value of all acquired assets, including identifiable intangible assets, and all assumed liabilities,
including earnouts payable. The fair value of the acquired business is allocated to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities in amounts equal to
the fair value of each asset and liability, and any remaining fair value of the acquired business is classified as goodwill. This allocation process
requires extensive use of estimates and assumptions, including estimates of future cash flows to be generated by the acquired assets. Certain
identifiable, finite-lived intangible assets, such as mastheads, trade names and advertising, subscriber and other customer lists, are amortized
over the intangible asset�s estimated useful life. The estimated useful life of amortizable identifiable intangible assets ranges from two to thirty
years. Goodwill, as well as other intangible assets determined to have indefinite lives, is not amortized. In determining the amount to record for
earnouts payable, at acquisition date we consider the likelihood of earnout targets being achieved, including multiple scenarios of such, and
record a liability for the fair value of such amount. Earnout liabilities are adjusted each reporting period based on revised estimates of the fair
value of expected future payments, if appropriate, with any adjustment to the fair value recorded in operating expense. Accordingly, the
accounting for acquisitions has had, and will continue to have, a significant impact on our operating results.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, we applied business combination accounting to the acquisition of ACT on July 25, 2011. See Note 3
to our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K for more information about the application of business
combination accounting to these acquisitions.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize mortgage default processing service revenues on a proportional performance basis over the period during which the services are
provided, the calculation of which requires management to make significant estimates as to the appropriate length of the revenue recognition
period and allocation of revenues within those periods. We base these estimates primarily upon our historical experience and our knowledge of
processing cycles in each of the states in which we do business, as well as recent legislative changes which impact the processing period. Our
revenue recognition periods for mortgage default processing services revenues ranges from one to nineteen months. Because of the extended
time over which we may recognize these revenues, we carry a balance of deferred revenues on our balance sheet, representing revenues billed
but not yet earned. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we recorded an aggregate $12.3 million and $14.4 million, respectively, as deferred
revenues related to mortgage default processing services on our balance sheet.

Services related to litigation support are billed primarily based upon the volume of data that we manage, the number of documents that we
review, the type of technology utilized, the number of consulting hours employed, the size and complexity of the matter, and the requirements of
the court or client. We recognize such revenues during the month in which the services are provided. Revenue is recognized as the services are
rendered, our fee becomes fixed or determinable, collectability is reasonably assured and we have persuasive evidence of an arrangement.

In the case of Counsel Press, revenue is recognized when our final appellate product is filed with the court. Within DiscoverReady, contracts
with our customers frequently contain multiple service deliverables. Our multiple element service offerings include data processing, review
services, production and hosting. Based on our evaluation of each deliverable, we have determined that each of these services have standalone
value to our customers and represent separate units of accounting. Allocation of the total arrangement consideration to each unit of accounting is
determined at arrangement inception based on each unit�s relative selling price. For those multiple element arrangements in which a unit of
accounting is priced at an amount less than its estimated selling price, we use the relative selling price method to allocate the discount
proportionately to each unit of accounting in the arrangement.

When available, we use vendor specific objective evidence to determine the selling price of a unit of accounting. If vendor specific objective
evidence does not exist, we use third-party evidence of the selling price for similar services. For units of accounting in which there is no vendor
specific objective evidence or third-party evidence of selling price, the best estimate of selling price is used.

In most cases, DiscoverReady bills its customers each month for the services provided. Amounts billed in excess of the amounts allocated to
each unit of accounting for which the revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied are recorded as deferred revenue on our consolidated
balance sheet until all revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied. At December 31, 2011, we recorded an aggregate $1.2 million as deferred
revenue related to litigation support services on our balance sheet. We had no such deferred revenue on our balance sheet at December 31, 2010.

We record revenues recognized for services performed, but not yet billed, to our customers as unbilled services. As of December 31, 2011 and
2010, we recorded an aggregate $16.8 million and $13.9 million, respectively, as unbilled services and included these amounts in accounts
receivable on our balance sheet.

Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

We test our indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill annually for impairment using a November 30 measurement date. Our reporting units
for purposes of goodwill impairment testing are Business Information, Mortgage Default Processing, DiscoverReady and Counsel Press. We test
all finite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets, such as fixed assets, for impairment only if circumstances indicate that possible
impairment exists. We conduct interim impairment tests of our goodwill whenever circumstances or events indicate that it is more likely than not
that the fair value of one of our reporting units is below its carrying value. Circumstances that could represent triggering events and therefore
require an interim impairment test of goodwill or evaluation of our finite-lived intangible assets or other long lived assets include the following:
loss of key personnel, unanticipated competition, higher or earlier than expected customer attrition, deterioration of operating performance,
significant adverse industry, economic or regulatory changes or a significant decline in market capitalization.
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Adverse changes in the business climate, earlier than expected customer attrition and deterioration of operating performance in certain
stand-alone businesses within the Business Information reporting unit (which we determined to be asset groups) prompted us to perform
impairment tests on these stand-alone businesses� finite-lived intangibles and property and equipment in the fourth quarter of 2011.
Recoverability of these assets was evaluated and this process indicated that the carrying values of the asset groups were not recoverable, as the
expected undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by them were less than their carrying values. The related impairment loss was measured
based on the amount by which the asset group�s carrying value exceeded its fair value. Asset group fair values were determined using a
combination of discounted cash flows and a market approach. As a result, we recorded $1.2 million in non-cash impairment charges in 2011 to
reduce the carrying value of long-lived assets within these asset groups.

We periodically evaluate the estimated economic lives and related amortization expense for our finite-lived intangible assets. To the extent
actual useful lives are less than our previously estimated lives, we will increase our amortization expense on a prospective basis. We estimate
useful lives of our intangible assets by reference to both contractual arrangements and current and projected cash flows. The determination of
useful lives and whether long-lived assets are impaired includes the use of accounting estimates and assumptions, changes in which could
materially impact our financial condition and operating performance if actual results differ from such estimates and assumptions. During the
year ended December 31, 2011, we revised the remaining estimated useful lives of intangible assets in connection with the impairment recorded
on certain assets as discussed above. We did not revise any existing lives of our other finite-lived intangible assets.

At December 31, 2011, we had total goodwill of $276.9 million, which was allocated to our four reporting units as follows: Business
Information ($62.9 million); Mortgage Default Processing Services ($131.7 million); DiscoverReady ($74.5 million); and Counsel Press ($7.8
million). We have completed our annual test for impairment of goodwill and have determined that there is no impairment of our goodwill for the
year ended December 31, 2011.

The first step of our test for impairment of goodwill requires us to estimate the fair value of each reporting unit and compare the fair value to the
reporting unit�s carrying value. We determined the fair value of our reporting units using a discounted cash flow approach and a comparative
market approach. The discounted cash flow approach calculates the present value of projected future cash flows using appropriate discount rates.
The comparative market approach provides indications of value based on market multiples for public companies involved in similar lines of
business. The fair values derived from these valuation methods were then weighted (50% to each approach) to determine an estimated fair value
for each reporting unit, which is compared to the carrying value of each reporting unit to determine whether impairment exists. We then
compared the total values for all reporting units to our market capitalization as a test of the reasonableness of our approach.

To the extent a reporting unit�s carrying value exceeds its fair value, an indication exists that the reporting unit�s goodwill may be impaired, and
we must perform the second step of the impairment test. The second step involves assigning the reporting unit�s fair value to all of its recognized
and unrecognized assets and liabilities as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination in order to determine the implied fair
value of the reporting unit�s goodwill as of the testing date. The implied fair value of the reporting unit�s goodwill is then compared to the
carrying value of goodwill to quantify an impairment charge, if any, as of the assessment date. Because the carrying value of each of our
reporting units did not exceed their respective fair values, we did not need to perform this second step.

In determining the fair values of our reporting units, we were required to make a number of assumptions. Any variance in these assumptions
could have a significant effect on our determination of goodwill impairment. These assumptions included our actual operating results, future
business plans, economic projections and market data as well as estimates by our management regarding future cash flows and operating results.
Further, we cannot predict what future events may occur that could adversely affect the reported value of our goodwill. These events include, but
are not limited to, any strategic decisions we may make in response to economic or competitive conditions affecting our reporting units and the
effect of the economic and regulatory environment on our business. If we are required to take an impairment charge in the future, it could have a
material effect on our consolidated financial statements because of the significance of goodwill to our consolidated balance sheet. However, any
such charge, if taken, will not have any impact on our ability to comply with the covenants contained in our credit agreement because
impairment charges are excluded
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from the calculation of adjusted EBITDA for purposes of meeting the fixed charge coverage and total cash flow leverage ratios and because
there is no net worth minimum covenant. Future credit agreements may, however, contain covenants that may be impacted by such non-cash
impairment charges.

We prepared our discounted cash flow analysis in the same manner as we have prepared it in prior years. We determined all significant
assumptions based on market and regulatory conditions at the impairment testing date. The key assumptions we used in preparing our discounted
cash flow analysis are (1) projected cash flows, (2) risk adjusted discount rates, and (3) expected long term growth rates. Because each of our
reporting units has unique characteristics, we developed these assumptions separately for each unit. We based our projected cash flows on our
actual 2011 operating results through November 30 and on budgeted operating amounts for 2012. We have assumed long-term growth rates of
4.0% for all reporting units with the exception of Business Information, for which we used 2.5%. We believe our growth factors are reasonable
given the balance in our revenue streams and the countercyclical nature of public notice advertising and default mortgage processing services
revenues. We used risk-adjusted discount rates ranging between 10.7% to 11.7% for each reporting unit, which were calculated using an
estimated cost of debt and equity.

We based our comparative market approach on the valuation multiples as of November 30, 2011 (enterprise value divided by EBITDA) of a
selected group of peer companies in the business information and the business process outsourcing industries.

Two of our reporting units, Business Information and Mortgage Default Processing Services, have foreclosure-related revenues. As described in
�Item 7�Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Recent Developments�Regulatory Environment�
and �Item 1A�Risk Factors� earlier in this report, there has been new and proposed legislation, along with lender-based programs, aimed at delaying
or preventing residential mortgage foreclosures. Beginning in late 2010 and continuing through 2011, these changes have had a significant effect
on the revenues in these reporting units, which directly impacts the estimated fair value under the comparative market approach. We believe,
however, that these changes have had the effect of delaying, not eliminating, the pending foreclosure work that remains. We continue to monitor
proposed legislation, lender-based programs and other changes in the regulatory environment and their impact on our reporting units to
determine whether a triggering event has occurred.

A summary of the fair values under each approach, along with the estimated fair value for Business Information and Mortgage Default
Processing Services, as compared to the carrying value, was as follows (amounts in millions):

Estimated Fair Value

Reporting Unit

Discounted Cash
Flow

Approach
Comparative

Market Approach
Estimated
Fair Value

Carrying
Value Excess

Business information $ 187.2 $ 113.4 $ 150.3 $ 101.0 48.8% 
Mortgage default processing services $ 405.1 $ 243.3 $ 324.2 $ 272.4 19.0% 
Accordingly, there is no goodwill impairment under our analysis for any reporting unit. However, this calculation is highly sensitive and any
change in our key assumptions about our reporting units or their prospects could result in a future impairment charge. The Counsel Press and
DiscoverReady reporting units are not shown in the table above because their estimated fair values far exceeded their carrying values.

We believe that the estimated fair values of our reporting units are reasonable. We have consistently used these approaches in determining the
value of our goodwill and these types of analyses are used by the research analysts that follow us.

As a test of the reasonableness of the aggregate estimated fair value of our reporting units, we compared the aggregate fair value to the fair value
of the Company, as a whole. We computed the Company�s fair value, as of November 30, 2011, by (1) multiplying: (a) the closing price for a
share of our common stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange ($9.13) by (b) the number of outstanding shares of our common stock;
(2) adding a control premium of 12%; and (3) adding the fair value of our long-term debt
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and seller financing, which were the only assets or liabilities that we did not allocate to reporting units. We have applied a control premium to
our market capitalization analysis because such premiums are typically paid in acquisitions of publicly traded companies. These control
premiums represent the ability of an acquirer to control the operations of the business. We based our control premium on a study of premiums
paid in recent sales transactions. Using the approach described above, our company had an estimated fair value of $548.5 million, which is less
than the aggregate estimated fair value of our reporting units.

While the market capitalization is typically a good indicator of the reasonableness of our primary approaches in evaluating the impairment of
goodwill, we do not believe it is the most appropriate indicator of the fair value of our business at this time. We believe that the decline in and
sustained level of our stock price has been influenced, in large part, by the current factors affecting the mortgage foreclosure processing market,
which has a direct impact on the results of operations of our Business Information and Mortgage Default Process Services reporting units. We
believe these factors have had the effect of temporarily slowing down, and not eliminating, the referral of default files for processing.
Accordingly, we believe that a variance between market capitalization approach and fair value can exist and that difference could be significant
at points in time due to intervening macroeconomic influences.

We will continue to evaluate whether circumstances and events have changed, thereby requiring us to conduct an interim test of our goodwill
and other finite-lived assets. In particular, if we continue to see an uncertain political and regulatory environment regarding mortgage
foreclosures, the tight credit markets, and the volatility of our stock price with any resulting decline in our market capitalization, along with
other uncertainties an interim impairment measurement of our goodwill and other finite-lived assets may be triggered. This could result in a
future material goodwill impairment charge, which could materially adversely impact our operating results in the period in which such charge is
recorded.

Fair Value of DiscoverReady�s Noncontrolling Interest

Because DiscoverReady�s noncontrolling interest (�NCI�) is redeemable outside of our control, we are required to adjust it to fair value at each
reporting period. We determine the fair value of the redeemable NCI in DiscoverReady using a market approach. In 2011, we increased the
value of the noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady by $2.1 million ($1.3 million net of tax) as a result of this adjustment.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

Under our incentive compensation plan, we have reserved for issuance 4.8 million shares of common stock (which was increased in 2010 from
2.7 million shares), of which approximately 1.8 million shares were available for grant as of December 31, 2011. Our incentive compensation
plan provides for awards in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock units, deferred shares, performance units and other stock-based awards. We recognize all share-based payments to employees and
non-employee directors, including grants of stock options and shares of restricted stock, based on the estimated fair value of the equity or
liability instruments issued. We estimate the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date, with compensation expense recognized as the
requisite service is rendered. We have not issued any market/performance based awards.

We have used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value on the date of grant of the stock option awards that we issued,
using the closing share price of our common stock on the grant date for all options issued subsequent to our initial public offering. In connection
with our Black-Scholes option pricing model, we calculated the expected term of stock option awards by using the period over which we expect
the option holder will hold the stock options. We estimate forfeitures of share-based awards at the time of grant and revise such estimates in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from projections. We also made assumptions with respect to expected stock price volatility based
on the average historical volatility of a select peer group of similar companies, or on a mix of the volatility of the price of our own common
stock and that of these peer companies as we develop more trading history and therefore can begin to place more reliance on our stock price
volatility. In addition, we chose to use the risk free interest rate for the U.S. Treasury zero coupon yield curve in effect at the time of grant for a
bond with a maturity similar to the expected life of the options.
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Our incentive compensation plan allows for the issuance of restricted stock awards that may not be sold or otherwise transferred until certain
restrictions have lapsed. We determine the share-based expense for restricted stock awards based on the market price of our stock on the date of
grant applied to the total number of shares that are anticipated to fully vest. Compensation expense is amortized over the vesting period.

See Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K for more information about our share-based
compensation expense.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are recognized for the following: (1) amount of taxes payable for the current year and (2) deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
future tax consequence of events that have been recognized differently in the financial statements than for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are established using statutory tax rates and are adjusted for tax rate changes. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance
if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

We consider accounting for income taxes critical to our operations because management is required to make significant subjective judgments in
developing our provision for income taxes, including the determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowances that
may be required against deferred tax assets. In addition, we operate within multiple taxing jurisdictions and are subject to audit in these
jurisdictions. These audits can involve complex issues, which could require an extended period of time to resolve. The completion of these
audits could result in an increase to amounts previously paid to the taxing jurisdictions.

The extent of our operations involves dealing with uncertainties and judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of
jurisdictions. We recognize potential liabilities and record tax liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in various tax jurisdictions based on our
estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances.
If our estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, an additional charge to expense would result. If payment of these
amounts ultimately proves to be less than the recorded amounts, the reversal of the liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the
period when we determine the liabilities are no longer necessary.

See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K for more information pertaining to income
taxes.

Accounts Receivable Allowances

We extend credit to our customers, including advertisers, public notice publishers, professional service customers and others, based upon an
evaluation of each customer�s financial condition, and collateral is generally not required. For amounts due from customers with due dates in
excess of one year, we record such balances in accounts receivable, long-term, at a discounted amount. We establish allowances for doubtful
accounts based on estimates of losses related to customer receivable balances. Specifically, we use prior credit losses as a percentage of credit
sales, the aging of accounts receivable and specific identification of potential losses to establish reserves for credit losses on accounts receivable.

At December 31, 2011, we had a significant concentration of credit risk relating to amounts due from NDeX�s eight law firm customers. Of our
total consolidated net receivable balance, $38.9 million, or 53.9%, was related to amounts due from these customers, and includes both billed
and unbilled amounts. Billed amounts represent $31.2 million, or 43.2%, of our total consolidated net receivable balance. Partially offsetting our
total accounts receivable exposure for these law firm customers is deferred revenue, for amounts billed but not yet earned, in the amount of
$12.3 million, which represents 31.7% of the total balances due. We do not carry an allowance for doubtful accounts as it relates to these law
firm customers as we have not experienced any write-offs with these customers in the past.

We consider accounting for our allowance for doubtful accounts critical to our operating segments because of the significance of accounts
receivable to our current assets and operating cash flows. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances might be required, which could have a material effect on our financial
statements. See �Liquidity and Capital Resources� below for information regarding our receivables, allowance for doubtful accounts and day sales
outstanding.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K for information about new accounting
pronouncements that we have adopted.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth selected operating results, including as a percentage of total revenues, for the periods indicated below (in
thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2011
% of

Revenues 2010
% of

Revenues 2009
% of

Revenues
Revenues:
Professional Services $ 207,077 72.5% $ 223,069 72.7% $ 172,535 66.9% 
Business Information 78,493 27.5% 83,826 27.3% 85,397 33.1% 

Total revenues 285,570 100.0% 306,895 100.00% 257,932 100.0% 

Operating expenses:
Professional Services 180,410 63.2% 168,593 54.9% 130,281 50.5% 
Business Information 71,492 25.0% 66,929 21.8% 63,653 24.7% 
Unallocated corporate operating expenses 8,269 2.9% 11,266 3.7% 12,803 5.0% 
Fair value adjustments on earnout liabilities (15,788) (5.5)% 1,071 0.3% �  �  % 
Impairment of long-lived assets 1,179 0.4% �  �  % �  �  % 

Total operating expenses 245,562 86.0% 247,859 80.8% 206,737 80.2% 
Equity in earnings of affiliates 2,118 0.7% 4,580 1.5% 4,615 1.8% 

Operating income 42,126 14.8% 63,616 20.7% 55,810 21.6% 
Interest expense, net (6,573) (2.3)% (7,543) (2.5)% (7,206) (2.8)% 
Non-cash interest income related to interest rate swaps 286 0.1% 1,185 0.4% 1,134 0.4% 
Other income, net 287 0.1% 197 0.1% 3,847 1.5% 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 36,126 12.7% 57,455 18.7% 53,585 20.8% 
Income tax expense (13,683) (4.8)% (21,771) (7.1)% (18,735) (7.3)% 

Income from continuing operations 22,443 7.9% 35,684 11.6% 34,850 13.5% 
Discontinued operations, net of tax benefit (1,117) (0.4)% (443) (0.1)% (253) (0.1)% 

Net income 21,326 7.5% 35,241 11.5% 34,597 13.4% 
Less: Net income attributable to redeemable
noncontrolling interests (1,833) (0.6)% (2,886) (0.9)% (3,784) (1.5)% 

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company $ 19,493 6.8% $ 32,355 10.5% $ 30,813 11.9% 

Income from continuing operations attributable to The
Dolan Company per share: Basic and diluted $ 0.68 $ 1.08 $ 1.04
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 30,141 30,151 29,832
Diluted 30,223 30,314 29,916
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Year Ended December 31, 2011

Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010

Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31,
        2011                2010        Change

($�s in millions)
Total Revenues $ 285.6 $ 306.9 $ (21.3) (6.9)% 

Our total revenues declined primarily as a result of a $33.9 million decrease in our mortgage default processing services revenues, partially
offset by an $17.9 million increase in our litigation support services revenues. The increase in litigation support services revenues is primarily a
result of the revenues generated from our newly acquired ACT operations. The decrease in mortgage default processing services revenues was
driven largely by a decrease in the number of new foreclosure files received for processing. Our Business Information revenues were down $5.3
million from the prior year, primarily due to decreased public notice revenues of $12.7 million, offset somewhat by increases in revenues due to
businesses we acquired in 2010. You should refer to the more detailed discussions in �Professional Services Division Results� and �Business
Information Division Results� below for more information regarding the causes of these changes.

We derived 72.5% and 72.7% of our total revenues from our Professional Services Division and 27.5% and 27.3% of our total revenues from
our Business Information Division for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. In our Professional Services Division,
revenues from our mortgage default processing services segment accounted for 45.6% and 53.5% of our total revenues in 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Revenues from our litigation support services segment (also part of our Professional Services Division) accounted for 26.9% and
19.2% of our total revenues in 2011 and 2010. This change in mix resulted primarily from the ACT Litigation acquisition in 2011, as well as
general economic conditions in the markets our NDeX and business information products serve. We expect that, in 2012, total revenues in our
Professional Services Division will continue to increase year-over-year and as a percentage of our total revenues, particularly those revenues in
our litigation support services segment.

Operating Expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,
        2011                2010        Change

($�s in millions)
Total operating expenses $ 245.6 $ 247.9 $ (2.3) 0.9% 
Direct operating expenses 126.5 119.0 7.4 6.2% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 106.8 102.2 4.6 4.5% 
Amortization expense 18.9 15.8 3.1 19.6% 
Depreciation expense 8.0 9.8 (1.8) (18.0)% 
Fair value adjustments on earnout liabilities (15.8) 1.1 (16.9) not meaningful
Impairment of long-lived assets 1.2 0.0 1.2 not meaningful
Total operating expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 86.0% for the year ended December 31, 2011, from 80.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2010, largely as a result of decreased revenues in our mortgage default processing services business and lower public notice
revenues in our business information division, which are typically higher margin revenue streams than some of our other business lines.

Direct Operating Expenses. The increase in direct operating expenses consisted of a $5.0 million increase in our Professional Services Division
and a $2.5 million increase in our Business Information Division. You should refer to the more detailed discussions in �Professional Services
Division Results� and �Business Information Division Results� below for more information regarding the causes of these increases. Direct
operating expenses as a percentage of total revenues increased to 44.2% for 2011, from 38.8% for 2010.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The increase in our selling, general and administrative expenses consisted of a $6.9 million
increase in our Professional Services Division and a $0.7 million increase in our Business Information Division. You should refer to the more
detailed discussions in �Professional Services Division Results� and �Business Information Division Results� below for more information regarding
the causes of these changes.

Unallocated corporate costs decreased by $3.0 million, partially offsetting the increases in our two divisions. In addition to cost control efforts
put in place throughout 2011, unallocated expenses are down from 2010 because we allocated out a greater amount of technology costs ($1.0
million increase) to the divisions to more accurately reflect the usage of such costs. Additionally, we increased our allocations for health
insurance ($1.4 million increase) based on anticipated headcount increases in 2011 and to account for large claims that were incurred in late
2010. Total medical insurance costs for the company are down slightly from 2010.

Selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue increased to 37.4% for 2011 from 33.3% for 2010, due largely to the
decreased revenues in our mortgage default processing services business and lower public notice revenues in our business information division.

Fair Value Adjustments on Earnout Liabilities. Fair value adjustments on earnout liabilities consists of $12.8 million for the Professional
Services Division and $3.0 million for the Business Information Division, largely a result of adjustments to the ACT and DataStream earnouts,
respectively. You should refer to the more detailed discussions in �Professional Services Division Results� and �Business Information Division
Results� below for more information regarding these items.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. As a result of certain triggering events in 2011, we tested certain long-lived assets in the Business Information
Division for impairment and, as a result, recorded impairment charges of $1.2 million in the aggregate. You should refer to the more the detailed
discussion in �Business Information Division Results� below for more information regarding this.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Our depreciation expense decreased primarily as a result of a large portion of the software associated
with the Barrett-NDEx acquisition becoming fully depreciated in 2010, offset somewhat by increased depreciation recorded on the newly
acquired ACT assets. Our amortization expense increased because of the amortization of the intangible assets acquired as part of the ACT
acquisition in July 2011, and the DataStream acquisition in December 2010.

Interest Expense, Net

For the Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 Change

($�s in millions)
Total interest expense, net $ 6.6 $ 7.5 $ (0.9) (12.5)% 
Interest on bank credit facility 4.6 3.9 0.6 16.3% 
Cash interest expense on interest rate swaps 1.5 2.5 (1.0) (38.8)% 
Amortization of deferred financing fees 0.4 0.9 (0.5) (57.1)% 
Other 0.1 0.3 (0.1) (51.5)% 

Interest expense related to our bank credit facility increased $0.6 million in 2011, driven primarily by an increase in our average outstanding
borrowings from $140.9 million in 2010, to $155.7 million in 2011. This increase is due, in part, to funds borrowed to fund our acquisition of
ACT in July 2011. Cash interest incurred on our interest rate swaps decreased primarily as a result of a decrease in the notional amount of our
swaps, due to the maturity on March 31, 2011, of a swap agreement with a notional amount of $25 million, and, to a lesser extent, interest rate
changes. Amortization of deferred financing fees decreased in 2011 as a result of the write-off in 2010 of certain financing fees related to our
previous credit facility.
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Non-Cash Interest Income Related to Interest Rate Swaps

For the Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 Change

($�s in millions)
Non-Cash Interest Income Related to Interest Rate Swaps $ 0.3 $ 1.2 $ (0.9) (75.9)% 

Non-cash interest income related to the interest rate swap for which we did not apply hedge accounting decreased $0.9 million as a result of the
change in the fair value through the maturity of the swap in March 2011. We do not expect to have non-cash interest expense related to interest
rate swaps in the foreseeable future, as we apply hedge accounting to our current interest rate swaps.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates

For the Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 Change

($�s in millions)
Equity in Earnings of Affiliates $ 2.1 $ 4.6 $ (2.5) (53.8)% 

Equity in earnings of affiliates decreased primarily as a result of a reduction in earnings recorded from our 35% interest in DLNP. The reduced
earnings are the result of a reduction in public notice placements in their newspapers due to decreased foreclosure and workout volumes in the
markets it serves.

Income Tax Expense

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2011        2010    Change

($�s in millions)
Income tax expense $ 13.7 $ 21.8 $ (8.1) (37.2)% 
Effective tax rate 37.9% 37.9% 

Income tax expense decreased in 2011 as compared to 2010 due to a reduction in income.

Professional Services Division Results

Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2011        2010    Change

($�s in millions)
Total Professional Services Division revenues $ 207.1 $ 223.1 $ (16.0) (7.2)% 
Mortgage default processing revenues 130.4 164.3 (33.9) (20.6)% 
Litigation support services revenues 76.7 58.8 17.9 30.4% 

Our revenues declined primarily as a result of decreased revenues in our mortgage default processing services segment. Revenues in this
segment were down primarily due to decreased file volumes in many of the markets we serve as well as a change in the mix of types of files
received for processing. While our total files received for processing for the year ended December 31, 2011, was down only 16.3%, from
378,800 mortgage default case files for the year ended December 31, 2010, to 317,200 mortgage default case files for the year ended
December 31, 2011, we experienced a change in the mix of the types of files. New foreclosure files, which tend to require more processing from
NDeX and are therefore higher revenue files, were down nearly 30% from 2010. This was offset somewhat by a greater number of lower
revenue files, such as foreclosure restarts and mediations. We believe these file volume decreases and mix changes are attributed to continued
marketplace and regulatory dynamics that began in 2010 that have caused many large loan servicers to temporarily slow down and reduce the
referral of defaulted files for foreclosure processing while they review their processes and practices.
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The Barrett law firm, Albertelli Law and Trott & Trott each accounted for more than 10%, and together accounted for approximately 83% of our
mortgage default processing services segment and 52% of our Professional Services Division revenues for 2011. The Barrett Law Firm and
Trott & Trott each accounted for more than 10%, and together accounted for approximately 71% of our mortgage default processing services
segment and 52% of our Professional Services Division revenues in 2010.

The increase in litigation support services revenues resulted primarily from the newly acquired ACT operations in July 2011. On a pro forma
basis for 2011, including the period of time during which ACT was under previous ownership, litigation support services revenues grew by 26%
as compared to 2010, due largely to increased revenues at ACT, along with approximately 3% growth in our pre-existing businesses. Because of
DiscoverReady�s continued efforts to diversify its customer base, as well as the addition of the ACT operations, we had just one customer in
excess of 10% of segment revenues for 2011, accounting for 34% of such revenues. This compares to 2010, when one customer was nearly 50%
of segment revenues.

Operating Expenses�Mortgage Default Processing Services

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2011        2010    Change

($�s in millions)
Total operating expenses $ 118.6 $ 125.0 $ (6.4) (5.1)% 
Direct operating expenses 65.0 68.2 (3.2) (4.7)% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 39.6 39.2 0.4 1.0% 
Amortization expense 10.0 10.0 �  (0.1)% 
Depreciation expense 3.6 6.5 (2.9) (45.1)% 
Fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities 0.5 1.1 (0.6) (54.5)% 

Direct operating expenses decreased largely as a result of decreased file volumes and steps taken to reduce our costs at NDeX, although the
decrease was not in proportion to the file volume decrease. Processing costs in many of our locations have not decreased in proportion to
revenue and volume declines as a result of increased demands, additional tasks, time spent attending to servicer audits, and process changes
required by the customers of our law firm customers, each requiring additional processing work for our employees. Selling, general and
administrative expenses decreased slightly from 2010. While measures have been put in place to reduce costs as a result of lower file volumes,
selling, general and administrative expenses have also been effected by new client requirements placed on us, primarily in terms of increased
requirements as it relates to information security and technology. Also, increased personnel costs due to growing volumes in Florida, along with
added headcount as we program our case management system to accommodate Florida, California and Texas files, have added to total selling,
general and administrative expenses. Depreciation expense decreased as a result of a large portion of the software associated with the
Barrett-NDEx acquisition becoming fully depreciated in 2010.

Total operating expenses attributable to our mortgage default processing services segment as a percentage of segment revenues increased to
91.0% for 2011, from 76.1% for 2010. This increase was primarily a result of a reduction in revenues, without the ability to reduce costs in
proportion to this reduction as discussed above.

Operating Expenses�Litigation Support Services

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2011        2010    Change

($�s in millions)
Total operating expenses $ 49.0 $ 44.7 $ 4.3 9.7% 
Direct operating expenses 31.5 23.3 8.2 35.3% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 24.4 17.9 6.5 36.2% 
Amortization expense 4.5 2.8 1.7 58.6% 
Depreciation expense 1.9 0.7 1.2 190.4% 
Fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities (13.2) �  (13.2) not meaningful
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The increase in total operating expenses is due in large part to the increased costs associated with operating the newly acquired ACT business. In
the pre-existing business, direct operating expenses increased $0.9 million as a result of increased revenues, and selling, general and
administrative expenses increased $2.7 million primarily as a result of an increase in personnel and facility costs as we continue to invest in and
grow our DiscoverReady business, as well as approximately $0.7 million related to the acquisition costs related to ACT. The increase in
depreciation and amortization is largely due to the newly acquired ACT assets. The fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities is related to
changes in estimates on the earnout liabilities payable to the sellers of ACT.

Excluding the impact of the fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities, total operating expenses attributable to our litigation support services
segment as a percentage of segment revenues increased to 81.2% for 2011, from 76.0% for 2010, which was largely a result of the increased
selling, general and administrative expenses at DiscoverReady as discussed above.

Business Information Division Results

Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2011    2010        Change

($�s in millions)
Total Business Information Division Revenues $ 78.5 $ 83.8 $ (5.3) (6.4)% 
Display and classified advertising revenues 23.0 22.4 0.5 2.4% 
Public notice revenues 33.2 45.9 (12.7) (27.6%) 
Subscription-based and other revenues 22.3 15.5 6.8 44.2% 

Our revenues declined primarily as a result of decreased foreclosure-related public notice revenues. Throughout 2011, we experienced softness
in overall public notice revenues as lenders continued to place increased scrutiny on their foreclosure practices, delaying foreclosure-related
public notice placements in our publications. Increased revenues from our 2010 acquisitions, which are included in subscription-based and other
revenues, helped somewhat offset the public notice revenue declines, as did modest gains in advertising revenues due in part to growth in our
events.

Operating Expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2011        2010    Change

($�s in millions)
Total operating expenses $ 69.6 $ 66.9 $ 2.7 4.1% 
Direct operating expenses 30.0 27.6 2.5 8.9% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 35.2 34.5 0.7 2.1% 
Amortization expense 4.4 2.9 1.5 49.4% 
Depreciation expense 1.8 1.9 (0.1) (2.6)% 
Fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities (3.0) �  (3.0) not meaningful
Impairment of long-lived assets 1.2 �  1.2 not meaningful

Operating expenses increased primarily as a result of costs associated with operating the businesses we acquired in 2010. Total operating
expenses from the pre-existing businesses were down $4.3 million year-over-year, largely as a result of cost savings initiatives and other expense
reductions put in place as a result of lower revenues, along with decreased production costs resulting from fewer public notice placements in our
publications.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, management revised its estimates of the earnouts to be paid in connection with the DataStream acquisition,
resulting in a reduction of $3.1 million to the liability recorded. This amount is included in fair value adjustments on earnout liabilities.
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In 2011, adverse changes in the business climate, earlier than expected customer attrition and deterioration of operating performance in certain
stand-alone businesses within the Business Information Division required us to perform impairment tests on these certain stand-alone businesses�
long-lived assets. Recoverability of these assets was measured and this process indicated that the carrying values of certain assets were not
recoverable, as the expected undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by them were less than their carrying values. As a result, we
recorded $1.2 million in non-cash impairment charges in 2011 to reduce the carrying value of certain assets, primarily software and customer
lists.

Excluding the impacts of the fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities, and the impairment of long-lived assets, total operating expenses
attributable to our Business Information Division as a percentage of Business Information Division revenue increased to 91.1% for 2011, from
79.8% for 2010, due primarily to reduced foreclosure activity reflected in the decrease of our public notice revenues.

Discontinued Operations

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2011        2010    Change

($�s in millions)
Discontinued operations, net of tax benefit $ (1.1) $ (0.4) $ 0.7 not meaningful

During the fourth quarter of 2011, management committed to sell two of our smallest-market stand-alone businesses within the Business
Information Division. We are currently negotiating with prospective buyers of our Mississippi Business Journal and Colorado Springs Business
Journal and related assets. At December 31, 2011, we classified the net assets and liabilities of these operations as assets held for sale and
reported the results of the businesses in discontinued operations. Included in the results of the operations of these businesses in 2011 is a
non-cash impairment charge of $0.7 million on long-lived assets, primarily related to customer lists. Additionally, we accrued $0.4 million in
estimated exit costs. The net assets and liabilities of these operations are included in other assets at December 31, 2010.

Year Ended December 31, 2010

Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31,
        2010                2009        Change

($�s in millions)
Total revenues $ 306.9 $ 257.9 $ 49.0 19.0% 

Our total revenues increased primarily as a result of increased revenues in our litigation support services segment, driven by our DiscoverReady
business which we acquired in November 2009. DiscoverReady�s revenues grew $37.3 million in 2010 compared to 2009 when we only owned
them for two months. These operations generated $43.4 million in revenues during 2010 (the DiscoverReady operations generated $25.9 million
in 2009, of which $19.8 million was generated under previous ownership and thus not included in our operating results for 2009). The increase
in mortgage default processing services revenues of $12.8 million was primarily driven by a $10.3 million increase in revenues from our NDeX
Florida operations acquired in 2009. In 2010, these operations received 36,200 files for processing, compared to 15,600 files received in 2009
(which includes 11,400 files received in the first nine months of 2009 when we did not own them). NDeX�s total file volume increased by 29,300
files, from 349,500 in 2009 to 378,800 in 2010. Refer to the revenue discussion below in �Professional Services Division Results� for more
discussion on NDeX�s file volume. Revenues in our Business Information Division declined $1.6 million in 2010. You should refer to the more
detailed discussions in �Professional Services Division Results� and �Business Information Division Results� below for more information regarding
the causes of these changes.
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We derived 72.7% and 66.9% of our total revenues from our Professional Services Division and 27.3% and 33.1% of our total revenues from
our Business Information Division for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. In our Professional Services Division,
revenues from our mortgage default processing services segment accounted for 53.5% and 58.7% of our total revenues in each of 2010 and
2009, respectively. Revenues from our litigation support services segment (also part of our Professional Services Division) accounted for 19.2%
and 8.2% of our total revenues in each of 2010 and 2009. This change in mix resulted primarily from the DiscoverReady acquisition in 2009, as
well as general economic conditions in the markets our business information products serve.

Operating Expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2010        2009    Change

($�s in millions)
Total operating expenses $ 247.9 $ 206.7 $ 41.1 19.9% 
Direct operating expense 119.0 93.2 25.8 27.7% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 102.2 87.2 15.0 17.1% 
Amortization expense 15.8 16.9 (1.1) (6.7)% 
Depreciation expense 9.8 9.4 0.4 4.4% 
Fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities 1.1 0.0 1.1 not meaningful
Total operating expenses as a percentage of revenues increased slightly to 80.8% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 80.2% for the year
ended December 31, 2009.

Direct Operating Expenses. The increase in direct operating expenses consisted of a $24.8 million increase in our Professional Services Division
and a $1.0 million increase in our Business Information Division. You should refer to the more detailed discussions in �Professional Services
Division Results� and �Business Information Division Results� below for more information regarding the causes of these increases. Direct
operating expenses as a percentage of total revenues increased to 38.8% for 2010, from 36.1% for 2009.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The increase in our selling, general and administrative expenses consisted of a $14.9 million
increase in our Professional Services Division and a $2.5 million increase in our Business Information Division. You should refer to the more
detailed discussions in �Professional Services Division Results� and �Business Information Division Results� below for more information regarding
the causes of these increases.

Partially offsetting these increases in our operating divisions was a $1.4 million year-over-year decrease in unallocated costs in our corporate
operations. The primary reason for this decrease is that in 2009, we incurred a number of large medical claims, and our medical insurance
allocations to our divisions were not sufficient to cover such costs. In 2010, we increased our allocations in order to cover anticipated claims,
thus resulting in lower costs that remained in corporate. This change resulted in a $1.1 million year-over-year decrease in unallocated medical
insurance costs in corporate. For the total company, our medical costs increased $0.4 million. Also contributing to the decrease in unallocated
costs in our corporate operations was a $0.3 million severance expense recorded in 2009 in connection with the elimination of an executive
officer position, for which we had no similar expense in 2010.

Selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue was relatively constant at 33.6% for 2010 compared to 33.8% for 2009.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. Our depreciation expense increased primarily as a result of the finalization of the purchase price
accounting late in the third quarter of 2009 recorded in connection with the Barrett-NDEx acquisition, which resulted in a higher allocation to
depreciable software. Our amortization expense decreased primarily because of the additional $0.9 million of amortization expense recorded in
2009 associated with the non-compete intangible asset attributable to Michael Barrett, a senior officer at Barrett-NDEx, which was fully
amortized in 2009 as a result of his death in January 2009. Additionally, the finalization of the purchase price allocation in 2009 of the intangible
assets associated with the Barrett-NDEx acquisition resulted in a reduction to amortizable intangible assets, and, therefore, a reduction in
amortization expense. Partially offsetting these decreases was an increase in amortization expense of $1.7 million as a result of the
DiscoverReady acquisition.
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Interest Expense, Net

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2010        2009    Change

($�s in millions)
Total interest expense, net $ 7.5 $ 7.2 $ 0.3 4.7% 
Interest on bank credit facility 3.9 5.1 (1.1) (21.8)% 
Cash interest expense on interest rate swaps 2.5 1.7 0.8 48.8% 
Amortization of deferred financing fees 0.9 0.3 0.6 237.2% 
Other 0.3 0.2 �  8.0% 

Interest expense related to our bank credit facility decreased $1.1 million in 2010. For 2010, our average outstanding borrowings on our credit
facility were $140.9 million compared to $151.9 million for 2009. Additionally, the weighted average interest rate on those borrowings ranged
from 2.3%�2.5% in 2010, compared to 2.4%�3.8% in 2009, therefore resulting in lower interest expense. Cash interest incurred on our interest rate
swaps increased primarily as a result of the increase in the notional amount of our swaps, and, to a lesser extent, interest rate changes.
Amortization of deferred financing fees increased as a result of the write-off in 2010 of certain financing fees related to our previous credit
facility.

Non-Cash Interest Income Related to Interest Rate Swaps

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Change

($�s in millions)
Non-cash interest income related to interest rate swaps $ 1.2 $ 1.1 $ 0.1 4.5% 

Non-cash interest income related to interest rate swaps, for which we do not apply hedge accounting, increased $0.1 million. The estimated fair
value of all our fixed rate interest rate swaps, including those for which we apply hedge accounting, recorded on our balance sheet changed by
$0.9 million, to a $2.4 million liability at December 31, 2010, from a $1.5 million liability at December 31, 2009.

Other Income

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Change

($�s in millions)
Other income $ 0.2 $ 3.8 $ (3.7) (94.9)% 

The $0.2 million other income in 2010 relates to the receipt of escrow funds related to the 2009 sale of our investment in GovDelivery, Inc. In
2009, we recorded a $2.4 million gain on the sale of our investment in GovDelivery in 2009, as well as the $1.4 million net gain recorded related
to the receipt of insurance proceeds on the company-owned life insurance of Michael Barrett, a senior officer of Barrett-NDEx, who passed
away in January 2009.

Income Tax Expense

For the Years Ended December 31,
    2010        2009    Change

($�s in millions)
Income tax expense $ 21.8 $ 18.7 $ 3.0 16.2% 
Effective tax rate 37.7% 34.9% 

Income tax expense increased in 2010 over 2009 primarily as a result of higher income recorded in 2010, and an increase in our state income tax
expense. Income tax expense for 2010, as a percentage of income before income taxes, was 37.7% compared to 34.9% for 2009. Income tax
expense for 2009 was favorably impacted by the receipt of non-taxable life insurance proceeds which accounts for 1.1% of the rate differential
year over year.
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Professional Services Division Results

Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Change

($�s in millions)
Total Professional Services Division revenues $ 223.1 $ 172.5 $ 50.5 29.3% 
Mortgage default processing service segment revenues 164.3 151.5 12.8 8.4% 
Litigation support services segment revenues 58.8 21.1 37.7 179.2% 
Our Professional Services revenues increased primarily as a result of increased revenues in our litigation support services segment, driven by our
DiscoverReady business which we acquired in November 2009. DiscoverReady�s revenues grew $37.2 million in 2010 compared to 2009 when
we only owned them for two months. These operations generated $43.4 million in revenues during 2010 (the DiscoverReady operations
generated $25.9 million in 2009, of which $19.8 million was generated under previous ownership and thus not included in our operating results
for 2009). The increase in DiscoverReady�s revenues resulted primarily from increased volume from two major customers, both of whom are in
the financial services industry. Counsel Press� revenues, another component of the litigation support services segment, grew 2.6% year-over-year
on higher case volumes. The increase in mortgage default processing services revenues of $12.8 was primarily driven by a $10.3 million
increase in revenues from our NDeX operation in Florida which we acquired in October 2009. These operations generated $12.6 million in
revenues during 2010 (the NDeX Florida operations generated $2.3 million during the period we owned them in 2009), having received
approximately 36,200 files for processing during 2010 (compared to 15,600 files in 2009, of which 11,400 were received for processing under
previous ownership).

For the year ended December 31, 2010, we received for processing approximately 378,800 mortgage default case files compared to
approximately 349,500 mortgage default case files that we received for processing for the year ended December 31, 2009. Excluding the 36,200
files received by our operations in Florida, the file volume from our existing NDeX business was relatively flat year-over-year (less than 0.8%
decrease), with some of our geographic locations experiencing growth, while other saw volume decreases. We believe these flat volumes were
due, in part, to the various regulatory and marketplace dynamics experienced in 2010.

The Barrett Law Firm and Trott & Trott each accounted for more than 10%, and together accounted for approximately 70.5% of our mortgage
default processing services segment and 51.9% of our Professional Services Division revenues in 2010. For the same period in 2009, Trott &
Trott and the Barrett Law Firm each accounted for more than 10% of our mortgage default processing services segment and Professional
Services Division revenues. The top two customers in our litigation support services segment together accounted for nearly 58% of our litigation
support services revenues and 15.2% of Professional Services Division revenues.

Operating Expenses�Mortgage Default Processing Services

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Change

($�s in millions)
Total operating expenses $ 125.0 $ 114.0 $ 9.9 8.7% 
Direct operating expense 68.2 60.3 7.9 13.0% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 39.2 34.9 4.3 12.3% 
Amortization expense 10.0 12.5 (2.4) (19.3)% 
Depreciation expense 6.5 6.3 0.2 2.9% 
Fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities 1.1 0.0 1.1 not meaningful

Total operating expenses in this segment increased largely as a result of the operating costs of our NDeX operations in Florida acquired in
October 2009. These operations accounted for $5.9 million of the increase in direct operating expenses, and $3.8 million of the increase in
selling, general, and administrative expenses. A portion of the increase in Florida�s direct operating expenses was due to investments being made
to prepare for anticipated volume increases. These investments included personnel, facilities, and systems. Of the $3.8 million of selling, general
and administrative expenses from the Florida operations, $1.1 million was attributable to the fair value adjustment related to the earnout liability
recorded in connection with this acquisition. Direct operating expenses in our existing businesses increased $2.0 million, resulting from
increased personnel and other processing costs incurred. These increases were due in part to legislation imposed in certain states that added steps
to the foreclosure process and thus increased our processing costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses in our existing businesses
increased due to an increase of $1.1 million in personnel costs and health insurance costs.
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Amortization expense decreased primarily because of the additional $0.9 million of amortization expense recorded in 2009 associated with the
non-compete intangible asset attributable to Michael Barrett, a senior officer at Barrett-NDEx, which was fully amortized in 2009 as a result of
his death in January 2009. Additionally, the finalization of the purchase price allocation made in 2009 of the intangible assets associated with the
Barrett-NDEx acquisition resulted in a reduction to amortizable intangible assets, and therefore a reduction in amortization expense. Partially
offsetting these decreases was an increase in amortization expense of $0.5 million as a result of the amortizable intangible assets from our
Florida operations acquired in October 2009. Depreciation expense increased as a result of the finalization of the purchase price allocation of
Barrett-NDEx (as discussed above), which resulted in a higher amount of depreciable software.

Total operating expenses attributable to our mortgage default processing services segment as a percentage of segment revenues increased
slightly to 76.1% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 75.3% for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Operating Expenses�Litigation Support Services

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Change

($�s in millions)
Total operating expenses $ 44.7 $ 16.3 $ 28.4 Not meaningful
Direct operating expense 23.3 6.3 16.9 Not meaningful
Selling, general and administrative 17.9 8.3 9.6 Not meaningful
Amortization expense 2.8 1.4 1.4 Not meaningful
Depreciation expense 0.7 0.2 0.5 Not meaningful

Total operating expenses in our litigation support services segment increased primarily as a result of the operating costs of DiscoverReady,
which we acquired in November 2009. Total operating expenses attributable to our litigation support services segment as a percentage of
segment revenues decreased to 76.0% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 77.3% for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Business Information Division Results

Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Change

($�s in millions)
Total Business Information Division Revenues $ 83.8 $ 85.4 $ (1.6) (1.8)% 
Display and classified advertising revenues 22.4 22.9 (0.4) (1.9)% 
Public notice revenues 45.9 48.4 (2.4) (5.0)% 
Subscription and other revenues 15.5 14.2 1.3 9.1% 

Our display and classified advertising revenues decreased primarily due to a decrease in the number of ads placed in our publications, as well as
a decrease in the average price paid per classified and display ad across our publications, which we believe was driven by the continued
struggling economy in several of the markets we serve, and continued apprehension on the part of our customers to return their marketing
spending to previous levels. A decrease in the number and frequency of specialty publications and magazines published also contributed to the
revenue decline. Partially offsetting these decreases was an increase in revenue from our events, due to an increase in the number of events held.

Our public notice revenues decreased due to an overall decrease in the total number of public notice ads placed in our publications, most of
which are foreclosure notices. Approximately 61% of this revenue decrease was driven by the decreased number of foreclosure notices placed in
our Maryland, Missouri, and Minnesota publications. These decreases were largely due to slowdowns of public notice placements in the fourth
quarter. These revenues declined sharply in the fourth quarter as increased scrutiny made lenders more defensive about their foreclosure
practices. Mounting challenges to the integrity of the industry�s underlying paperwork, including the so-called Robo-Signer scandal, prompted
the major banks to declare a series of voluntary foreclosure moratoriums in both judicial and non-judicial foreclosure states. Foreclosure
advertising is our predominant source of public notice revenue, and the temporary advertising halts were felt across nearly all of our public
notice markets, including our three largest, Minnesota, Missouri and Maryland. Throughout this time regulators were encouraging lenders to
engage in more loan modifications to stave off foreclosure.
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Subscription and other revenues increased as a result of the Federal News Service and DataStream acquisitions in August 2010 and December
2010, respectively.

The business information products we target to the Missouri, Minnesota, and Maryland markets each accounted for just over 10% of our
Business Information Division�s revenues for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

Operating Expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Change

($�s in millions)
Total direct and selling, general and administrative expenses $ 66.9 $ 63.7 $ 3.3 5.1% 
Direct operating expense 27.6 26.5 1.0 3.9% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 34.5 32.1 2.5 7.6% 
Amortization expense 2.9 3.1 (0.1) (4.8)% 
Depreciation expense 1.9 2.0 (0.1) (3.1)% 

Direct operating expenses increased primarily as a result of the Federal News Service and DataStream acquisitions. Marketing and promotion,
relating to venue, catering, and other event expenses also increased, due to an increase in the number of events held in 2010. Production and
distribution costs decreased, primarily due to a reduction in the pages in our print publications, as well as the printing of fewer specialty
publications and magazines and related postage expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased over the prior year, most notably due to an increase in personnel expenses of $1.3
million, in part due to the operating costs of the newly-acquired Federal News Service and DataStream operations. Other increases included
marketing expenses to promote our newspapers and circulation efforts as well as new product initiatives begun in the first quarter of 2010.

Total operating expenses attributable to our Business Information Division as a percentage of Business Information Division revenue increased
to 79.8% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 74.5% for the year ended December 31, 2009, largely as a result of a decrease in public
notice revenues, which are higher margin revenues.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any off balance sheet arrangements.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations, available capacity under our credit facility, distributions received from DLNP,
and available cash reserves. The following table summarizes our cash and cash equivalents, working capital (deficit) and long-term debt, less
current portion as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, as well as cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents $ 752 $ 4,862
Working capital (deficit) (4,375) 2,418
Long-term debt, less current portion 168,724 131,568

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 41,302 64,423 $ 61,249
Net cash used in investing activities:
Acquisitions and investments (69,369) (17,808) (56,878) 
Capital expenditures (7,868) (9,124) (2,998) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 31,365 (35,688) (4,549) 
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Cash Flows From Operating Activities

The most significant inflows of cash are cash receipts from our customers. Operating cash outflows include payments to employees, payments to
vendors for services and supplies and payments of interest and income taxes.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2011, decreased $23.1 million, or 35.9%, to $41.3 million from $64.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2010. This decrease was largely attributable to the decrease in net income when compared to 2010, as
well as a decrease in distributions received from DLNP as discussed below. The total change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of
business combinations and discontinued operations, was a use of $7.4 million in 2011 compared to a use of $4.0 million in 2010. This increase
in use of cash was largely a result of a decrease in pass-through liabilities related to NDeX�s California operations, due in part to lower volumes
as well as the timing of payments. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010, increased $3.2 million, or
5.2%, to $64.4 million from $61.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. This was primarily a result of an increase in distributions from
DLNP of $1.4 million and a decrease in distributions paid to holders of noncontrolling interest of $1.7 million. Distributions paid to holders of
noncontrolling interest decreased largely because of the reduction of the noncontrolling interest percentage in NDeX as discussed above in
�Noncontrolling Interest.� Changes in cash flows from our various operating assets and liabilities were relatively consistent, in the aggregate, with
2009, with the exception being the prepayment of federal and state income taxes as of December 31, 2010. At December 31, 2010, we had
prepaid $4.2 million of federal and state income taxes.

Working capital decreased $6.8 million, to a deficit of $4.4 million at December 31, 2011, from a surplus of $2.4 million at December 31, 2010.
Notable changes in working capital in 2011 were: an increase in net accounts receivable of $12.3 million due in large part to the addition of the
receivables related to the newly acquired ACT (accounting for $8.5 million of the increase), along with an increase in NDeX receivables due, in
part, to an increase in foreclosure processing cycles as discussed below; a decrease in accrued pass-through liabilities of $9.5 million due to a
slowdown of mortgage defaults in California; and an increase in due to sellers of acquired businesses of $17.5 million due primarily to the
acquisition of ACT. Working capital increased $23.2 million, to $2.4 million at December 31, 2010, from a deficit of $21.1 million at
December 31, 2009, resulting primarily from decreases in the current portion of our long-term debt, due to a modification of our long-term debt
agreement on December 6, 2010, which caused a $14.4 million increase in working capital. Also contributing to the increase in working capital,
at December 31, 2010, we had $4.2 million of prepaid income taxes on our balance sheet compared to a payable balance of $1.1 million at
December 31, 2009. We also had a $4.3 million positive impact on working capital in 2010 pertaining to the net change in accounts receivable,
unbilled pass-through costs, and accrued pass-through liabilities resulting from improved cash collections and the timing of the payment of
pass-through liabilities and the subsequent billing of those costs to our customers.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross receivables and days sales outstanding, or DSO, as of December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009 is set forth in the table below:

December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross accounts receivable 1.9% 2.6% 1.9% 
Days sales outstanding 99.1 73.5 68.5

Our allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross accounts receivable is relatively consistent from 2009 through 2011. The decrease
in this percentage from 2010 to 2011 is largely attributable to the growth in net receivables in our NDeX operations of $6.7 million on which no
allowance is carried. See below for further discussion regarding our NDeX receivables.
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We calculate DSO by dividing net receivables by average daily revenue excluding circulation. Average daily revenue is computed by dividing
total revenue by the total number of days in the period. Our DSO increased in 2011 as a result of carrying larger receivable balances in some of
our NDeX operating units as a result of an increase in the length of time it takes to process foreclosures, most notably in Florida as this is a
judicial state with longer foreclosure processing cycles. Please refer to Recent Developments � Regulatory Environment above for an explanation
of some of the current factors that are contributing to the increase in time it is taking to process foreclosures. In addition, our DSO increased
from December 31, 2010, somewhat as a result of early payments we received from two of NDeX�s law firm customers at the end of 2010,
resulting in a lower year-end balance and thus a reduced DSO. Similar prepayments were not made at the end of 2011. Our DSO also increased
in 2011 and 2010, due in part to longer collection cycles at DiscoverReady and also due to DiscoverReady�s overall growth as a larger part of our
company. In calculating our DSO for the year ended December 31, 2009, we excluded the effect that the Albertelli and DiscoverReady
acquisitions had on our total days sales outstanding as the inclusion of the DSO attributable to these businesses make comparison to prior year
periods not meaningful.

At December 31, 2011, we had a significant concentration of credit risk relating to amounts due from NDeX�s eight law firm customers. Of our
total consolidated net receivable balance, $38.9 million, or 53.9%, was related to amounts due from these customers, and includes both billed
and unbilled amounts. Billed amounts represent $31.2 million, or 43.2%, of our total consolidated net receivable balance. Partially offsetting our
total accounts receivable exposure for these law firm customers is deferred revenue, for amounts billed but not yet earned, in the amount of
$12.3 million, which represents 31.7% of the total balances due. We do not carry an allowance for doubtful accounts as it relates to these law
firm customers as we have not experienced any write-offs with these customers in the past.

At December 31, 2010, of our consolidated net receivable balance, the amount due from NDeX�s eight law firm customers was $27.8 million, or
46.4%. Billed amounts represented $20.3 million, or 33.9%, of our total consolidated net receivable balance. Additionally, we had deferred
revenue related to these customers, for amounts billed but not yet earned, in the amount of $14.4 million, which represented 51.8% of the total
balances due.

We own 35.0% of the membership interests in Detroit Legal Publishing, LLC, or DLNP, the publisher of Detroit Legal News. The operating
agreement for DLNP provides for us to receive quarterly distribution payments based on our ownership percentage, which are a significant
source of operating cash flow. We received distributions of $4.0 million, $7.0 million and $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectively. The decrease in distributions received in 2011 was due to decreased earnings generated by DLNP as a result of a
reduction in public notice placements in their newspapers as discussed above.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased $50.0 million, to $76.8 million in 2011 from $26.8 million in 2010. Uses of cash in both periods
pertained to acquisitions, capital expenditures and purchases of software. Cash paid for acquisitions totaled $69.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011, and $17.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. Acquisition spending in 2011 related primarily to the acquisition
of ACT and the purchase of approximately one-third of the outstanding membership interests in DiscoverReady from DR Holdco. Capital
expenditures and purchases of software were approximately $7.9 million in 2011. About 17% of our capital spending in 2011 related to office
moves, renovations and related expenditures, and another 40% related to spending on various specific technology enhancements. The remainder
of our capital expenditure spending in 2011 was used to acquire various equipment, software and furniture for our operating units. We expect
our capital expenditures to account for approximately 2.5%�3.0% of our total revenues in 2012, including capital expenditures to improve and
expand our data centers.

Net cash used by investing activities decreased $29.5 million, to $26.8 million in 2010 from $56.3 million in 2009. Uses of cash in both periods
pertained to acquisitions, capital expenditures and purchases of software. Cash paid for acquisitions totaled $17.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010, and $56.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Acquisition spending in 2010 related primarily to the acquisitions
of DataStream and Federal News. Capital expenditures and purchases of software were approximately $9.2 million in 2010. About 16% of our
capital spending in 2010 related to office moves, renovations and related
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expenditures, and another 50% related to spending on various specific technology enhancements. The remainder of our capital expenditure
spending in 2010 was used to acquire various equipment, software and furniture for our operating units.

Finite-lived intangible assets increased $18.3 million, or 9.4%, to $213.0 million at December 31, 2011, from $194.7 million at December 31,
2010. The change in finite-lived intangible assets resulted primarily from the addition of assets in the ACT acquisition, which added $39.3
million ($1.1 million trade name and $38.3 million customer relationship), offset by current year amortization. See �Recent Acquisitions,� above
for a discussion of this acquisition. In addition, the completion of the valuation of assets acquired in the DataStream acquisition resulted in
approximately a $1.1 million reduction to finite-lived intangible assets. Also, impairments of long-lived assets in both continuing and
discontinued operations were approximately $1.9 million. See further discussion in �Discontinued Operations/Assets Held for Sale� and
�Impairment of Long-Lived Assets� above. Finite-lived intangible assets increased $1.0 million, or 1.0 %, to $194.7 million at December 31, 2010
from $193.7 million at December 31, 2009. The change in finite-lived intangible assets resulted primarily from the assets in the Federal News
and DataStream acquisitions.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill, increased $59.8 million, or 26.5%, to $285.1 million at December 31, 2011, from
$225.4 million at December 31, 2010. This change primarily resulted from the goodwill acquired in the acquisition of ACT, which added $58.7
million in goodwill. Additionally, the completion of the valuation of assets acquired in the DataStream acquisition resulted in an additional $1.0
million of goodwill. Indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill, increased $2.8 million, or 1.3%, to $225.4 million at December 31,
2010, from $222.6 million at December 31, 2009. This change resulted from the preliminary valuation of the assets acquired in the DataStream
acquisition (which added $4.2 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets), as well as the completion of the valuation of the assets acquired in
the DiscoverReady acquisition (which reduced indefinite-lived intangible assets by $1.4 million) as more fully described in Note 3 to our
consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities primarily includes borrowings under our revolving credit agreement and proceeds from the issuance of
long-term debt. Cash used in financing activities generally includes the repayment of borrowings under the revolving credit agreement and
long-term debt, payments on unsecured notes, and the payment of fees associated with the issuance of long-term debt.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities increased from cash used of $35.7 million in 2010, to cash provided of $31.4 million in 2011.
In 2011, we borrowed approximately $60.0 million to fund, in part, the acquisition of ACT. Cash payments in 2011 primarily included $15.3
million net payments on our revolving line of credit, $5.0 million of scheduled payments on our term note, and $3.8 million of payments made to
the Albertelli Sellers for the earnout, holdback and deferred payments in connection with our 2009 acquisition of the mortgage default
processing services business in Florida. Long-term debt, less current portion, increased $37.1 million to $168.7 million as of December 31,
2011. The current portion includes $5.0 million of scheduled payments on our term loan and $2.5 million on our unsecured notes payable to the
Trott Sellers and Feiwell & Hannoy in connection with our acquisition of their respective interests in NDeX.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities increased from cash used of $4.5 million in 2009, to cash used of $35.7 million in 2010. In
2010, our primary financing activities were our restructuring of our credit facility in the fourth quarter. Net cash payments included paying off
the $8 million balance on our revolving note that was outstanding as of December 31, 2009, making $9.8 million of scheduled payments on our
previous term loan (compared to $10.3 million in 2009), making payments on our unsecured notes of $11.6 million, as well as the $5.0 million
aggregate amount paid to the Albertelli Sellers for the earnout, holdback and deferred payments in connection with our 2009 acquisition of the
mortgage default processing services business in Florida. Long-term debt, less current portion, decreased $6.4 million to $131.6 million as of
December 31, 2010. The current portion includes $5.0 million of scheduled payments on our term loan and $2.4 million on our unsecured notes
payable to the Trott Sellers and Feiwell & Hannoy in connection with our acquisition of their respective interests in NDeX.
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Credit Agreement. On December 6, 2010, we entered into a third amended and restated credit agreement, effective December 6, 2010 (the �Credit
Agreement�), with a syndicate of bank lenders for a $205.0 million senior secured credit facility comprised of a term loan facility in an initial
aggregate amount of $50.0 million due and payable in quarterly installments with a final maturity date of December 6, 2015, and a revolving
credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to $155.0 million, which may be increased pursuant to an �accordion� feature to up to $200.0 million,
with a final maturity date of December 6, 2015. The Credit Agreement was amended on March 6, 2012, to increase the maximum aggregate
amount of the revolving credit facility to $165.0 million and to amend certain of the Credit Agreement�s definitions and covenants. At any time
after December 6, 2012, if the outstanding principal balance of revolving loans under the revolving credit facility of the Credit Agreement
exceeds $50.0 million, $50.0 million of such revolving loans shall convert to an amortizing term loan due and payable in quarterly installments
with a final maturity date of December 6, 2015. The Credit Agreement restated our previous credit agreement in its entirety. In connection with
this new credit facility, we paid approximately $1.9 million in bank and legal fees.

In 2011, we drew an aggregate $44.7 million, net, of revolving loans to fund, primarily, the acquisition of ACT, along with other payments due
to the Albertelli Sellers, and for general working capital purposes. In the first quarter of 2010, we paid down the $8.0 million balance on the
revolver. In December 2010, we drew $84.0 million on the revolver under the Credit Agreement, which we used in part to pay off the previous
term loan. In 2009, we drew an aggregate $8.0 million, net, of revolving loans to fund the acquisition of businesses we acquired in 2009, along
with other payments due to the sellers of businesses we acquired in 2008, and for general working capital purposes.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $45.0 million outstanding under our term loan, and $128.7 million outstanding under our revolving
variable-rate notes and available capacity of approximately $26.3 million (which is increased to $36.3 million as a result of the March 6, 2012
amendment), after taking into account the senior leverage ratio requirements under the credit agreement. We expect to use the remaining
availability under our credit facility, if needed, for working capital and other general corporate purposes, including the financing of other
acquisitions.

Our Credit Agreement permits us to elect whether outstanding amounts under the term loan facility and the revolving credit facility accrue
interest based on a base rate or a Eurocurrency rate (specifically, LIBOR) as determined in accordance with the Credit Agreement, in each case,
plus a margin that fluctuates on the basis of the ratio of our total liabilities to pro forma EBITDA. The margin on the base rate loans may
fluctuate between 0.5% and 2.0% and the margin on the Eurocurrency rate loans may fluctuate between 2.0% and 3.5%. If we elect to have
interest accrue (i) based on the base rate, then such interest is due and payable on the first business day of each month and (ii) based on a
Eurocurrency rate, then such interest is due and payable at the end of the applicable interest period that we have elected, provided that if the
applicable interest period is longer than three months, interest will be due and payable in three month intervals. At December 31, 2011, the
combined weighted average interest rate on our senior term note and revolver was 3.8%.

Our obligations are secured by liens on substantially all of the assets of such entities, including pledges of equity interests in the consolidated
subsidiaries.

The Credit Agreement contains provisions for the issuance of letters of credit under the revolving credit facility. It also permits us to pay cash
dividends to our common stockholders as well as establish a stock repurchase program pursuant to which we may repurchase shares of our
stock, subject to a debt leverage ratio requirement. In addition, our Credit Agreement contains a number of negative covenants that, unless
consents are received, limit us from, among other things and with certain thresholds and exceptions: incurring indebtedness (including guarantee
obligations) or liens; entering into mergers, consolidations, liquidations or dissolutions; selling assets; entering into certain acquisition
transactions; forming or entering into partnerships and joint ventures; entering into negative pledge agreements; entering into transactions with
affiliates; making investments; entering into sale and leaseback transactions; and changing our line(s) of business.

The Credit Agreement, as amended, requires that, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter, we and our consolidated subsidiaries not permit: our
total cash flow leverage ratio to be more than 3.00 to 1.00 (or 3.50 to 1.00 following an acquisition triggering event); fixed charge coverage ratio
to be less than 2.00 to 1.00; and adjusted EBITDA for the previous two fiscal quarters to be less than $23.0 million as of both March 31, 2012,
and June 30, 2012, and less than $27.5 million for periods of determination thereafter, which amount may increase up to $35.0 million upon
increase of the revolving credit facility pursuant to the accordion feature. This total
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cash flow leverage ratio represents, for any particular date, the ratio of our outstanding indebtedness (minus cash and cash equivalents in excess
of $5 million) to our pro forma EBITDA, calculated in accordance with our Credit Agreement, for the four fiscal quarters ended on, or most
recently ended before, the applicable date. Our fixed charge coverage ratio, for any particular date, is equal to the ratio of (1) our adjusted
EBITDA, calculated in accordance with our Credit Agreement (less income taxes paid in cash, net capital expenditures paid in cash, and certain
restricted payments paid in cash), to (2) interest expense plus scheduled principal payments on account of the term loan facility and our interest
bearing liabilities plus all payments made pursuant to non-competition or consulting fees paid by us in connection with acquisitions plus
dividends paid, for the four fiscal quarters ended on, or most recently ended before, the applicable date. If we are required to take an impairment
charge to our goodwill in the future, we do not expect that charge to impact our ability to comply with the covenants contained in our Credit
Agreement because impairment charges are excluded from the calculation of EBITDA for purposes of meeting the fixed coverage and senior
leverage ratios and because there is no net worth minimum covenant in such agreement.

Future Needs

We expect that cash flow from operations, supplemented by short and long-term financing and the proceeds from our credit facility, as
necessary, will be adequate to fund day-to-day operations and capital expenditure requirements, along with our payment obligations in
connection with the acquisition of ACT and to the Trott Sellers in connection with our purchase of their ownership interest in NDeX and to
Feiwell & Hannoy in connection with the exercise of its put right, both as described in �Recent Developments�Increase in our Ownership in
NDeX.� However, our ability to generate sufficient cash flow in the future could be adversely impacted by regulatory, lender and other responses
to the mortgage crisis, including new and proposed legislation and lenders� voluntary and required loss mitigation efforts and moratoria,
including those described in �Recent Developments�Regulatory Environment� earlier in this annual report.

A decision to repurchase shares of our common stock as permitted under our stock repurchase program may impact our cash needs in the future.
This program was approved by our board of directors in December 2010, and in 2011 we repurchased 137,500 shares under this program for an
aggregate of $1.7 million. See �Recent Developments�Stock Buy-Back Plan� earlier in this annual report on Form 10-K for a discussion of this
plan.

We plan to continue to develop and evaluate potential acquisitions to expand our product and service offerings and customer base and enter new
geographic markets. We intend to fund these acquisitions over the next twelve months with funds generated from operations and borrowings
under our credit facility. We may also need to raise money to fund these acquisitions, as we did for the acquisition of Barrett-NDEx in 2008,
through the sale of our equity securities or additional debt financing, including takedowns under our $200 million shelf registration statement
declared effective by the SEC on January 27, 2010.

Our ability to secure short-term and long-term financing in the future will depend on several factors, including our future profitability and cash
flow from operations, the quality of our short and long-term assets, our relative levels of debt and equity, the financial condition and operations
of acquisition targets (in the case of acquisition financing) and the overall condition of the credit markets.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table represents our obligations and commitments to make future payments under contracts, such as lease agreements, and other
contingent commitments, as of December 31, 2011. Actual payments in future periods may vary from those reflected in the table.

Less than 1
Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years

After 5
Years Total

(in thousands)
Term loan (1) $ 6,701 $ 26,378 $ 72,038 $ �  $ 105,117
Revolving note (2) 5,191 6,382 81,625 �  93,198
Holdback, deferred cash payment, and earnouts payable�Albertelli Sellers (3) 3,000 �  �  �  3,000
Capital leases 203 24 �  �  227
Operating leases (4) 7,837 12,308 8,478 8,654 37,277
Note payable on purchase of noncontrolling interest in NDeX from Trott
Sellers (5) 1,336 �  �  �  1,336
Note payable on redemption of noncontrolling interest in NDeX from
Feiwell & Hannoy (6) 1,200 �  �  �  1,200
Noncontrolling interest put right in NDeX (7) �  �  �  �  �  
Noncontrolling interest put right in DiscoverReady (8) �  11,877 �  �  11,877
Holdback and earnout payments�DataStream (9) 1,750 �  �  �  1,750
Holdback and earnout payments�ACT (10) 18,243 13,771 �  �  32,014

$ 45,461 $ 70,740 $ 162,141 $ 8,654 $ 286,996

(1) Consists of principal and interest payments due to the syndicate of lenders who are holders of our term loan, and assumes the amount
outstanding as of December 31, 2011, remains outstanding until maturity, and assumes the conversion of $50.0 million from our revolving
notes to term loan 30 days following the second anniversary of the closing date of the credit facility as required by the terms of the credit
agreement. Further assumes an interest rate until the maturity date equal to 4.0% per annum.

(2) Consists of principal and interest payments due to the syndicate of lenders who are holders of our revolving notes, and assumes the amount
outstanding as of December 31, 2011, remains outstanding for two years after closing date of the credit facility, 30 days after which $50.0
million is converted to term loan as discussed above. Further assumes an interest rate until the maturity date equal to 4.0% per annum.

(3) In connection with our acquisition of the mortgage default processing and related services business of the Albertelli Sellers on October 1,
2009, we may be obligated to pay the Albertelli Sellers up to an additional $3.0 million. The amount of this cash payment will be based
upon the adjusted EBITDA for the acquired mortgage default processing and related services business during the twelve calendar months
ending on September 30, 2012. The amount we have disclosed in the table assumes that the EBITDA target is met.

(4) We lease office space and equipment under certain noncancelable operating leases that expire in various years through 2021. Lease terms
generally range from 5 to 10 years with one to two renewal options for extended terms. The amounts included in the table above represent
future minimum lease payments for noncancelable operating leases.

(5) Under two common units purchase agreements, we acquired a 7.6% ownership interest in NDeX from the Trott Sellers (who are the
former members of APC Investments, LLC), and agreed to pay, in part, an aggregate $13.0 million in cash. The remaining balance due is
payable to the Trott Sellers in monthly installments through December 1, 2012, at a rate of 4.25%.

(6) Under the terms of a redemption agreement with Feiwell & Hannoy, we agreed to pay $3.5 million in installments for the redemption of a
1.7% ownership interest in NDeX from Feiwell & Hannoy. The note is payable in 12 quarterly installments through December 3, 2012,
with interest accruing at a rate of 3.25% per annum.

(7) Each of the minority members of NDeX has the right to require NDeX to repurchase all or any portion of the NDeX membership interest
held by them. To the extent any minority member of NDeX timely exercises this right, the purchase price would be based upon 6.25 times
NDeX�s trailing twelve month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization less the aggregate amount of any interest
bearing indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the date the repurchase occurs.

The put right for the sellers of Barrett-NDEx (who hold a 6.2% membership interest in NDeX, in the aggregate) is exercisable for a period of six
months following September 2, 2012. With respect to this put right, it is not possible to provide the exact amount

61

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

70



NDeX might be obligated to pay if the sellers of Barrett-NDEx were to exercise this right at such time. As of December 31, 2011, the calculation
of the put as described above results in a zero value. As such, no amounts are included in the table above for such right. If future calculations
result in a value, and such right is timely exercised, the purchase price would be payable by NDeX in the form of unsecured notes payable over
three years after the exercise date and would accrue interest at a rate equal to prime plus 2%. This information is being provided for
informational purposes only and may not be representative of the actual amount NDeX may be obligated to pay in connection with the put right
of the sellers of Barrett-NDEx

(8) DR Holdco has the right, for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2012, to require DiscoverReady to repurchase approximately 50%
of DR Holdco�s equity interest in DiscoverReady, and for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2013, to require DiscoverReady to
purchase DR Holdco�s remaining equity interest in DiscoverReady. In addition, for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2013,
DiscoverReady also has the right to require DR Holdco to sell its entire equity interest in DiscoverReady. In each case, if either party
timely exercises its right, we would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the fair market value of the equity interest. These rights may be
exercised earlier under certain circumstances.

It is not possible to provide the exact amount DiscoverReady might be obligated to pay if DR Holdco or we were to exercise our respective
rights when they are exercisable. The amounts we have disclosed in the table is provided as an example of the purchase price that would be
payable by DiscoverReady if (x) DR Holdco or we exercise our respective right in full as described above at each of the earliest dates possible,
and (y) that the fair market value of DR Holdco�s interest in DiscoverReady is $11.9 million, which is equal to the adjusted book value of this
interest at December 31, 2011. The amount in the table above assumes we would make this payment in cash to the extent allowable by the terms
and conditions of our then-existing bank credit agreement. This amount is being provided for informational purposes only and may not be
representative of the actual amount DiscoverReady may be obligated to pay in connection with the exercise of the rights described above.

(9) The acquisition of DataStream included a holdback payable of up to $1.5 million due in 2012, subject to offset for indemnification claims.
In addition, we may be obligated to pay earnouts up to an aggregate $4.0 million. The amount of the earnout payments is based upon the
acquired business achieving certain EBITDA targets during the calendar years ending December 31, 2011 and 2012. At December 31,
2011, we estimate the fair value of the earnouts to be paid to be $0.3 million, and, accordingly, have included such amount in the table
above.

(10) In connection with our acquisition of ACT, we are obligated to pay up to $5.0 million that was held back for a period of 20 months
(subject to partial early release) to secure certain obligations of ACT, plus an earnout payment based primarily upon the extent to which an
agreed-upon multiple of ACT�s pro forma EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2011, exceeds the base purchase price of $65.0
million, plus two additional earnout payments of up to a maximum of $15.0 million in the aggregate that are contingent upon reaching
certain revenue milestones for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013. The first earnout payment amount has been determined to be
$29.5 million, half of which is due in March 2012 and is included in the table above. The second half of the first earnout payment is
subject to further adjustment based on 2012 revenues; we have included an estimate of the fair value of this earnout in the table above. The
two additional earnout payments are not yet determinable. At December 31, 2011, we estimated the fair value of these earnouts to be $1.9
million, in the aggregate, and have included such amount in the table above.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks related to interest rates. Other types of market risk, such as foreign currency risk, do not arise in the normal
course of our business activities. Our exposure to changes in interest rates is limited to borrowings under our credit facility. However, as of
December 31, 2011, we had a swap arrangement that converts $50 million of our variable rate term loan into a fixed rate obligation. This swap
agreement will mature on various dates through June 30, 2014. On December 9, 2011, we entered into a new swap agreement with a notional
amount of $25 million. This swap has an effective date of January 3, 2012, and will mature on December 31, 2014. In addition to these swaps,
we held a swap agreement with a notional amount of $25 million, which matured on March 31, 2011. We enter into derivative financial
instrument transactions, such as swaps or interest rate caps, in order to manage or reduce our exposure to risk from changes in interest rates. We
do not enter into derivatives or other financial instrument transactions for speculative purposes.

We recognize all of our derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. We record the fair
value of our swap agreements in accrued liabilities or other liabilities on our balance sheet, depending on the timing of the expiration of the swap
agreement. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument, like our interest rate swap agreements, depends on whether it
has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting. As of December 31, 2011, we have designated our interest rate swap agreements that
terminate on June 30, 2014, and December 31, 2014, for hedge accounting treatment. Accordingly, we record changes in the fair value of this
swap agreement in other comprehensive income or loss (net of tax) on our balance sheet for the period then ended. Conversely, we treated the
fair value of the swap agreement that terminated on March 31, 2011, and did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment, as a component of
interest income (expense) in our statement of operations for the period then ended.

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we recognized interest income of $0.3 million and $1.2 million, respectively, related to the
fair value of the interest rate swap agreement that did not qualify for hedge accounting. At both December 31, 2011 and 2010, we have $1.3
million (net of tax) included in other comprehensive loss related to the change in fair value of the interest rate swap agreements that do qualify
for hedge accounting. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the estimated fair value of our fixed interest rate swaps was a liability of $2.1 million
and $2.4 million, respectively.

If the future interest yield curve decreases, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements will decrease and interest expense will increase. If
the future interest yield curve increases, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements will increase and interest expense will decrease.

Based on the variable-rate debt included in our debt portfolio, a 75 basis point increase in interest rates would have resulted in additional interest
expense of $0.8 million (pre-tax), $0.5 million (pre-tax), and $0.8 million (pre-tax) in the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemental Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

The Dolan Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders� equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial statements of The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC,
an entity in which the Company has a 35% ownership interest. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been
furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC, is based solely on the
report of the other auditors. The Company has an $11.3, $13.2 and $15.5 million investment in and has recorded equity in earnings of $2.2, $4.7
and $4.9 million of The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC as of and for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), The Dolan
Company and Subsidiaries� internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal
Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report
dated March 9, 2012, expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 9, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Members

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC

Detroit, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC as of December 31, 2011 and
2010, and the related statements of operations, members� equity, and cash flows for the three years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
Southfield, Michigan
January 30, 2012
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2011 2010
(in thousands, except

share data)
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 752 $ 4,862
Accounts receivable, including unbilled services (net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $1,416 and $1,578 as
of December 31, 2011, and 2010, respectively) 72,117 59,801
Unbilled pass-through costs 4,317 7,140
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,976 4,186
Income tax receivable 1,968 4,183
Assets held for sale 257 �  

Total current assets 83,387 80,172
Accounts receivable, long term 2,500 �  
Investments 11,901 13,808
Property and equipment, net 19,263 17,148
Finite-lived intangible assets, net 212,950 194,695
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 285,131 225,373
Other assets 2,563 4,205

Total assets $ 617,695 $ 535,401

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ 7,667 $ 7,578
Accounts payable 18,759 15,589
Accrued pass-through liabilities 8,820 18,271
Accrued compensation 5,189 5,409
Accrued liabilities 5,588 5,537
Due to sellers of acquired businesses 21,449 3,943
Deferred revenue 20,290 21,427

Total current liabilities 87,762 77,754
Long-term debt, less current portion 168,724 131,568
Deferred income taxes 20,739 7,794
Dues to sellers of acquired businesses 13,733 7,033
Other liabilities 7,319 5,814

Total liabilities 298,277 229,963

Redeemable noncontrolling interest 12,726 26,580

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Stockholders� equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value; authorized: 70,000,000 shares; outstanding: 30,576,597 and 30,511,408 shares as
of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively 30 30
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; authorized: 5,000,000 shares; designated: 5,000 shares of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock; no shares outstanding �  �  
Other comprehensive loss (net of tax) (1,285) (1,298) 
Additional paid-in capital 294,476 286,148
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Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 13,471 (6,022) 

Total stockholders� equity 306,692 278,858

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 617,695 $ 535,401

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Revenues
Professional Services $ 207,077 $ 223,069 $ 172,535
Business Information 78,493 83,826 85,397

Total revenues 285,570 306,895 257,932

Operating expenses
Direct operating: Professional Services 96,459 91,481 66,697
Direct operating: Business Information 30,012 27,562 26,528
Selling, general and administrative 106,774 102,161 87,208
Amortization 18,921 15,818 16,950
Depreciation 8,005 9,767 9,354
Fair value adjustments on earnout liabilities (15,788) 1,070 �  
Impairment of long-lived assets 1,179 �  �  

Total operating expenses 245,562 247,859 206,737
Equity in earnings of affiliates 2,118 4,580 4,615

Operating income 42,126 63,616 55,810

Non-operating income (expense)
Interest expense, net of interest income (6,573) (7,543) (7,206) 
Non-cash interest income related to interest rate swaps 286 1,185 1,134
Other income 287 197 3,847

Total non-operating expense (6,000) (6,161) (2,225) 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 36,126 57,455 53,585
Income tax expense (13,683) (21,771) (18,735) 

Income from continuing operations 22,443 35,684 34,850
Discontinued operations, net of tax (1,117) (443) (253) 

Net Income 21,326 35,241 34,597
Less: Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests (1,833) (2,886) (3,784) 

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company $ 19,493 $ 32,355 30,813

Earnings per share�basic and diluted:
Income from continuing operations attributable to The Dolan Company $ 0.68 $ 1.08 1.04
Discontinued operations attributable to The Dolan Company (0.03) (0.01) (0.01) 

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company 0.65 1.07 1.03
Decrease (increase) in redeemable noncontrolling interest in NDeX 0.25 0.01 (0.31) 

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders $ 0.90 $ 1.08 $ 0.72

Weighted average shares outstanding�basic 30,141,488 30,150,837 29,831,660

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

77



Weighted average shares outstanding�diluted 30,223,319 30,314,174 29,916,351

Amounts attributable to The Dolan Company and to The Dolan Company
common stockholders:
Income from continuing operations, net of tax, attributable to The Dolan Company $ 20,610 $ 32,798 $ 31,066
Discontinued operations, net of tax, attributable to The Dolan Company (1,117) (443) (253) 

Net Income attributable to The Dolan Company 19,493 32,355 30,813
Decrease (increase) in redeemable noncontrolling interest in NDeX 7,487 217 (9,262) 

Net Income attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders $ 26,980 $ 32,572 $ 21,551

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Additional

Paid-In

Capital
Accumulated

Deficit

Other

Comprehensive

Loss Total

Common Stock

Shares Amount
(In thousands, except for share data)

Balance (deficit) at December 31, 2008 29,955,018 $ 30 $ 291,310 $ (69,190) $ �  $ 222,150

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company �  �  �  30,813 �  30,813
Decrease in redeemable noncontrolling interest in
NDeX, net of tax �  �  (9,262) �  �  (9,262) 

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company
common stockholders �  �  �  �  �  21,551
Issuance of common stock in connection with the
purchase of nontrolling interest in NDeX 248,000 �  2,600 �  �  2,600
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the exercise of
stock options 9,533 �  16 �  �  16
Share-based compensation expense, including issuance
of restricted stock (shares are net of forfeitures) 113,886 �  2,556 �  �  2,556
Other �  �  (10) �  �  (10) 

Balance (deficit) at December 31, 2009 30,326,437 $ 30 $ 287,210 $ (38,377) $ �  $ 248,863

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company �  �  �  32,355 �  32,355
Decrease in redeemable noncontrolling interest in
NDeX , net of tax �  �  217 �  �  217

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company
common stockholders �  �  �  �  �  32,572
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap, net of tax �  �  �  �  (1,298) (1,298) 

Total comprehensive income 31,274
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the exercise of
stock options 13,848 �  26 �  �  26
Share-based compensation expense, including issuance
of restricted stock (shares are net of forfeitures) 171,123 �  3,242 �  �  3,242
Increase in redeemable noncontrolling interest in
DiscoverReady, net of tax �  �  (4,560) �  �  (4,560) 
Other �  �  13 �  �  13

Balance (deficit) at December 31, 2010 30,511,408 $ 30 $ 286,148 $ (6,022) $ (1,298) $ 278,858

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company �  �  �  19,493 �  19,493
Decrease in redeemable noncontrolling interest in
NDeX , net of tax �  �  7,487 �  �  7,487

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company
common stockholders �  �  �  �  �  26,980
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap, net of tax �  �  �  �  13 13

Total comprehensive income 26,993
4,000 �  9 �  �  9
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Issuance of common stock pursuant to the exercise of
stock options
Share-based compensation expense, including issuance
of restricted stock (shares are net of forfeitures) 198,689 �  3,861 �  �  3,861
Repurchase of common stock (137,500) �  (1,691) �  �  (1,691) 
Increase in redeemable noncontrolling interest in
DiscoverReady, net of tax �  �  (1,261) �  �  (1,261) 
Other �  �  (77) �  �  (77) 

Balance (deficit) at December 31, 2011 30,576,597 $ 30 $ 294,476 $ 13,471 $ (1,285) $ 306,692

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 21,326 $ 35,241 $ 34,597
Loss from discontinued operations 1,117 443 253

Income from continuing operations 22,443 35,684 34,850
Distributions received from The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC 4,025 7,000 5,600
Distributions paid to holders of noncontrolling interests (643) (1,662) (3,240) 
Gain on sale of investment (394) (197) (2,359) 
Non-cash operating activities:
Amortization 18,921 15,818 16,950
Depreciation 8,005 9,767 9,354
Impairment of long-lived assets 1,179 �  �  
Equity in earnings of affiliates (2,118) (4,580) (4,615) 
Stock-based compensation expense 3,843 3,237 2,523
Deferred income taxes 8,948 2,913 2,306
Change in value of interest rate swaps (286) (1,185) (836) 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 372 868 257
Non-cash fair value adjustments on earnouts recorded in connection with acquisitions (15,788) 1,070 �  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of business combinations and discontinued
operations
Accounts receivable and unbilled pass-through costs (524) 4,618 (16,265) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,971 (5,280) 2,107
Other assets 144 398 (451) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (9,688) (7,166) 9,243
Deferred revenue and other liabilities (325) 3,441 5,563

Cash provided by operating activities�continuing operations 41,085 64,744 60,987
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities�discontinued operations 217 (321) 262

Net cash provided by operating activities 41,302 64,423 61,249

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions and investments (69,369) (17,808) (56,878) 
Capital expenditures (7,868) (9,124) (2,998) 
Proceeds on the sale of investment, including escrow payments 394 197 3,558
Other 77 �  108

Cash used for investing activities�continuing operations (76,766) (26,735) (56,210) 
Cash used for investing activities�discontinued operations (11) (32) (52) 

Net cash used in investing activities (76,777) (26,767) (56,262) 

Cash flows from financing activities
Net borrowings (payments) on senior revolving note 44,700 (7,675) 8,000
Payments on senior long-term debt (5,000) (9,775) (10,300) 
Payments of deferred acquisition costs and earnouts (3,844) (5,000) �  
Payments on unsecured notes payable (2,416) (11,565) (1,750) 
Payments for repurchases of common stock (1,691) �  �  
Payments of deferred financing costs �  (1,491) (466) 
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Other (384) (182) (33) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 31,365 (35,688) (4,549) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (4,110) 1,968 438
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 4,862 2,894 2,456

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 752 $ 4,862 $ 2,894

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 6,388 $ 6,343 $ 6,834
Income taxes 1,553 23,021 13,658

Supplemental disclosures of noncash and financing information
Due to or notes payable to sellers of acquired business $ �  $ 6,365 $ 4,685
Notes payable to seller of noncontrolling interest �  8,450 8,000
Deferred tax benefit on discontinued operations 718 293 165
Issuance of common stock for acquisition and purchase of noncontrolling interest �  �  2,600
Noncash buildout allowances at leased facilities 840 �  55

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1.  NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business: The Dolan Company and its subsidiaries (the �Company�) is a leading provider of professional services and business
information to legal, financial and real estate sectors in the United States. The Company operates in three reportable segments. Those segments
are Mortgage Default Processing Services, Litigation Support Services and Business Information. The Mortgage Default Processing Services
and Litigation Support Services segments comprise the Company�s Professional Services Division. The Company�s Mortgage Default Processing
Services segment (comprised of NDeX) provides mortgage default processing services to eight law firm customers in seven states and directly to
loan servicers and lenders on California foreclosure files. The Company�s Litigation Support Services segment (comprised of DiscoverReady and
Counsel Press) provides discovery management and document review services and appellate services to the legal community. The Company�s
Business Information segment supplies information to the legal, financial, real estate and governmental affairs sectors through a variety of
subscription-based products and media, including court and commercial newspapers, business journals, events, the Internet and other electronic
media offerings. Effective May 26, 2010, the Company changed its name from Dolan Media Company to The Dolan Company.

Basis of Presentation: The Company operates its majority owned subsidiary, American Processing Company, LLC, under the trade name
National Default Exchange, or NDeX. Therefore, when the Company refers to �NDeX� in these notes, it means all of its mortgage default
processing operations in Michigan, Indiana, Minnesota, Florida and at Barrett-NDEx, which serves the Texas, Nevada, California and Georgia
markets, all of which the Company formerly referred to as APC, as well as the mortgage default processing services operations in Florida
acquired from the Albertelli Sellers on October 1, 2009. When the Company refers to �Barrett-NDEx� in these notes, it means the entities that
constitute the mortgage default processing operations serving the Texas, California, Georgia and Nevada markets which NDeX acquired on
September 2, 2008, as described in Note 3 under �National Default
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Exchange L.P. and related entities.� When the Company refers to the �Albertelli Sellers� in these notes, it means James E. Albertelli, P.A., The
Albertelli Firm, P.C., Albertelli Title, Inc. and James E. Albertelli, as a group, from which NDeX acquired its Florida operations on October 1,
2009.

In 2011, the Company committed to a plan of action to sell two of its stand-alone businesses within the Business Information segment, with the
results of the operations of these businesses included in discontinued operations for 2011, 2010 and 2009. Accordingly the Company has
removed from its operating results for 2010 and 2009 the results of these businesses and presented them within discontinued operations. The
assets of these operations, net of related liabilities, are included in assets held for sale at December 31, 2011, and other assets at December 31,
2010. See Note 9 for further information on businesses held for sale.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The Company believes the critical accounting policies that
require the most significant assumptions and judgments in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements include: acquisition
accounting, including estimates of the fair value of earnouts to be paid in conjunction with such acquisitions and the subsequent measurement of
such liabilities; revenue recognition; accounting for and analysis of potential impairment of goodwill and other finite-lived intangible assets; fair
value of DiscoverReady�s noncontrolling interest; accounting for share-based compensation; income tax accounting; and allowances for doubtful
accounts.

Critical Accounting Policies: A summary of the Company�s significant accounting policies follows:

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, all wholly-owned subsidiaries and its
majority ownership interests in NDeX, DiscoverReady LLC (�DiscoverReady�) and Legislative Information Services of America (�LISA�). The
Company accounts for the percentage interest in NDeX, DiscoverReady and LISA that it does not own as noncontrolling interest. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition: The Company generates revenue from its Mortgage Default Processing Services segment, in part, by providing mortgage
default processing services and recognizes this revenue on a proportional performance basis over the period during which the services are
provided, the calculation of which requires management to make significant estimates as to the appropriate length of the revenue recognition
period and allocation of revenues within those periods. These estimates are based primarily upon the Company�s historical experience and its
knowledge of processing cycles in each of the states in which it does business, as well as recent legislative changes which impact the processing
period. The Company�s revenue recognition periods for mortgage default processing services revenues ranges from one to nineteen months. As
discussed in Note 16, the Company provides these services to its law firm customers pursuant to long-term services agreements. In California,
the Company also provides these services directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers. The Company also provides real estate title and
related services to the Barrett Law Firm, and recognizes revenue associated with these services over the period in which those services are
performed.

In connection with mortgage default processing services provided directly to mortgage lender and loan servicers on loans secured by properties
located in California, the Company incurs pass-through costs such as trustee sale guarantees, title policies, and post and publication charges. The
Company has determined that such pass-through items should be recorded at a net amount, rather than as revenue in the Company�s consolidated
financial statements at the gross amount billed to the customer. The Company has separately shown the unbilled amount of these pass-through
costs and the accrued liability on the face of the balance sheet. Billed pass-through costs are included in accounts receivable, net.

The Company generates revenue from its Litigation Support Services segment by providing discovery management and document review
services. Services related to litigation support are billed primarily based upon the volume of data managed, the number of documents reviewed,
the type of technology utilized, the number of consulting hours employed, the size and complexity of the matter, and the requirements of the
court or client. The Company recognizes such revenues during the month in which the services are provided. Revenue is recognized as the
services are rendered, the Company�s fee becomes fixed or determinable, collectability is reasonably assured and the Company has persuasive
evidence of an arrangement.

In the case of Counsel Press, revenue is recognized when its final appellate product is filed with the court. Within DiscoverReady, contracts with
its customers frequently contain multiple service deliverables. Its multiple element service offerings include data processing, review services,
production and hosting. Based on the Company�s evaluation of each deliverable, it has determined that each of these services have standalone
value to its customers and represent separate units of accounting. Allocation of the total arrangement consideration to each unit of accounting is
determined at arrangement inception based on each unit�s relative selling price. For those multiple element arrangements in which a unit of
accounting is priced at an amount less than its estimated selling price, the Company uses the relative selling price method to allocate the discount
proportionately to each unit of accounting in the arrangement.
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When available, the Company uses vendor specific objective evidence to determine the selling price of a unit of accounting. If vendor specific
objective evidence does not exist, the Company uses third-party evidence of the selling price for similar services. For units of accounting in
which there is no vendor specific objective evidence or third-party evidence of selling price, the best estimate of selling price is used.

In most cases, DiscoverReady bills its customers each month for the services provided. Amounts billed in excess of the amounts allocated to
each unit of accounting for which the revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied are recorded as deferred revenue on the Company�s
consolidated balance sheet until all revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied. At December 31, 2011, the Company recorded an aggregate
$1.2 million as deferred revenues related to litigation support services on its balance sheet. The Company had no such deferred revenue on its
balance sheet at December 31, 2010.
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Revenue from the Company�s Business Information segment consists of display and classified advertising (including events), public notices, and
subscriptions and other. The Company recognizes display advertising, classified advertising and public notice revenue upon placement in one of
its publications or on one of its web sites. The Company recognizes display and classified advertising revenues generated by sponsorships,
advertising and ticket sales, all related to local events, when those events are held. Revenue from subscription-based products is recognized
ratably over the related subscription period. The Company recognizes other business information revenues upon delivery of the printed or
electronic product to its customers.

The Company records amounts billed to customers in both its Mortgage Default Processing Services and Litigation Support Services segments
but not yet recognized as revenues as deferred revenue. The Company records a liability for deferred revenue in the Business Information
segment either when it bills advertising in advance or customers prepay for subscriptions. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company
recorded an aggregate $21.9 million and $23.2 million, respectively, as deferred revenue.

The Company records revenues recognized for services performed but not yet billed to its customers as unbilled services. As of December 31,
2011 and 2010, the Company recorded an aggregate $16.8 million and $13.9 million, respectively, as unbilled services and included these
amounts in accounts receivable on its balance sheet. The majority of these unbilled services are attributable to our Mortgage Default Processing
Services segment.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents may include money market mutual funds and other highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition. The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times,
may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in these accounts. The Company has presented $3.9 million
of outstanding checks at December 31, 2011, within accounts payable.

Accounts Receivable: The Company carries accounts receivable at the original invoice or unbilled services amount less an estimate made for
doubtful accounts. For amounts due from customers with due dates in excess of one year, the Company records such balances in accounts
receivable, long-term, at a discounted amount determined using an estimated borrowing rate of the counterparty. The Company reviews a
customer�s credit history before extending credit and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on factors surrounding the credit risk
of specific customers, historic trends and other information.
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Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows (in thousands):

Balance
Beginning Acquisitions

Provision for
Doubtful
Accounts Net Written Off Balance Ending

2011 $ 1,578 $ �  $ 479 $ (641) $ 1,416
2010 1,113 190 655 (380) 1,578
2009 1,398 112 210 (607) 1,113
Investments: The Company accounts for investments using the equity method of accounting if the investment provides the Company the ability
to exercise significant influence, but not control, over an investor. Significant influence is generally deemed to exist if the Company has an
ownership interest in the voting stock of an investor of between 20 percent and 50 percent, although other factors, such as representation on the
investee�s Board of Directors, are considered in determining whether the equity method of accounting is appropriate. Under this method, the
investment, originally recorded at cost, is adjusted to recognize the Company�s share of net income or losses of the affiliate as they occur, limited
to the extent of the Company�s investment in, advances to and commitments for the investee. The Company considers whether the fair values of
its equity method investments have declined below their carrying value whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances indicate that
recorded values may not be recoverable. If the Company considered any such decline to be other than temporary (based on various factors,
including historical financial results, product development activities and the overall health of the affiliate�s industry), then the Company would
record a write-down to estimated fair value.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed on property and
equipment using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of
their estimated useful lives or the remaining lease terms.

Purchased software and capitalized costs related to internally developed software for internal use are amortized over their useful lives of two to
five years. Costs are expensed as incurred during the preliminary project stage and post implementation stage. Costs incurred during the
application development stage related to internally developed software are capitalized. Once capitalization begins, internal payroll and
payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with the internal-use computer software project (to the extent those employees
devoted time directly to the project), as well as external direct costs incurred for services used in developing or obtaining internal-use computer
software, are capitalized. Amortization of capitalized costs begins when the software is ready for its intended use.

Financial Instruments: The Company accounts for derivative instruments and other hedging activities by recognizing all derivatives as either
assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and then measures those instruments at fair value. The effect on earnings from recognizing the fair
values of these derivative financial instruments depends on their intended use, their hedge designation, and their effectiveness in offsetting
changes in the fair values of the exposures they are hedging. For those instruments designated as hedges, changes in the effective portions of the
fair values of instruments used to reduce or eliminate adverse fluctuations in cash flows of anticipated or forecasted transactions are reported in
equity as a component of other comprehensive loss. Amounts in other comprehensive loss are reclassified to earnings when the related hedged
items affect earnings or the anticipated transactions are no longer probable. Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments that are not
designated as hedges or do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment are reported currently in earnings. Amounts reported in earnings are
classified consistently with the item being hedged.

For derivative financial instruments accounted for as hedging instruments, the Company formally designates and documents, at inception, the
financial instrument as a hedge of a specific underlying exposure, the risk management objective, and the manner in which effectiveness of the
hedge will be assessed. The Company formally assesses, both at inception and at each reporting period thereafter, whether the derivative
financial instruments used in hedging transactions are effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows of the related underlying
exposures. Any ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the instruments is recognized immediately in earnings.

The Company discontinues the use of hedge accounting prospectively when (1) the derivative instrument is no longer effective in offsetting
changes in fair value or cash flows of the underlying hedged item; (2) the derivative instrument expires, is sold, terminated, or exercised; or
(3) designating the derivative instrument as a hedge is no longer appropriate. See Note 4 for further information on the Company�s derivative
instruments.
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Finite-lived Intangible Assets: Finite-lived intangible assets include mastheads, various customer lists, noncompeting agreements, service
agreements, customer relationships, trademarks, domain names and trade names. These intangible assets are being amortized over their
estimated useful lives as described in Note 8.

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets Impairment: The Company�s indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill arose from
acquisitions occurring since the Company�s formation on July 31, 2003. Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trademarks and domain
names associated with the Barrett-NDEx and DataStream acquisitions. The Company reviews these indefinite-lived intangible assets annually
for impairment by comparing the fair value to the carrying amount.

Goodwill represents the acquired fair value of a business in excess of the fair values of tangible and identified intangible assets acquired. The
Company tests goodwill allocated to each of its reporting units on an annual basis, and additionally if an event occurs or circumstances change
that would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. The Company has four reporting units for purposes of testing its goodwill for
impairment. These reporting units are Business Information, Mortgage Default Processing Services, and the two subsidiaries in its Litigation
Support Services segment: Counsel Press and DiscoverReady.

The Company tests for goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level on November 30 of each year. This test is a two-step process. The first
step requires us to estimate the fair value of each reporting unit and compares the fair value to the reporting unit�s carrying amount, including
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. If the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, the goodwill is not considered impaired. To the
extent a reporting unit�s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, the reporting unit�s goodwill may be impaired and the second step of the
impairment test must be performed. The second step involves assigning the reporting unit�s fair value to all of its recognized and unrecognized
assets and liabilities as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination in order to determine the implied fair value of the
reporting unit�s goodwill as of the testing date. The implied fair value of the reporting unit�s goodwill is then compared to the carrying amount of
goodwill to quantify an impairment loss, if any, which would equal the excess of the carrying amount of goodwill over its implied fair value.
The Company determined that no impairment to its goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets occurred during the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Other Long-Lived Assets Impairment: Other long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets, are evaluated
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset group may not be recoverable. In evaluating
recoverability, the following factors, among others, are considered: a significant change in the circumstances used to determine the amortization
period, an adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, a transition to a new product or service strategy, a significant change in
customer base and a realization of failed marketing efforts. The recoverability of an asset group is measured by a comparison of the unamortized
balance of the asset group to its future undiscounted cash flows.

If the Company believes the unamortized balances were not recoverable, it would recognize an impairment charge to reduce the unamortized
balance to its fair value. The amount of such impairment would be charged to operations in the current period. The Company determined there
was an impairment to certain of its other long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and finite-lived intangibles assets, during the year
ended December 31, 2011. See Notes 5 and 8 for further information on the Company�s impairment of other long-lived assets.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest: At December 31, 2011, the Company�s redeemable noncontrolling interest consists of a 6.2% aggregate
equity interest in NDeX and a 10.0% equity interest in DiscoverReady. Each of the holders of the Company�s noncontrolling interests in NDeX
and DiscoverReady has the right, for a certain period of time, to require either NDeX or DiscoverReady, as applicable, to repurchase all or a
portion of the equity interest held by such holder. To the extent any holder of an equity interest in NDeX timely exercises this right, the purchase
price of the equity interest will be based on 6.25 times NDeX�s trailing twelve month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization less the aggregate amount of any interest bearing indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the date the repurchase occurs. To the
extent DR Holdco, the holder of the noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady, exercises its right, the purchase price of its equity interest in
DiscoverReady will be based on the fair
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market value of the equity interest. Because the NCIs in both NDeX and DiscoverReady have redemption features outside of the control of the
Company, the Company shows the NCIs in the mezzanine section of the balance sheet between �Liabilities� and �Stockholders� Equity,� rather than
as a separate component of equity. The Company is also required to adjust these NCIs to either their fair value or their redemption amount at
each reporting period. Because the redeemable feature of the NDeX NCI is based upon a formula, the Company adjusts this NCI to its
redemption amount. The Company has chosen to record such adjustment through �additional paid-in capital� rather than directly as a charge
against earnings, and has therefore employed the two-class method to calculate earnings per share based on net income attributable to its
common stockholders. Because the redeemable feature of the DiscoverReady NCI is based on its fair value, such adjustment is also recorded
through �additional paid-in capital�, but it is not an item affecting net income attributable to the Company�s common stockholders. The Company
has recorded an adjustment of $(7.5) million (net of tax) to reduce the redeemable noncontrolling interest in NDeX to its redemption value and
$1.3 million (net of tax) to increase the redeemable noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady to its redemption value for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

Income Taxes: Deferred taxes are provided on an asset and liability method where deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary
differences and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards, and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences.
Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax basis. Deferred tax assets would be
reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets would not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities would be adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of
enactment. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon sufficient future taxable income during the periods when deductible temporary
differences are expected to be available to reduce taxable income.

The Company�s operations involves dealing with uncertainties and judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of
jurisdictions. The Company reports a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken
in a tax return based on its estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. The Company recognizes interest and
penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. See Note 14 for further information pertaining to income taxes.

Share-Based Compensation: The Company measures employee share-based compensation awards using a fair value method and recognizes
compensation cost in its financial statements. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model in deriving the fair value estimates of
option awards. Forfeitures of share-based awards are estimated at the time of grant and revised in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ
from initial estimates. If factors change causing different forfeiture assumptions to be made in future periods, compensation expense recorded
may differ significantly from that recorded in the current period. See Note 18 for more information regarding the assumptions used in estimating
the fair value of stock options.

New Accounting Pronouncements: A summary of new accounting pronouncements that may affect the Company follows:

In June of 2009, the FASB updated its accounting guidance for variable interests by requiring a company to perform an analysis to determine
whether the company�s variable interests give it a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity. This updated guidance is effective for
the Company beginning on January 1, 2010. This updated guidance did not have a material effect on the Company�s consolidated results of
operations or financial condition.

In July, 2009 the FASB issued guidance on disclosures of supplementary pro forma information for business combinations. This guidance
requires that comparative financial statements present and disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business
combination(s) that occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. The
amendments also expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include a description of the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro
forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings. This guidance was
effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2010. The Company currently discloses pro forma information in accordance with this
guidance (see Note 3).

75

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

89



In August 2009, the FASB issued further guidance on measuring the fair value of a liability. The guidance establishes the types of valuation
techniques to be used to value a liability when a quoted market price in an active market for the identical liability is not available, such as the use
of an identical or similar liability when traded as an asset. The guidance also further clarifies that a quoted price in an active market for the
identical liability at the measurement date and the quoted price for the identical liability when traded as an asset in an active market when no
adjustments to the quoted price of the asset are required are both Level 1 fair value measurements. If adjustments are required to be applied to
the quoted price, it results in a level 2 or 3 fair value measurement. This additional guidance was effective for the Company beginning on
January 1, 2010. This updated guidance did not have a material effect on the Company�s consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

In January 2010, the FASB amended guidance to improve disclosures about fair value measurements. The amended guidance requires entities to
disclose the amounts of significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for these transfers, the
reasons for any transfers in or out of Level 3, and information in the reconciliation of recurring Level 3 measurements about purchases, sales,
issuances and settlements on a gross basis. The amended guidance also clarifies the requirements for entities to disclose information about both
the valuation techniques and inputs used in estimating Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements. This additional guidance was effective for
the Company beginning on January 1, 2011. This amended guidance did not have a material effect on the Company�s disclosures about fair value
measurements.

In June 2011, the FASB amended its accounting guidance to increase the prominence of items reported in OCI. The guidance requires the
presentation of the components of net income, the components of OCI and total OCI either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive
income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The guidance is effective for the Company beginning with its March 31, 2012 financial
statements. The Company plans to elect presentation of a single continuous statement.

Note 2.  Basic and Diluted Income Per Share

Basic per share amounts are computed, generally, by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. The
Company has employed the two-class method to calculate its earnings per share, as it relates to the redeemable noncontrolling interest in NDeX,
based on net income attributable to its common stockholders. At December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, there were no shares of preferred stock
issued and outstanding. Diluted per share amounts assume the conversion, exercise, or issuance of all potential common stock instruments (see
Note 18 for information on stock options) unless their effect is anti-dilutive, thereby reducing the loss per share or increasing the income per
share.

The following table computes basic and diluted net income attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders per share (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company $ 19,493 $ 32,355 $ 30,813
(Increase) Decrease in redeemable noncontrolling interest in NDeX, net of
tax 7,487 217 (9,262) 

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders $ 26,980 $ 32,572 $ 21,551

Basic:
Weighted average common shares outstanding 30,530 30,442 30,038
Weighted average common shares of unvested restricted stock (389) (291) (206) 

Shares used in the computation of basic net income per share 30,141 30,151 29,832

Net income attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders per
share�basic $ 0.90 $ 1.08 $ 0.72

Diluted:
Shares used in the computation of basic net income per share 30,141 30,151 29,832
Stock options and restricted stock 82 163 84

Shares used in the computation of dilutive net income per share 30,223 30,314 29,916
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Net income attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders per
share�diluted $ 0.90 $ 1.08 $ 0.72
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For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, options to purchase approximately 2.1 million, 1.7 million and 1.4 million weighted
shares of common stock, respectively, were excluded from the computation because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 3.  Business Combinations/Acquisitions

Management is responsible for determining the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The fair values of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed represent management�s estimate of fair values. Management determines valuations through a
combination of methods which include discounted cash flow models, outside valuations and appraisals and consideration of market conditions.
The results of the acquisitions are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations from the respective acquisition dates
forward.

2011 Acquisitions/Equity Transactions:

Acquisition of ACT Litigation Services: On July 25, 2011, the Company, through DiscoverReady, completed the acquisition of substantially all
of the assets of ACT Litigation Services, Inc. (�ACT�) for (i) an upfront payment of approximately $60.0 million in cash that was paid in full at
closing, plus (ii) up to $5.0 million in potential additional purchase price that will be held back by the Company for a period of 20 months
(subject to partial early release) to secure certain obligations of ACT and its shareholders, plus (iii) an earnout payment based primarily upon the
extent to which an agreed-upon multiple of ACT�s pro forma EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2011, exceeds the base purchase price of
$65.0 million, plus (iv) two additional earnout payments of up to a maximum of $15.0 million in the aggregate that are contingent upon reaching
certain revenue milestones for the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2013. All of the earnout payments are subject to certain set-off rights of
the Company under the purchase agreement. The Company paid approximately $0.5 million in deal costs associated with this transaction.

In connection with this acquisition, the Company estimated the earnouts payable based on the business valuation done as of the closing date and
recorded the estimated fair value for such earnouts, or $39.9 million in the aggregate, on its balance sheet. The Company has determined that
this liability is a Level 3 fair value measurement within the FASB�s fair value hierarchy, and such liability is adjusted to fair value at each
reporting date, with the adjustment reflected in operating expenses. The earnouts estimated at closing were largely estimated based on projected
2011 pro forma EBITDA. As a result of the determination of actual 2011 pro forma EBITDA, as defined in the purchase agreement (which was
lower than the initial estimate), as well as revised expectations regarding certain of the earnout targets, the Company recorded an adjustment of
$13.2 million during 2011 to reduce its estimate of earnouts payable, with such adjustment being reflected within fair value adjustments on
earnout liabilities in the statement of operations. See Note 5 for information pertaining to changes in the fair value of this liability during the
year ended December 31, 2011.

Management determined the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and was assisted by a business valuation done by an
independent third-party valuation firm. The total fair value of acquired long-lived tangible and intangible assets of $100.9 million was estimated
using a discounted cash flow analysis (income approach) using an 18.0% discount rate estimated on July 25, 2011, and a 6.7% compound
aggregate growth rate. Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities include: $2.3 million of fixed assets; $1.1 million of trade names; $38.3
million of customer lists; and $58.7 million of goodwill. The trade names and customer lists are both being amortized over approximately two
and one-half and 11 years, respectively. The actual working capital acquired was $8.9 million, and consisted primarily of $12.1 million of
accounts receivable and $3.7 million of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
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The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired in the acquisition (i.e., goodwill)
because the Company anticipates revenue synergies and operational efficiencies through combined general and administrative and corporate
functions. Such goodwill is deductible for tax purposes, and has been allocated to the Litigation Support Services segment.

ACT specializes in providing technology and process solutions to clients with electronic discovery needs, and also provides hosting and review
services. The Company completed this acquisition because it is a strategic fit with DiscoverReady. ACT generated revenues of $15.9 million and
net income of $1.5 million, net of the fair value adjustment on earnouts, since the July 2011 acquisition date through December 31, 2011.

Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest in DiscoverReady: In May 2011, the Company purchased approximately one-third of the outstanding
membership units of DiscoverReady held by its minority partner, DR Holdco LLC, for approximately $5.0 million in cash. The Company
accounted for this acquisition as an equity transaction by reducing redeemable noncontrolling interest on the Company�s balance sheet by $5.0
million. No deal costs were incurred on this transaction. As a result of this transaction, the Company�s ownership percentage in DiscoverReady
increased from 85.3% to 90.0%, and the noncontrolling interest decreased from 14.7% to 10.0%.

In connection with this purchase, the terms of the DiscoverReady limited liability company agreement were amended. Under the terms of the
amended agreement, DR Holdco has the right, for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2012, to require DiscoverReady to repurchase
approximately 50% of DR Holdco�s equity interest in DiscoverReady, and for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2013, to require
DiscoverReady to purchase DR Holdco�s remaining equity interest in DiscoverReady. In addition, for a period of 90 days following November 2,
2013, DiscoverReady also has the right to require DR Holdco to sell its entire equity interest in DiscoverReady. In each case, if either party
timely exercises its right, DiscoverReady would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the fair market value of the equity interest. These rights
may be exercised earlier under certain circumstances.

2010 Acquisitions/Equity Transactions:

Acquisition of DataStream Content Solutions, LLC: On December 1, 2010, the Company acquired DataStream Content Solutions, LLC
(�DataStream�). In connection with this acquisition, the Company paid the sellers $15.0 million in cash at closing, held back $1.5 million payable
18 months after closing to secure indemnification claims, and is obligated to pay up to an additional $4.0 million in earnouts in two annual
installments. The amount of the two annual earnout payments is based upon the acquired business achieving certain EBITDA targets during the
calendar years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012. These assets are part of the Company�s Business Information segment. The Company paid
approximately $0.3 million in deal costs associated with this transaction.

Management estimated the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and was assisted by a business valuation done by an
independent third-party valuation firm. The total fair value of $19.8 million was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis (income
approach) using a discount rate of 16.0% and a compound annual growth rate through 2030 of 6.1%. The Company finalized its estimation of
fair value in the first quarter of 2011. The fair value of assets acquired was estimated as follows: $0.2 million of fixed assets; $0.4 million of
various working capital items; $5.6 million of various technology, including both existing technology and technology in process, to be amortized
over five to 15 years; $8.0 million of customer relationships (preliminary allocation at December 31, 2010, was $9.2 million), to be amortized
over 12 years; $0.2 million of a license agreement, to be amortized over six months; $1.7 million of trademarks (preliminary allocation at
December 31, 2010, was $1.6 million); and $3.6 million of goodwill (preliminary allocation at December 31, 2010, was $2.6 million). The
trademarks were determined to have an indefinite life and therefore will not be amortized, but rather will be reviewed annually for impairment.
The December 31, 2010, balance sheet and statement of operations were not retroactively adjusted for this measurement period adjustment as the
amount of the change was not significant to the 2010 financial statements.
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At the time of the acquisition, the Company determined that the earnouts of $4.0 million, in the aggregate, were likely to be achieved through the
end of 2012, and therefore included the present value of these payments in its determination of consideration transferred. The Company has
determined that this liability is a Level 3 fair value measurement within the FASB�s fair value hierarchy, and such liability is adjusted to fair
value at each reporting date, with the adjustment reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses. In 2011, the Company revised its
estimate of earnouts to be paid, and is now estimating the fair value of the earnout to be $0.3 million. The Company recorded an adjustment of
$3.2 million in the fourth quarter to reduce its estimate of earnouts payable, with such adjustment being reflected as a reduction to selling,
general and administrative expenses. See Note 5 for information pertaining to changes in the fair value of this liability during the year ended
December 31, 2011.

The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired in the acquisition (i.e., goodwill)
because the Company anticipates revenue synergies and operational efficiencies through combined general and administrative and corporate
functions. Such goodwill is deductible for tax purposes, and has been allocated to the Business Information segment.

Acquisition of Federal News Service, Inc.: On August 9, 2010, the Company acquired certain assets of Federal News Service, Inc. (�Federal
News�) for $1.7 million in cash. Of the $1.7 million fair value purchase price, $0.4 million was the fair value of various working capital items and
the remaining $1.3 million was the fair value of customer lists to be amortized over 10 years. These assets are part of the Company�s Business
Information segment. Deal costs incurred with respect to this transaction were immaterial.

Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest in NDeX: On January 4, 2010, the Company, along with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Dolan APC, LLC,
entered into a common unit purchase agreement with the Trott Sellers, including one of the Company�s executive officers, David A. Trott, under
the terms of which the Trott Sellers sold their remaining aggregate 2.4% ownership interest in NDeX, for an aggregate $5.0 million. The balance
due of $1.3 million at December 31, 2011, is payable in equal monthly installments through December 1, 2012, with interest accruing at a rate of
4.25% per annum. The Company accounted for this acquisition as an equity transaction by reducing redeemable noncontrolling interest on the
Company�s balance sheet by $5.0 million. No deal costs were incurred with respect to this transaction.

Redemption of Noncontrolling Interest of Feiwell & Hannoy in NDeX: On February 28, 2010, NDeX redeemed a 1.7% ownership interest in
NDeX from Feiwell & Hannoy, which exercised its put right pursuant to the NDeX operating agreement. NDeX redeemed these common units
for $3.5 million, which is payable to Feiwell & Hannoy in equal quarterly installments through December 3, 2012, with interest accruing at a
rate of 5.25% per annum. The balance due was $1.2 million at December 31, 2011. The Company accounted for this acquisition as an equity
transaction by reducing redeemable noncontrolling interest on the Company�s balance sheet by $3.5 million. No deal costs were incurred with
respect to this transaction.

The following table provides information on the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the DataStream and Federal News
acquisitions. The allocations of the purchase price are as follows (in thousands):

DataStream Federal News Total
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their fair values:
Working capital $ 386 $ 404 $ 790
Property and equipment 209 �  209
Technology 5,645 �  5,645
Trademark/domain names 1,677 �  1,677
Customer relationships 8,027 1,244 9,271
License agreements 226 �  226
Goodwill 3,611 �  3,611

Total consideration $ 19,781 $ 1,648 $ 21,429
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2009 Acquisitions/Equity Transactions:

Albertelli: On October 1, 2009, NDeX acquired the mortgage default processing services and certain title assets of the Albertelli Sellers for a
total maximum cash purchase price of $19.0 million as follows: $7.0 million paid at closing; an additional $1.0 million held back for one year to
secure the Albertelli Sellers� obligations under the asset purchase agreement, which was paid in full on October 1, 2010; an additional
$2.0 million in equal installments of $1.0 million each, with $1.0 million paid on October 1, 2010, and $1.0 million to be paid on October 1,
2011; and earnouts payable of up to an additional $9.0 million in three annual installments of up to $3.0 million each. The amount of these three
annual earnout payments is based upon the adjusted EBITDA for the acquired mortgage default processing services and related title business
during the twelve calendar months ending on each of September 30, 2010, 2011, and 2012. Through 2011, the Company has paid an aggregate
of $5.8 million for the first two annual earnout payments. At December 31, 2011, the fair value of the remaining earnout was $2.7 million. These
assets are part of the Company�s Mortgage Default Processing Services segment.

In addition, NDeX also entered into a twenty-year services agreement with James E. Albertelli, P.A. (one of the Albertelli Sellers), which
provides for the exclusive referral of residential mortgage default and related files from the law firm to NDeX for processing in Florida.

The fair value of the acquired business was determined by management through a business valuation done by management with the assistance of
an independent third-party valuation firm. The total fair value of $16.7 million was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis (income
approach) using a 16.5% discount rate estimated on October 1, 2009 and a 2.5% long-term growth rate. The fair value was allocated as follows:
$0.2 million to fixed assets; $14.3 million to the long-term service agreement to be amortized over 20 years, representing the initial term of the
services agreement and the expected life over which cash flows will be provided; and $2.2 million to goodwill. In connection with this
acquisition, the Company was required to estimate the fair value of the earnout payments and determined that the earnouts of $9.0 million, in the
aggregate, were likely to be achieved. As a result, the Company has therefore included the present value of these payments in its determination
of fair value. The Company has determined that this earnout liability is a Level 3 fair value measurement within the Financial Accounting
Standards Board�s (FASB) fair value hierarchy, and such liability is adjusted to fair value at each reporting date, with the adjustment reflected in
selling, general and administrative expenses. See Note 5 for information pertaining to changes in the fair value of this liability during the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Deal costs associated with this acquisition were immaterial.

The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired in the acquisition (i.e., goodwill)
because the acquired business is a complement to NDeX and the Company anticipates cost savings and revenue synergies through combined
general and administrative and corporate functions. Such goodwill is deductible for tax purposes, and has been allocated to the Mortgage Default
Processing Services segment.

DiscoverReady: On November 2, 2009, the Company acquired an 85% equity interest in DiscoverReady LLC. The Company paid the sellers
$28.9 million in cash at closing and placed an additional $3.0 million in escrow. The total purchase price included a target for net working
capital of $2.4 million. The actual amount for net working capital at the closing date was $5.1 million, and, as such, the Company paid an
additional $2.7 million to the sellers during 2009. DiscoverReady is part of the Company�s Litigation Support Services segment.

Due to a put feature exercisable at the discretion of the noncontrolling interest holder, the Company records on its balance sheet an adjustment
for that portion of DiscoverReady which it does not own as redeemable noncontrolling interest, which is adjusted to fair value at each balance
sheet date. The Company has determined that this redeemable noncontrolling interest is a Level 3 fair value measurement within the FASB�s fair
value hierarchy. See Note 5 for information pertaining to changes in the fair value of this noncontrolling interest during the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Management determined the fair value of the acquired business and related redeemable noncontrolling interest at the date of acquisition through
a business valuation done by management with the assistance of an independent third-party valuation firm. The total fair value of $37.5 million
was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis (income approach) using a discount rate of 23.6% for this acquisition. The fair value was
allocated as follows: $2.4 million to net working capital/capital lease liability; $1.1 million to fixed assets; $1.3 million to non-compete
agreements, to be amortized over four years; $1.6 million to trademarks and domain names, to be amortized over ten years; $5.9 million to trade
names, to be amortized over 15 years; $9.3 million to customer lists
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(preliminary allocation at December 31, 2009 was $7.9 million), to be amortized over ten to 12 years; and $15.8 million to goodwill (preliminary
allocation at December 31, 2009 was $17.3 million). The December 31, 2009 balance sheet and statement of operations were not retroactively
adjusted for this measurement period adjustment as the amount of the change was not material to the 2009 financial statements.

The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired in the acquisition (i.e., goodwill)
because the Company anticipates revenue synergies and operational efficiencies through combined general and administrative and corporate
functions. Such goodwill is deductible for tax purposes, and has been allocated to the Litigation Support Services segment.

Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest in NDeX. On December 31, 2009, the Company entered into a common unit purchase agreement with the
Trott Sellers, including one of the Company�s executive officers, David A. Trott, under the terms of which the Trott Sellers sold an aggregate
5.1% membership interest in NDeX to the Company, for a purchase price of $10.6 million, consisting of $8.0 million paid in cash and 248,000
shares of the Company�s common stock with a fair market value of $2.6 million. The Company accounted for this acquisition as an equity
transaction by reducing noncontrolling interest on the Company�s balance sheet by $10.6 million. Deal costs associated with this transaction were
immaterial.

The following table provides information on the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the Albertelli and DiscoverReady
acquisitions. The allocations of the purchase price are as follows (in thousands):

Albertelli DiscoverReady Total
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their fair values:
Working capital $ �  $ 2,400 $ 2,400
Property and equipment 198 955 1,153
Software 2 117 119
Other Asset �  24 24
Long-term service contract 14,290 �  14,290
Trade name �  5,917 5,917
Trademark/domain names �  1,625 1,625
Customer list �  9,302 9,302
Noncompete agreements �  1,354 1,354
Goodwill 2,215 15,806 18,021
Redeemable noncontrolling interest �  (5,625) (5,625) 

Total consideration $ 16,705 $ 31,875 $ 48,580

Pro Forma Information (unaudited): Actual results of operations of the equity interests and assets acquired in 2011, 2010 and 2009 are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the dates of acquisition. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations
of the Company, set forth below, gives effect to these acquisitions using the purchase method as if the acquisitions in each year occurred on
January 1 of the year prior to the acquisition. These amounts are not necessarily indicative of the consolidated results of operations for future
years or actual results that would have been realized had the acquisitions occurred as of the beginning of each such year (in thousands, except
per share data):

Pro Forma
Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Total revenues $ 307,774 $ 334,557 $ 294,538
Net income attributable to The Dolan Company 21,923 30,975 35,625
Net income attributable to The Dolan Company per share:
Basic $ 0.73 $ 1.03 $ 1.18

Diluted $ 0.73 $ 1.02 $ 1.18

Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 30,141 30,151 30,079
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Diluted 30,223 30,314 30,164
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Note 4.  Derivative Instruments

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has entered into two interest rate swap agreements to manage the risk associated with a portion of it
floating-rate long-term debt. The Company does not utilize derivative instruments for speculative purposes. Both interest rate swaps involve the
exchange of fixed-rate and variable-rate payments without the exchange of the underlying notional amount on which the interest payments are
calculated. The first swap was entered into on January 4, 2010. The notional amount of this swap agreement is $50 million through
December 30, 2012, $35 million from December 31, 2012 through December 30, 2013, and $25 million from December 31, 2013 through
June 30, 2014. In addition, on December 9, 2011, the Company entered into a second interest rate swap agreement, which is effective January 3,
2012. The notional amount of this swap agreement is $25 million through December 31, 2014. The Company has designated both swaps as cash
flow hedges and has determined that they qualify for hedge accounting treatment. Changes in fair value of the cash flow hedge are recorded in
other comprehensive loss (net of tax) until income or loss from the cash flows of the hedged item is realized. In addition to these swaps, the
Company held a swap agreement with a notional amount of $25 million, which matured on March 31, 2011. This swap was not designated for
hedge accounting treatment and therefore any changes in the fair value were recorded through the statement of operations.

As of both December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had $1.3 million in other comprehensive loss related to unrealized losses (net of tax) on
the cash flow hedges. Unrealized gains and losses are reflected in net income attributable to The Dolan Company when the related cash flows or
hedged transactions occur and offset the related performance of the hedged item.

The cash flow hedges were highly effective for the year ended December 31, 2011. The Company does not expect to reclassify any amounts
from other comprehensive income to net income attributable to The Dolan Company during 2012. The occurrence of these related cash flows
and hedged transactions remains probable.

The Company had liabilities of $2.1 million and $2.4 million resulting from interest rate swaps at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively,
which are included in accrued liabilities or other liabilities on the balance sheet, depending upon the timing of the expiration of the swap
agreement. Total floating-rate borrowings not offset by the swap agreement at December 31, 2011, totaled $98.7 million.

By their nature, derivative instruments are subject to market risk. Derivative instruments are also subject to credit risk associated with
counterparties to the derivative contracts. Credit risk associated with derivatives is measured based on the replacement cost should the
counterparty with a contract in a gain position to the Company fail to perform under the terms of the contract. The Company does not anticipate
nonperformance by the counterparty.

Note 5.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company�s financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price). The Company classifies the inputs used to
measure fair value into the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, or quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for the asset or liability.
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Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability that are supported by little or no market activity. These fair values
are determined using pricing models for which the assumptions utilize management�s estimates or market
participant assumptions.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis. The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when
available. In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement
has been determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company�s assessment of
the significance of a particular item to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, including the consideration of inputs specific
to the asset or liability.

The fair value of interest rate swaps are determined by the counterparty based on interest rate changes. Interest rate swaps are valued based on
observable interest rate yield curves for similar instruments. The fair values of earnout liabilities recorded in connection with various
acquisitions are determined by management based on projected financial performance and an estimated discount rate. The fair value of the
redeemable noncontrolling interest (�NCI�) in DiscoverReady is determined by management using a market approach, calculated as trailing 12
month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization multiplied by an estimated multiple of earnings, less net debt.

The following table summarizes the balances of liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in
thousands):

December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Interest rate swaps $ �  $ 2,093 $ �  $ 2,093
Earnout liability recorded in connection with the NDeX Florida operations acquired from the
Albertelli sellers �  �  2,727 2,727
Earnout liability recorded in connection with the DataStream acquisition �  �  250 250
Earnout liability recorded in connection with the ACT acquisition �  �  26,655 26,655
Redeemable noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady �  �  12,685 12,685

Total $ �  $ 2,093 $ 42,317 $ 44,410

December 31, 2010
Interest rate swaps $ �  $ 2,400 $ �  $ 2,400
Earnout liability recorded in connection with the NDeX Florida operations acquired from the
Albertelli sellers �  �  5,069 5,069
Earnout liability recorded in connection with the DataStream acquisition �  �  3,171 3,171
Redeemable noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady �  �  13,652 13,652

Total $ �  $ 2,400 $ 21,892 $ 24,292
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The following table summarizes the changes in fair value for all liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Earnout liabilities recorded in connection
with acquisitions

Redeemable NCI 
in

DiscoverReadyNDeX Florida DataStream ACT Total
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 5,069 $ 3,171 $ �  $ 13,652 $ 21,892
Acquisition fair value 39,900 39,900
Fair Value Adjustment Included in Net Income Attributable to
The Dolan Company 483 (2,921) (13,245) �  (15,683) 
Minority Partners� Share of Earnings �  �  �  2,277 2,277
Distributions to Minority Partners / Redemptions/Earnout
Payments (2,825) �  �  (5,299) (8,124) 
Fair Value Adjustment Included in Additional Paid-in Capital
and Deferred Taxes �  �  �  2,055 2,055

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 2,727 $ 250 $ 26,655 $ 12,685 $ 42,317

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value for all liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

Earnout liabilities recorded in
connection with acquisitions

Redeemable 
NCI
in

DiscoverReady Total
NDeX

Florida DataStream
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 6,999 $ �  $ 5,902 $ 12,901

Fair Value Adjustment Included in Net Income Attributable
to The Dolan Company 1,070 3,171 �  4,241
Minority Partners� Share of Earnings �  �  1,457 1,457
Distributions to Minority Partners / Redemptions/Earnout
Payments (3,000) �  (1,135) (4,135) 
Fair Value Adjustment Included in Additional Paid-in
Capital and Deferred Taxes �  �  7,428 7,428

Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 5,069 $ 3,171 $ 13,652 $ 21,892

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis: Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value
on a nonrecurring basis and are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances (e.g., when there is evidence of impairment). The
following table summarizes the adjusted basis of non-financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Long-lived assets held and used (a) $ �  $ �  $ 110 $ 110
Long-lived assets held for sale (b) �  �  460 460

�  �  $ 570 $ 570

(a)
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The Company recorded an impairment charge during the fourth quarter of 2011 related to certain long-lived assets held and used, reducing
the original carrying value of these assets from $1.3 million to $0.1 million. See Note 8 for additional discussion of this impairment.

(b) The Company recorded a held-for-sale impairment charge during 2011 related to two stand-alone businesses within the Business
Information segment, reducing the carrying value of these assets from $1.2 million to $0.5 million. See Note 9 for additional discussion of
this impairment.
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No such fair value adjustments were required during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The carrying value of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying value of the Company�s debt is the remaining amount
due to its debtors under borrowing arrangements. The carrying value of variable-rate debt under the Company�s senior credit facility of $173.7
million approximates its estimated fair value.

Note 6.  Investments

Investments consisted of the following at December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

Accounting
Method

Percent
Ownership

December 31,

2011 2010
The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC Equity 35.0 $  11,334 $ 13,154
Other Equity 19.5 567 654

Total $ 11,901 $ 13,808

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the equity in earnings (loss) is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC $ 2,205 $ 4,676 $ 4,853
Other (87) (96) (238) 

Total $ 2,118 $ 4,580 $ 4,615

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC: The Company owns a 35% membership interest in The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC, or
DLNP. DLNP publishes ten legal newspapers, along with one quarterly magazine, all located in southern Michigan. The Company accounts for
this investment using the equity method. Under DLNP�s membership operating agreement, the Company receives quarterly distributions based
on its ownership percentage.

The difference between the Company�s carrying value and its 35% share of the members� equity of DLNP relates principally to an underlying
customer list at DLNP that is being amortized over its estimated economic life through 2015.

The following table summarizes certain key information relating to the Company�s investment in DLNP as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and
for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2011 2010

Carrying value of investment $ 11,334 $ 13,154
Underlying finite-lived customer list, net of amortization 5,906 7,413

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Equity in earnings of DLNP, net of amortization of customer list $ 2,205 $ 4,676 $ 4,853
Distributions received 4,025 7,000 5,600
Amortization expense 1,508 1,508 1,508
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According to the terms of the membership operating agreement, any DLNP member may, at any time after November 30, 2011, exercise a
�buy-sell� provision, as defined, by declaring a value for DLNP as a whole. If this were to occur, each of the remaining members must decide
whether it is a buyer of that member�s interest or a seller of its own interest at the declared stated value. No such exercises have been made by
any DLNP member to date.

Estimated future intangible asset amortization expense in connection with the DLNP membership interest as of December 31, 2011, is as follows
(in thousands):

For the year ending December 31,
2012 $ 1,508
2013 1,508
2014 1,508
2015 1,382

Total $ 5,906

Note 7.  Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

Estimated

Useful

Lives
(Years)

December 31,

2011 2010
Land N/A $ 305 $ 305
Buildings 10 2,604 2,604
Computers 2-5 18,141 12,703
Machinery and equipment 3-10 2,210 2,164
Leasehold improvements 3-11 6,147 4,745
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 7,905 6,924
Vehicles 3 150 110
Software 2-5 13,861 11,795
Construction in process N/A 2,519 2,812

53,842 44,162
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (34,579) (27,014) 

$ 19,263 $ 17,148

Note 8.  Intangible Assets

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets: Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trademarks and domain names which the
Company has determined have an indefinite life and therefore will not be amortized. The Company reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets and
goodwill annually on November 30 for impairment or whenever an indicator is identified which suggests an impairment may be present.

86

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

104



The following table represents the balances of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and
changes in goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

Mortgage
Default

Processing
Services

Litigation
Support
Services

Business
Information Total

Goodwill as of December 31, 2009 $ 131,710 $ 25,102 $ 59,231 $ 216,043
Changes in goodwill during 2010:
DiscoverReady �  (1,451) �  (1,451) 
DataStream �  �  2,601 2,601

Total goodwill as of December 31, 2010 131,710 23,651 61,832 217,193
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2010 6,537 �  1,643 8,180

Total goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2010 $ 138,247 $ 23,651 $ 63,475 $ 225,373

Goodwill as of December 31, 2010 $ 131,710 $ 23,651 $ 61,832 $ 217,193
Changes in goodwill during 2011:
ACT Litigation Services �  58,713 �  58,713
DataStream �  �  1,011 1,011

Total goodwill as of December 31, 2011 131,710 82,364 62,843 276,917
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2011 6,537 �  1,677 8,214

Total goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2011 $ 138,247 $ 82,364 $ 64,520 $ 285,131

The change in goodwill in the Litigation Support Services segment in 2011 resulted from the valuation of the assets acquired in the ACT
acquisition. The change in goodwill in the Business Information segment in 2011 resulted from the completion, in 2011, of the valuation of the
assets acquired in the 2010 DataStream acquisition. See Note 3 for more information about these acquisitions.

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets: In the fourth quarter of 2011, adverse changes in the business climate, earlier than expected customer attrition
and deterioration of operating performance in certain stand-alone businesses within the Business Information reporting unit (which we
determined to be asset groups) prompted the Company to perform impairment tests on these stand-alone businesses� finite-lived intangibles and
property and equipment. Recoverability of these assets was evaluated and this process indicated that the carrying values of the asset groups were
not recoverable, as the expected undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by them were less than their carrying values. The related
impairment loss was measured based on the amount by which the asset group carrying value exceeded its fair value. Asset group fair values
were determined using a combination of discounted cash flows and market approach. As a result, the Company recorded $1.2 million in
non-cash impairment charges in 2011 to reduce the carrying value of certain long-lived assets within these asset groups, primarily technology
and customer lists.

We periodically evaluate the estimated economic lives and related amortization expense for our finite-lived intangible assets. To the extent
actual useful lives are less than our previously estimated lives, we will increase our amortization expense on a prospective basis. We estimate
useful lives of our intangible assets by reference to both contractual arrangements and current and projected cash flows. The determination of
useful lives and whether long-lived assets are impaired includes the use of accounting estimates and assumptions, changes in which could
materially impact our financial condition and operating performance if actual results differ from such estimates and assumptions. During the
year ended December 31, 2011, we revised the remaining estimated useful lives of intangible assets in connection with the impairment recorded
on certain assets as discussed above. We did not revise any existing lives of our other finite-lived intangible assets.
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The following table summarizes the components of finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands except
amortization periods):

As of December 31, 2011 As of December 31, 2010
Amortization

Period
Gross

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Mastheads 30 $ 11,045 $ (2,833) $ 8,212 $ 11,165 $ (2,494) $ 8,671
Customer lists/relationships 2-15 127,276 (36,660) 90,616 90,714 (27,447) 63,267
Noncompete agreements 4-5 5,302 (4,114) 1,188 5,302 (3,317) 1,985
Long-Term service contracts 15-25 135,146 (33,927) 101,219 135,146 (26,899) 108,247
Trademark/domain names 10 1,651 (356) 1,295 1,651 (191) 1,460
Trade names 15 6,969 (1,036) 5,933 5,918 (460) 5,458
Technology 5-20 4,875 (388) 4,487 5,607 �  5,607

Total finite-lived intangibles $ 292,264 $ (79,314) $ 212,950 $ 255,503 $ (60,808) $ 194,695

Total amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was approximately $18.9
million, $15.8 million and $17.0 million, respectively.

Estimated annual future intangible asset amortization expense as of December 31, 2011, is as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 19,831
2013 19,596
2014 17,735
2015 17,029
2016 16,835
Thereafter 121,924

Total $ 212,950

Note 9.  Assets Held for Sale

During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company committed to sell two of its smallest-market stand-alone businesses within the Business
Information segment, The Mississippi Business Journal and The Colorado Springs Business Journal. The businesses� operations and cash flows
will be eliminated from ongoing operations as a result of the anticipated sales and the Company will not have significant continuing involvement
in the operations after the sales. At December 31, 2011, the Company classified the net assets and liabilities of these operations as assets held for
sale and reported the results of the businesses in discontinued operations. The net assets and liabilities of these operations are included in other
assets at December 31, 2010.

The assets and liabilities of these businesses and operations classified as assets held for sale at December 31, 2011, and other assets at
December 31, 2010, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010

Property and Equipment $ 68 $ 185
Intangibles 513 1,264

Total assets held for sale 581 1,449
Current liabilities 265 262
Noncurrent liabilities 59 125
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Total liabilities held for sale 324 387

Total net assets held for sale $     257 $ 1,062
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The following amounts have been segregated from continuing operations and are reflected as discontinued operations for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Total Revenue $ 4,103 $ 4,413 $ 4,985

Discontinued operations before income taxes $ (1,835) $ (736) $ (418) 
Income tax benefit 718 293 165

Discontinued operations, net of tax benefit $ (1,117) $ (443) $ (253) 

An impairment charge was taken to reduce the value of certain assets classified as held for sale to fair value less costs to sell. The Company
recorded an impairment charge of $0.7 million in 2011, primarily related to customer lists of the businesses to be sold.

Note 10. Long-Term Debt, Capital Lease Obligation

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010

Senior secured debt (see below):
Senior variable-rate term note $ 45,000 $ 50,000
Senior variable-rate revolving note 128,700 84,000

Total senior secured debt 173,700 134,000
Unsecured notes payable 2,470 4,886
Capital lease obligations 221 260

176,391 139,146
Less current portion 7,667 7,578

Long-term debt, less current portion $ 168,724 $ 131,568

Senior Secured Debt: As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have a credit agreement with a syndicate of
banks for a $205.0 million senior secured credit facility comprised of a term loan facility in an initial aggregate amount of $50.0 million due and
payable in quarterly installments with a final maturity date of December 6, 2015, and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to
$155.0 million, which may be increased pursuant to an �accordion� feature to up to $200.0 million, with a final maturity date of December 6,
2015. After December 6, 2012, should the aggregate unpaid balance of the revolving note exceed $50 million, conversion of $50 million of the
unpaid balance to a term loan payable in quarterly installments and with a final maturity date equal to that of the initial term loan would occur.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had net unused available capacity of approximately $26.3 million on its revolving credit facility, after
taking into account the senior leverage ratio requirements under the credit facility. The Company expects to use the remaining availability under
this credit facility, if needed, for working capital, potential acquisitions, stock buy-backs and other general corporate purposes.

The credit facility is secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company and its
subsidiaries, including a pledge of all of the stock of such subsidiaries except for the noncontrolling interest in NDeX and DiscoverReady.
Borrowings under the credit facility accrue interest, at the Company�s option, based on a base prime rate or a Eurocurrency rate, specifically
LIBOR, plus a margin that fluctuates on the basis of the ratio of the Company�s total liabilities to the Company�s pro forma EBITDA. The margin
on the base rate loans may fluctuate between 0.5% and 2.0% and the margin on the LIBOR loans may fluctuate between 2.0% and 3.5%. If the
Company has elected to have interest accrue (i) based on the base rate, then such interest is due and payable on the first business day of each
month and (ii) based on LIBOR, then such interest is due and payable at the end of the applicable interest period that the Company elected,
provided that if the applicable interest period is longer than three months interest will be due and payable in three month intervals. At
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December 31, 2011, the combined weighted-average interest
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rate on the senior term note and revolver was 3.8%. The Company is also required to pay customary fees with respect to the credit facility,
including an up-front arrangement fee, annual administrative agency fees and commitment fees on the unused portion of the revolving portion of
its credit facility. The arrangement fee of $1.7 million was paid in 2010, of which $1.3 million was recorded as deferred financing fees to be
expensed over the term of the credit facility, and the balance of which was expensed in 2010.

At December 31, 2011, the credit facility includes negative covenants, including restrictions on the Company�s and its consolidated subsidiaries�
ability to incur debt, grant liens, consummate certain acquisitions, mergers, consolidations and sales of all or substantially all of its assets. The
credit facility permits the Company to pay dividends to its common shareholders as well as establish a stock repurchase program pursuant to
which the Company may repurchase shares of its stock, subject to a debt leverage ratio requirement. The credit facility contains customary
events of default, including nonpayment, misrepresentation, breach of covenants and bankruptcy. The credit facility also requires that, as of the
last day of any fiscal quarter, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries not permit: their total cash flow leverage ratio to be more than 3.00
to 1.00 (or 3.50 to 1.00 following an acquisition triggering event); fixed charge coverage ratio to be less than 2.00 to 1.00; and adjusted EBITDA
for the previous two fiscal quarters to be less than $27.5 million, which amount may increase up to $35.0 million upon increase of the Revolving
Credit Facility pursuant to the accordion feature. See Note 21 for information about an amendment to the Company�s credit facility subsequent to
December 31, 2011.

Unsecured Notes Payable: Under the terms of common unit purchase agreements with the Trott Sellers dated December 31, 2009, and
January 4, 2010, the Company agreed to pay an aggregate $13.0 million in installments for the purchase of an aggregate 7.6% ownership interest
in NDeX. Of this amount, $10.4 million was paid in 2010, with the balance payable in equal monthly installments through December 1, 2012, at
an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. The aggregate balance on these notes at December 31, 2011 was $1.3 million.

Under the terms of a redemption agreement with Feiwell & Hannoy, the Company agreed to pay $3.5 million in installments for the redemption
of a 1.7% ownership interest in NDeX from Feiwell & Hannoy. The $3.5 million note is payable in 12 quarterly installments through
December 3, 2012, with interest accruing at a rate of 3.25% per annum. The Company paid $1.2 million on this note in 2011. The balance on
this note at December 31, 2011 was $1.2 million.

See Note 3 for further information related to these three transactions.

Approximate future maturities of total debt are as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 7,667
2013 10,024
2014 10,000
2015 148,700

Total $ 176,391

Note 11.  Common and Preferred Stock

Common Stock. At December 31, 2011, the Company had 70,000,000 shares of common stock authorized and 30,576,597 shares of common
stock outstanding.

In December 2010, the Company�s board of directors approved a stock buy-back plan. This plan allows the Company to repurchase shares of
issued and outstanding common stock at prevailing market prices or negotiated prices at any time through December 31, 2013. The number of
shares and the timing of the purchases will be determined at the discretion of management. In 2011, the Company repurchased 137,500 shares
under this plan for an aggregate $1.7 million.

Preferred Stock. The Company has 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized and no shares outstanding. On January 29, 2009, the
Company�s board of directors designated 5,000 shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, which are issuable
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upon the exercise of rights as described in the Stockholder Rights Plan adopted by the Company on the same date. The rights to purchase
1/10,000 of a share of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock were issued to the Company�s stockholders of record as of February 9,
2009.

Note 12.  Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for substantially all employees. Company contributions to the plan are based on a percentage
of employee contributions. The Company�s cost of the plan was approximately $1.9 million, $1.9 million and $1.5 million, in each of 2011, 2010,
and 2009, respectively.

Note 13.  Leases

The Company leases office space and equipment under certain noncancelable operating leases that expire in various years through 2021. Rent
expense under operating leases in 2011, 2010, and 2009 was approximately $9.2 million, $7.6 million and $6.5 million, respectively. NDeX
subleases office space from Trott & Trott, in a building owned by a partnership, NW13 LLC, a majority of which is owned by David A. Trott,
one of our executive officers (See Note 15 for a description of other relationships between David A. Trott and the Company).

Approximate future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

NW13 Other Total
Year ending December 31:
2012 $ 49 $ 7,788 $ 7,837
2013 �  7,276 7,276
2014 �  5,032 5,032
2015 �  4,457 4,457
2016 �  4,021 4,021
Thereafter �  8,654 8,654

$       49 $ 37,228 $ 37,277

Note 14.  Income Taxes

Components of the provision for income taxes at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Current federal income tax expense $ 2,723 $ 15,396 $ 15,029
Current state and local income tax expense 1,395 3,488 1,470
Deferred income tax 9,565 2,887 2,236

$ 13,683 $ 21,771 $ 18,735

The total income tax expense differs from the expected tax expense from continuing operations, computed by applying the federal statutory rate
to the Company�s income before income taxes, as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Income tax provision at federal statutory rate $ 12,643 $ 20,147 $ 18,755
State income taxes, net of federal effect 1,404 2,431 1,581
Nontaxable life insurance proceeds �  �  (590) 
Other permanent items 355 225 243
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Noncontrolling interest not subject to federal tax (719) (1,032) (1,255) 

$ 13,683 $ 21,771 $ 18,734
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Deferred income taxes reflect the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amount of
the Company�s assets and liabilities. The significant components of deferred income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010

Amortization and depreciation $ 2,645 $ 3,139
Partnership tax bases differences 21,575 11,753
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 1,219 (2,694) 
Stock compensation (2,343) (1,793) 
Interest rate swap qualifying for hedge accounting (808) (927) 
Other, net (1,549) (1,684) 

Net deferred tax liability $ 20,739 $ 7,794

The Company recognizes the tax effects of an uncertain tax position only if it is more-likely-than-not to be sustained based solely upon its
technical merits at the reporting date. The Company refers to the difference between the tax benefit recognized in its financial statements and the
tax benefit claimed in the income tax return as an �unrecognized tax benefit.� The change in gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
    2011        2010    

Gross unrecognized tax benefits balance at January 1 $ 1,312 $ 657
Gross increases for tax positions in prior years 362 531
Gross increases based on tax positions related to the current year 137 238
Decreases for settlements and payments �  �  
Decreases due to statue expiration (195) (114) 

Gross unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31 $ 1,616 $ 1,312

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the Company�s effective tax rate, if recognized, is $1.6 million as of
December 31, 2011. The company expects that approximately half of the unrecognized tax benefits will settle over the next 12 months.

The Company�s policy for recording interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions is to record such items as a component of
income tax expense in its consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2011, the Company had $0.2 million of accrued interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax in multiple state jurisdictions. With limited exceptions, tax years prior
to 2008 are no longer open to federal, state and local examination by taxing authorities. The Company�s 2009 return is currently under
examination by the IRS, and New York State and New York City are currently auditing returns for 2006 through 2008. The Company does not
anticipate any audit adjustments that would result in a material change to its financial position.

Note 15.  Other Income

Other income in 2011 and 2010 relates to the receipt of escrow funds related to the 2009 sale of our investment in GovDelivery, which had been
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Included in other income in 2009 is a gain on the Company�s sale of its investment in
GovDelivery in the amount of $2.4 million, as well as a net gain of $1.4 million on a company-owned life insurance policy on the life of
Michael Barrett, a senior officer of Barrett-NDEx, who passed away in January 2009. This net gain
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includes a reduction for a $0.5 million contribution the Company made to Southern Methodist University Dedman School of Law from the life
insurance proceeds, to establish a scholarship fund in Mr. Barrett�s name.

Note 16.  Major Customers and Related Parties

NDeX. NDeX has eight law firm customers and, of those customers, Trott & Trott, the Barrett Law Firm, and Albertelli Law together comprised
83.2%, 78.1%, and 72.9% of NDeX�s total revenues and 38.0%, 41.8% and 42.8% of the Company� s total revenues in each of 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. NDeX has entered into long term services agreements with its law firm customers that provide for the exclusive referral of
mortgage default and other files for processing. NDeX�s services agreements with Trott & Trott and Albertelli Law expire in 2021 and 2029,
respectively, but automatically renews for up to two successive ten year periods unless either party elects to terminate the term then-in-effect
upon prior written notice. NDeX�s services agreements with the Barrett Law Firm expire in 2033, but automatically renew for successive five
year periods unless either party elects to terminate the term then-in-effect upon prior notice. Trott & Trott, the Barrett Law Firm and Albertelli
Law, along with NDeX�s other law firm customers, pay NDeX monthly for their services.

Revenues and accounts receivables from services provided to Trott & Trott, the Barrett Law Firm and Albertelli Law were as follows (in
thousands):

Trott &
Trott

Barrett Law

Firm (and
affiliates) Albertelli

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2011
Revenues $ 33,253 $ 58,222 $ 16,957
Accounts receivable* $ 4,450 $ 13,861 $ 14,518
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2010
Revenues $ 42,808 $ 72,966 $ 12,600
Accounts receivable* $ 3,327 $ 9,867 $ 8,830
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2009 $ 43,534 $ 66,101 $ 2,295

* Includes billed and unbilled services
David A. Trott, chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX, is also the managing attorney and majority shareholder of Trott & Trott. Until
February 2008, Trott & Trott also owned a 9.1% interest in NDeX, when it assigned its interest in NDeX to APC Investments, LLC, a limited
liability company owned by the shareholders of Trott & Trott, including Mr. Trott and NDeX�s two executive vice presidents in Michigan.
Together, these three individuals owned approximately 98.0% of APC Investments. APC Investments� interest in NDeX was diluted to 7.6% in
connection with the acquisition of Barrett-NDEx on September 2, 2008. On December 1, 2009, APC Investments distributed all of its ownership
interest in NDeX to each of its members, which resulted in Mr. Trott having an aggregate 5.1% direct ownership interest in NDeX and NDeX�s
two vice presidents in Michigan, having an aggregate 2.3% ownership interest in NDeX, together. On December 31, 2009, the Company
acquired a portion of the NDeX ownership interest that was formerly held by APC Investments from its members, including Mr. Trott, for an
aggregate $8.0 million and 248,000 shares of the Company�s common stock. As a result of this transaction, Mr. Trott sold the Company 48,348
common units in NDeX, representing a 3.5% ownership interest and the Company issued to Mr. Trott 168,644 shares of its common stock,
having an aggregate fair market value of $1.8 million on December 31, 2009, using the reported closing sales price on that date. On January 4,
2010, the Company acquired the remaining aggregate 2.4% ownership interest in NDeX that was formerly held by APC Investments from its
members, including Mr. Trott for an aggregate $5.0 million. As a result of this transaction, Mr. Trott sold the Company his remaining ownership
in NDeX. In connection with these two common unit purchase agreements, the Company paid Mr. Trott $0.9 million (net of interest) in 2011,
pursuant to the terms of the two common unit purchase agreements.
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NDeX also pays Net Director, LLC and American Servicing Corporation for services provided to NDeX. Mr. Trott has an 11.1% ownership
interest in Net Director and, until June 1, 2010, had a 50% ownership interest in American Servicing Corporation. In 2011, NDeX paid Net
Director approximately $0.2 million. Mr. Trott and his family members own 80.0% of Legal Press, LLC, which owns 10.0% of the outstanding
membership interests of DLNP, in which the Company owns a 35.0% interest. In addition, Mr. Trott serves as a consultant to DLNP under a
consulting agreement and Trott & Trott has an agreement with DLNP to publish its foreclosure notices in DLNP�s publications.

The sellers of Barrett-NDEx or their designees, a number of who are key attorneys or shareholders of the Barrett Law Firm and also employees
of NDeX, hold, together, an aggregate 6.2% noncontrolling interest in NDeX. The Barrett Law Firm owns a 5.0% interest in Net Director.
During 2011, the Company paid distributions to the Sellers of Barrett-NDEx of $0.2 million pursuant to the terms of the operating agreement.

DiscoverReady LLC. The 10.0% noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady is held by DR Holdco LLC, which is owned by key employees,
including the Chief Executive Officer and President of DiscoverReady. During 2010, the Company paid distributions to DR Holdco of $0.3
million pursuant to the terms of the operating agreement.

In 2011, the Company purchased approximately one-third of the outstanding membership units of DiscoverReady from DR Holdco for
approximately $5.0 million in cash. See Note 5 for more information on this transaction

DiscoverReady�s top customer, who is a financial services company, accounted for 41% of DiscoverReady�s total revenues for 2011.

Note 17.  Reportable Segments

The Company has two operating divisions: Professional Services and Business Information and three reportable segments: (1) Mortgage Default
Processing Services; (2) Litigation Support Services; and (3) Business Information. The Mortgage Default Processing Services and Litigation
Support Services segments are part of the Professional Services Division as these segments provide professional services supporting, primarily,
attorneys and/or their clients. The Business Information segment is part of the Business Information Division. The Company determined its
reportable segments based on the types of products sold and services performed. The Mortgage Default Processing Services segment generates
revenue from NDeX, which provides mortgage default processing and related services to its customers. The Litigation Support Services segment
generates revenue by providing discovery management and document review services through DiscoverReady LLC and appellate services
through Counsel Press, LLC. Both of these operating segments generate revenues through fee-based arrangements. The Business Information
segment provides products, data and certain services through subscription-based products and a variety of media, including court and
commercial newspapers, weekly business journals and the Internet. The Business Information segment generates revenues primarily from
display and classified advertising (including events), public notices, and subscriptions and other.

Information as to the operations of the Company�s three segments as presented to and reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, who is its
chief executive officer, is set forth below. Segment assets or other balance sheet information is not presented to the Company�s chief operating
decision maker. Accordingly, the Company has not presented information relating to segment assets. Furthermore, all of the Company�s revenues
are generated in the United States. Unallocated corporate level expenses, which include costs related to the administrative functions performed
in a centralized manner and not attributable to particular segments (e.g., executive compensation expense, accounting, human resources and
information technology support), are reported in the reconciliation of the segment totals to related consolidated totals as �Corporate� items. There
have been no significant intersegment transactions for the periods reported.

These segments reflect the manner in which the Company sells its products and services to the marketplace and the manner in which it manages
its operations and makes business decisions. The tables below reflect summarized financial information concerning the Company�s reportable
segments (continuing operations only) for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.
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Reportable Segments

Professional Services
Mortgage

Default

Processing
Litigation
Support

Business
Information Corporate Total
(In thousands)

2011 Income (expense)
Revenues $ 130,362 $ 76,715 $ 78,493 $ �  $ 285,570
Direct operating expenses (64,976) (31,483) (30,012) �  (126,471) 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (39,562) (24,391) (35,238) (7,583) (106,774) 
Amortization and depreciation (13,617) (6,381) (6,242) (686) (26,926) 
Fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities (483) 13,245 3,026 �  15,788
Impairment of long-lived assets �  �  (1,179) �  (1,179) 
Equity in earnings of affiliates �  �  2,118 �  2,118

Operating income (loss) $ 11,724 $ 27,705 $ 10,966 $ (8,269) $ 42,126

2010 Income (expense)
Revenues $ 164,276 $ 58,793 $ 83,826 $ �  $ 306,895
Direct operating expenses (68,208) (23,273) (27,562) �  (119,043) 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (39,154) (17,913) (34,531) (10,563) (102,161) 
Amortization and depreciation (16,564) (3,481) (4,837) (703) (25,585) 
Fair value adjustment on earnout liabilities (1,070) �  �  �  (1,070) 
Equity in earnings of affiliates �  �  4,580 �  4,580

Operating income (loss) $ 39,280 $ 14,126 $ 21,476 $ (11,266) $ 63,616

2009 Income (expense)
Revenues $ 151,479 $ 21,056 $ 85,397 $ �  $ 257,932
Direct operating expenses (60,349) (6,348) (26,528) �  (93,225) 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (34,866) (8,323) (32,080) (11,939) (87,208) 
Amortization and depreciation (18,790) (1,605) (5,045) (864) (26,304) 
Equity in earnings of affiliates �  �  4,615 �  4,615

Operating income (loss) $ 37,474 $ 4,780 $ 26,359 $ (12,803) $ 55,810

Note 18.  Share-Based Compensation

The Company currently has in place the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan, adopted by the Board of Directors in 2007. In 2010, the Company
amended and restated its 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan, increasing the number of shares reserved for issuance from 2.7 million shares to
4.8 million shares. Of the 4.8 million shares reserved for issuance under this plan, there were 1.8 million shares available for issuance at
December 31, 2011. Under this plan, the Company may grant incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units, substitute awards and dividend awards to employees of the Company, non-employee
directors of the Company or consultants engaged by the Company.

Also in 2007, the Board adopted The Dolan Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which was approved by the stockholders. The Employee
Stock Purchase Plan allows the employees of the Company and its subsidiary corporations to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock
through payroll deductions. The Company has not yet determined when it will make the benefits under this plan available to employees. The
Company has reserved 900,000 shares of its common stock for issuance under this plan and there are no shares issued and outstanding under this
plan.
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The Company recognizes compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions in the financial statements based on the estimated fair
value of the equity or liability instrument issued. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model in deriving the fair value estimates
of share-based option awards. All inputs into the Black-Scholes model are estimates made at the time of grant. The Company estimates the
expected life of options based on the expected holding period of the option holder to determine the expected life of options it had granted. The
risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield for a term equal to the expected life of the options at the time of grant. The Company
also makes assumptions with respect to expected stock price volatility based upon a mix of the volatility of the price of its own common stock
and the average historical volatility of a select peer group of similar companies. Stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock is
based on the grant date price and is amortized over the vesting period. Forfeitures of share-based awards are estimated at time of grant and
revised in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from initial estimates. Forfeitures are estimated based on the percentage of awards
expected to vest, taking into consideration the seniority level of the award recipients. For stock options issued, the Company has assumed a five
percent forfeiture rate for all awards issued to management and other employees and non-employee directors, and a zero percent forfeiture rate
for all awards issued to executive management employees. For restricted stock issued, the Company has assumed a five percent forfeiture rate on
all restricted stock awards issued to non-executive management employees, and a zero percent forfeiture rate on restricted stock awards issued to
a limited number of executive employees.

Total share-based compensation expense for years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, was $3.8 million, $3.2 million and $2.6 million,
respectively.

Stock Options. The Company issued incentive stock options in 2006 which are all fully vested and expire ten years from the date of grant. At
December 31, 2011, there were 77,455 incentive stock options vested. The non-qualified stock options issued in 2011, 2010, and 2009 were
issued to executive management, non-executive management and other employees and non-employee directors under the 2007 Incentive
Compensation Plan. The options issued under this plan vest in four equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the grant
date. The options expire seven years after the grant date. At December 31, 2011, there were 1,234,224 non-qualified stock options vested.

The Company receives a tax deduction for certain stock option exercises and disqualifying stock dispositions during the period the options are
exercised or the stock is sold, generally for the excess of the price at which the options are sold over the exercise prices of the options.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options was immaterial.

The following ranges of assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009:

2011 2010 2009
Dividend Yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Expected volatility 47.0 -50.0% 47.0 -48.0% 48.0% 
Risk free interest rate 1.25 -2.1% 1.5 - 2.3% 2.0% 
Expected term of options 4.25 -5.5 years 4.75 years 4.75 years
Weighted average grant date fair value $ 3.73 - $5.15 $ 3.95 -$5.15 $ 5.35
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The following table represents stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2011:

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in Years)

Outstanding options at December 31, 2010 1,945,770 $ 4.83 $ 13.50 4.82
Granted 457,987 4.60 10.46
Excercised (4,000) 1.35 2.22
Canceled or forfeited (76,666) 4.98 13.16

Outstanding options at December 31, 2011 2,323,091 4.79 12.93 4.30

Options excercisable at December 31, 2011 1,311,679 $ 4.70 $ 13.76 3.37

Share-based compensation expense related to grants of stock options for the year ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was approximately
$2.2 million, $2.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively. At December 31, 2011, the aggregate intrinsic value of both options outstanding and
options exercisable was $0.5 million. At December 31, 2011, there was approximately $3.5 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to
outstanding options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years.

Restricted Stock Grants. The restricted shares issued to non-executive employees, as well as a limited number of executive management
employees, typically vest in four equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the grant date. The restricted shares issued to
non-management employees on August 1, 2007, vest in five equal installments commencing on the date of grant and each of the four
anniversaries of the grant date. Stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock is based on the grant date price and is amortized
over the vesting period.

A summary of the Company�s nonvested restricted stock as of December 31, 2011, is as follows:

Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value
Nonvested, December 31, 2010 324,906 $ 12.62
Granted 214,849 10.46
Vested (121,447) 12.85
Canceled or forfeited (16,160) 12.60

Nonvested, December 31, 2011 402,148 $ 11.40

Share-based compensation expense related to grants of restricted stock for the year ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was
approximately $1.7 million, $1.2 million and $0.9 million, respectively. Total unrecognized compensation expense for unvested restricted shares
of common stock as of December 31, 2011 was approximately $3.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period
of 2.7 years.

Note 19.  Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation. From time to time, the Company is subject to certain claims and lawsuits that have been filed in the ordinary course of business.
Although the outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined, it is management�s opinion that the ultimate resolution of these matters
will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or the financial position of the Company.

NDeX. The sellers of Barrett-NDEx, as noncontrolling interest holders in NDeX, or their transferees, each as members of NDeX, have the right
to require NDeX to repurchase all or any portion of the NDeX equity interest held by them. This right is exercisable for a period of six months
following September 2, 2012. To the extent the sellers of Barrett-NDEx timely exercise this right, the purchase price would be based upon 6.25
times NDeX�s trailing twelve month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization less the aggregate amount of any interest
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bearing indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the date the repurchase occurs. The aggregate purchase price would be payable by NDeX in
the form of a three-year unsecured note bearing interest at a rate equal to prime plus 2.0%.

DiscoverReady. Under the terms of the amended DiscoverReady limited liability agreement, DR Holdco has the right, for a period of 90 days
following November 2, 2012, to require DiscoverReady to repurchase approximately 50% of DR Holdco�s equity
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interest in DiscoverReady, and for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2013, to require DiscoverReady to purchase DR Holdco�s
remaining equity interest in DiscoverReady. In addition, for a period of 90 days following November 2, 2013, DiscoverReady also has the right
to require DR Holdco to sell its entire equity interest in DiscoverReady. In each case, if either party timely exercises its right, DiscoverReady
would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the fair market value of the equity interest. These rights may be exercised earlier under certain
circumstances. If either of these rights are exercised, the aggregate purchase price would be paid by DiscoverReady in cash, to the extent
allowable by the terms and conditions of the Company�s then-existing bank credit agreement.

Note 20.   Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Each period
presented has been adjusted to remove discontinued operations. Please see Note 9 for additional information on discontinued operations. The
Company believes that all necessary adjustments have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly the results of such periods
when read in conjunction with the annual financial statements and related notes.

Quarterly Financial Data

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter Full Year

(Unaudited)
(in Thousands)

2011
Revenues $ 71,753 $ 68,387 $ 74,217 $ 71,213 $ 285,570
Operating income 7,634 5,785 7,827 20,880 42,126
Net income attributable to The Dolan Company 3,475 2,572 3,089 10,357 19,493
Net income attributable to The Dolan Company per share�Basic and Diluted 0.12 0.09 0.10 0.34 0.65
2010
Revenues $ 76,196 $ 77,791 $ 77,438 $ 75,470 $ 306,895
Operating income 17,769 16,565 16,576 12,706 63,616
Net income attributable to The Dolan Company 9,157 8,632 9,040 5,526 32,355
Net income attributable to The Dolan Company per share�Basic and Diluted 0.30 0.29 0.30 0.18 1.07
A summary of significant events occurring in 2011 and 2010 that may assist in reviewing the information provided above follows:

2011. In May 2011, the Company purchased approximately one-third of the outstanding membership units of DiscoverReady held by its
minority partner, DR Holdco LLC. As a result of this transaction, the Company�s ownership percentage in DiscoverReady increased from 85.3%
to 90.0%, and the noncontrolling interest decreased from 14.7% to 10.0%. On July 25, 2011, the Company acquired certain assets of ACT
Litigation Services.

2010. On August 9, 2010, the Company acquired certain assets of Federal News. On December 1, 2010, the Company acquired the equity
interests of DataStream.
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Note 21.  Subsequent Events

On March 6, 2012, the Company entered into a second amendment to the credit agreement for the Company�s senior secured credit facility that
increases the maximum aggregate amount of the revolving credit facility from $155.0 million to $165.0 million and amends certain of the credit
agreement�s definitions and covenants. The new credit agreement, as amended, requires that, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter, the Company
and its consolidated subsidiaries not permit: its total cash flow leverage ratio to be more than 3.00 to 1.00 (or 3.50 to 1.00 following an
acquisition triggering event); fixed charge coverage ratio to be less than 2.00 to 1.00; and adjusted EBITDA for the previous two fiscal quarters
to be less than $23.0 million as of both March 31, 2012, and June 30, 2012, and less than $27.5 million for periods of determination thereafter,
which amount may increase up to $35.0 million upon increase of the revolving credit facility pursuant to the accordion feature. The Company
paid fees of approximately $0.3 million in connection with this amendment.

Item 9. Changes in or Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting or Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such
evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective and provided reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported accurately and within the time frames specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission�s rules and forms and accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were not any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2011, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

Management�s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, using the criteria described in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework,
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (�COSO�) of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation and those criteria, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011.

In making this assessment as of December 31, 2011, we have excluded the operations ACT Litigation Services, Inc., acquired on July 25, 2011.
The financial statements of ACT reflect total assets of approximately 17% and total revenues of approximately 6% of our consolidated financial
amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011. We have excluded this business because we have not had sufficient time to make an
assessment of its internal controls using the COSO criteria in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In excluding this
business from our assessment, we have considered the �Frequently Asked Questions� as set forth by the office of the Chief Accountant and the
Division of Corporate Finance on June 24, 2004, as revised on September 24, 2007, which acknowledges that it may not be possible to conduct
an assessment of an acquired business�s internal control over financial reporting in the period between the consummation date and the date of
management�s assessment and contemplates that such business would be excluded from management�s assessment in the year of acquisition.

McGladrey & Pullen, LLP, the independent registered accounting firm who audited our consolidated financial statements, has also audited the
effectiveness our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, as described in their report on the next page.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Dolan Company
We have audited The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries� (the �Company�) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based
on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Dolan Company�s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Management�s Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Dolan Company for the year ended December 31, 2011. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in the accompanying Management�s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has excluded the
operations of ACT Litigation Services from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, because this
business was acquired by the Company on July 25, 2011. We have also excluded this acquired business, which comprises approximately 17% of
consolidated assets and 6% of consolidated revenues as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011, from our audit of internal control over
financial reporting.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (b) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
financial statements of The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2011, and our report dated March 9, 2012, expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 9, 2012
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Item 9B. Other Information
On March 6, 2012, the Company entered into a second amendment (the �Second Amendment�) to its Third Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2010, among the Company, its consolidated subsidiaries, the lenders from time to time party thereto, U.S.
Bank National Association, as a lender, LC issuer, swing line lender, lead arranger, sole bookrunner, and as administrative agent for the lenders,
and Wells Fargo, National Association, as a lender and as syndication agent, as previously amended on September 30, 2011. The Second
Amendment increases the maximum aggregate amount of the Credit Agreement�s revolving credit facility from $155.0 million to $165.0 million
and adjusts certain of the Credit Agreement�s definitions and covenants.

The foregoing description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Second Amendment, which is filed as Exhibit 10.49 to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference herein; the first amendment to the Credit Agreement, which was filed as Exhibit 10 to the
Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 30, 2011 and is incorporated by
reference herein; and the Credit Agreement, which was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 2010 and is incorporated by reference herein.

PART III

We have incorporated by reference information required by Part III into this Annual Report on Form 10-K from our definitive Proxy Statement
for our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. We expect to file our proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in early April
2012, but will file it, in no event later than 120 days after December 31, 2011. Except for those portions specifically incorporated in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K by reference to our proxy statement, no other portions of the proxy statement are deemed to be filed as part of this
Form 10-K.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
We have incorporated into this item by reference the information provided under �Proposal 1�Election of Directors,� �Executive Officers,� �Directors
Continuing in Office,� �Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,� �Our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policies� and �Audit
Committee� in our proxy statement.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
We have incorporated into this item by reference the information provided under �Compensation Discussion and Analysis,� �Executive
Compensation,� �Director Compensation,� �Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation� and �Compensation Committee Report� in
our proxy statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
We have incorporated into this item by reference the information provided under �Principal Stockholders and Beneficial Ownership of Directors
and Executive Officers� in our proxy statement.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The table below sets forth information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans as of December 31,
2011. On December 31, 2011, we had one active equity compensation plan, the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan, which was amended and
restated in 2010 to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance from 2.7 million shares to 4.8 million shares. Our board of directors and
stockholders have also approved an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, having an effective date after December 31, 2007. We have not yet
determined when or if we will implement the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
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Plan Category

Number of
Securities to be

issued upon
exercise of

outstanding
options, warrants

and rights

Weighted average
exercise price

of
outstanding

options,
warrants
and rights

Number of securities
remaining available

for future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected

in
first column)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders: 2007
Incentive Compensation Plan 2,323,091 $ 12.93 1,752,581(1) 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan �  �  900,000

Subtotal 2,323,091 $ 12.93 2,652,581

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders �  �  �  

Total 2,323,091 $ 12.93 2,652,581

(1) Includes 16,160 shares of restricted stock that were forfeited by grantees during 2011, which are available to be reissued under the 2007
Incentive Compensation Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions and Director Independence
We have incorporated into this item by reference the information provided under �Related Party Transactions and Policies� and �Director
Independence� in our proxy statement. Please also refer to the independence discussions in our proxy statement as they relate to each of our
committees under �Corporate Governance.�

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
We have incorporated into this item by reference the information provided under �Fees of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm� and
�Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services� in our proxy statement.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedule
a. Financial Statements and Schedules.

1. Financial Statements. The consolidated financial statements filed as part of this report are listed in the index to financial statements
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as follows and incorporated in this Item 15 by reference:

Title Page
Report of McGladrey  & Pullen, LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm of The Dolan Company 64
Report of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm of The Detroit Legal News
Publishing, LLC 65
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 66
Consolidated Statements of Operations for years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 67
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders� Equity for years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 68
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 69
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 70
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2. Financial Statement Schedules. Financial statement schedules are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which
they are required or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the related notes.

B.     EXHIBITS

Exhibit
No.

Title Method of Filing

  2.1 Membership Interests Purchase Agreement by and among
DiscoverReady LLC, DR Holdco LLC, Steven R. Harber,
David Shub, James K. Wagner, Paul Yerkes, C. Parkhill Mays
and The Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media Company) dated
November 2, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of our quarterly report
on Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009. The
schedules and exhibit to the Membership Interest Purchase
Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K. We have agreed to furnish supplementally to
the SEC, upon request, a copy of the omitted schedules and
exhibits.

  2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 25, 2011, among The
Dolan Company, DiscoverReady LLC, ACT Litigation
Services, Inc. and the Persons listed on Annex A thereto
(excluding schedules and exhibits, which The Dolan Company
agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 26, 2011.

  3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 of our current report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 26, 2010.

  3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 18, 2008.

  3.3 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock of The Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media
Company)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2009.

  4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate Filed herewith.

  4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2009, by and
between The Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media Company)
and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2009.
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Exhibit
No.

Title Method of Filing

  4.3 Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated as of March 17,
2010, by and between The Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media
Company) and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of our current report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 22, 2010.

  4.4 Amendment No. 2 to Rights Agreement, dated as of September
15, 2011, effective as of September 16, 2011, by and between
The Dolan Company and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as successor
Rights Agent

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of our current report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 16, 2011.

10.1* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of James P.
Dolan dated effective April 1, 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
June 7, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).

10.2* First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement of James P. Dolan dated December 29, 2008

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2009.

10.3* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between The
Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media Company) and Scott J.
Pollei dated August 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2009.

10.4* Employment Agreement between The Dolan Company (f/k/a
Dolan Media Company) and Vicki J. Duncomb dated effective
August 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2009.

10.5* Employment Agreement of Mark W.C. Stodder dated effective
April 1, 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
June 7, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).

10.6* First Amendment to the Employment Agreement of Mark W.C.
Stodder dated December 29, 2008

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2009.

10.7* Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement of Mark
W.C. Stodder dated August 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of our quarterly
report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009.

10.8* Employment Agreement of David A. Trott dated as of March 14,
2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our registration
statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on April 26, 2007
(Registration NO. 333-142372).

10.9* First Amendment to the Employment Agreement of David A.
Trott dated December 29, 2008

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2009.

10.10* Separation Agreement and General Release between The Dolan
Company (f/k/a Dolan Media Company) and Mark E. Baumbach
dated July 28, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 28, 2009.

10.11* Consulting Agreement between Mark E. Baumbach and The
Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media Company) dated September
28, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of our quarterly
report on Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009.

10.12* 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan (Amended and Restated in
2010)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of our current report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 26, 2010.

10.13* Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
July 11, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).

10.14* Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
July 11, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).

10.15* Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
July 11, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).
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Exhibit
No.

Title Method of Filing

10.16* Amended and Restated Executive Change in Control Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 11, 2011.

10.17 Form of Indemnification Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of our amendment
to registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
June 29, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).

10.18* 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of our amendment
to registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
July 11, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).

10.19 Services Agreement between American Processing Company,
LLC, Trott & Trott, P.C. and David A. Trott

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
June 7, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372). Portions of this
exhibit were omitted and have been filed separately with the
Secretary of the SEC pursuant to an application for confidential
treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.20 Services Agreement between American Processing Company,
LLC, Feiwell & Hannoy Professional Corporation, Michael
Feiwell and Douglas Hannoy

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
June 7, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372). Portions of this
exhibit were omitted and have been filed separately with the
Secretary of the SEC pursuant to an application for confidential
treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.21 Services Agreement between American Processing Company,
LLC and Wilford & Geske, Professional Association

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 25, 2008. Portions
of this exhibit were omitted and have been filed separately with
the Secretary of the SEC pursuant to an application for
confidential treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.22 First Amendment to the Services Agreement between American
Processing Company, LLC and Wilford & Geske, P.A. dated
June 4, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our quarterly
report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 6, 2009.

10.23 Second Amendment to the Services Agreement between
American Processing Company, LLC and Wilford & Geske,
P.A. dated June 4, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our quarterly
report on Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009.
Portions of this exhibit were omitted and have been filed
separately with the Secretary of the SEC pursuant to an
application for confidential treatment under Rule 406 of the
Securities Act.

10.24 Amended and Restated Services Agreement between National
Default Exchange, LP and Barrett Daffin Frappier Turner &
Engel, LLP dated September 2, 2008

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 2, 2008.
Portions of this exhibit were omitted and have been filed
separately with the Secretary of the SEC pursuant to an
application for confidential treatment under Rule 406 of the
Securities Act.

10.25 Letter Agreement amending Amended and Restated Services
Agreement between National Default Exchange, LP and Barrett
Daffin Frappier Turner & Engel, LLP dated January 13, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2009. Portions
of this exhibit were omitted and have been filed separately with
the Secretary of the SEC pursuant to an application for
confidential treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.26 Services Agreement between American Processing Company,
LLC (d/b/a NDeX) and James E. Albertelli, P.A. (and, for
certain purposes, James E. Albertelli, individually) dated
October 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 5, 2009. Portions
of this exhibit were omitted and have been filed separately with
the Secretary of the SEC pursuant to an application for
confidential treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.27 First Amendment to Services Agreement among American
Processing Company, LLC (d/b/a NDeX), James E. Albertelli,

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our quarterly
report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 5, 2010.
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P.A. and James E. Albertelli, individually, dated as of July 12,
2010
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Exhibit
No.

Title Method of Filing

10.28 Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of The Detroit
Legal News Publishing, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of our amendment to
registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on
June 7, 2007 (Registration No. 333-142372).

10.29 Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of American
Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of our registration
statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on April 26, 2007
(Registration No. 333-142372). This Exhibit 10.12 also
included Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated
Operating Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC,
identified in this exhibit list as Exhibit 10.30.

10.30 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of our registration
statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on April 26, 2007
(Registration No. 333-142372).

10.31 Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 3, 2007.

10.32 Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 25, 2008.

10.33 Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 2, 2008.

10.34 Amendment No. 5 to the American Processing Company, LLC
Operating Agreement dated July 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our quarterly report
on Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009.

10.35 Amendment No. 6 to the Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2010.

10.36 Amendment No. 7 to the Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2010.

10.37 Amendment No. 8 to the Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement of American Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010.

10.38 Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company
Agreement of DiscoverReady LLC dated as of November 2, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of our quarterly report
on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009.

10.39 Amendment No. 1 to Third Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of DiscoverReady LLC dated as
of April 30, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of our quarterly report
on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 6, 2010.

10.40 Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
December 6, 2010, among The Dolan Company, the subsidiaries
of The Dolan Company, the lenders from time to time party
thereto, U.S. Bank National Association, as administrative agent,
lead arranger and sole bookrunner, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as syndication agent

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 7, 2010.

10.41 Asset Purchase Agreement among The Dolan Company (f/k/a
Dolan Media Company), American Processing Company, LLC
(d/b/a NDeX), James E. Albertelli, P.A., The Albertelli Firm,
P.C., Albertelli Title, Inc. and James E. Albertelli dated October
1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 5, 2009. The
schedules and exhibits to the Asset Purchase Agreement have
been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We
have agreed to furnish supplementally to the SEC, upon request,
a copy of the omitted schedules and exhibits.

10.42 First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement among American
Processing Company, LLC (d/b/a NDeX), The Dolan Company
(f/k/a Dolan Media Company), James E. Albertelli, P.A., The
Albertelli Firm, P.C., Albertelli Title, Inc. and James E.
Albertelli, individually, dated as of July 12, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our quarterly report
on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 5, 2010.
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  10.43 Common Unit Purchase Agreement by and between David A.
Trott, Ellen Coon, Trustee of the Ellen Coon Living Trust u/a/d
9/9/98, Marcy J. Ford, Trustee of the Marcy Ford Revocable
Trust u/a/d 7/12/04, William D. Meagher, Trustee of the
William D. Meagher Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, and Jeanne M. Kivi,
Trustee of the Jeanne M. Kivi Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, Dolan APC,
LLC, The Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media Company) and
Trott & Trott P.C. dated December 31, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2010. The
exhibits to the Common Unit Purchase Agreement have been
omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We have
agreed to furnish supplementally to the SEC, upon request, a
copy of the omitted exhibits.

  10.44 Common Unit Purchase Agreement by and between David A.
Trott, Ellen Coon, Trustee of the Ellen Coon Living Trust u/a/d
9/9/98, Marcy J. Ford, Trustee of the Marcy Ford Revocable
Trust u/a/d 7/12/04, William D. Meagher, Trustee of the
William D. Meagher Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, and Jeanne M. Kivi,
Trustee of the Jeanne M. Kivi Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, Dolan APC,
LLC, The Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan Media Company) and
Trott & Trott P.C. dated January 4, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2010. The
exhibits to the Common Unit Purchase Agreement have been
omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We have
agreed to furnish supplementally to the SEC, upon request, a
copy of the omitted exhibits.

  10.45* Employment Agreement of Renee Jackson dated as of July 12,
2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to our annual report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 11, 2011.

  10.46 Amendment No. 2 to Third Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of DiscoverReady LLC, dated
as of May 11, 2011

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our current report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 16, 2011.

  10.47 First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2011, by and among the
Dolan Company, its consolidated subsidiaries, the lenders from
time to time party to the Credit Agreement, U.S. Bank National
Association, as a lender, LC issuer, swing line lender, and as
administrative agent for the lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as a lender and as syndication agent.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to our current report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 2011.

  10.48 Second Amendment to Services Agreement among American
Processing Company, LLC (d/b/a NDeX), James E. Albertelli,
P.A. and James E. Albertelli, individually, dated as of
November 15, 2011

Filed herewith.

  10.49 Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated March 6, 2012, by and among the Dolan
Company, its consolidated subsidiaries, the lenders from time
to time party to the Credit Agreement, U.S. Bank National
Association, as a lender, LC issuer, swing line lender, and as
administrative agent for the lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as a lender and as syndication agent.

Filed herewith.

101 Interactive Data File Filed herewith.

  21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed herewith.

  23.1 Consent of McGladrey & Pullen, LLP Filed herewith.

  23.2 Consent of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP Filed herewith.

  31.1 Section 302 Certification of James P. Dolan Filed herewith.

  31.2 Section 302 Certification of Vicki J. Duncomb Filed herewith.

  32.1 Section 906 Certification of James P. Dolan Filed herewith.

  32.2 Section 906 Certification of Vicki J. Duncomb Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE DOLAN COMPANY

Dated: March 9, 2012

By: /s/ JAMES P. DOLAN

James P. Dolan
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ VICKI J. DUNCOMB

Vicki J. Duncomb
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ JAMES P. DOLAN Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 9, 2012
James P. Dolan (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ VICKI J. DUNCOMB Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 9, 2012
Vicki J. Duncomb (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ JOHN C. BERGSTROM Director March 9, 2012
John C. Bergstrom

/s/ ANTON J. CHRISTIANSON Director March 9, 2012
Anton J. Christianson

/s/ BILL L. FAIRFIELD Director March 9, 2012
Bill L. Fairfield

/s/ ARTHUR J. KINGSBURY Director March 9, 2012
Arthur J. Kingsbury

/s/ LAUREN RICH FINE Director March 9, 2012
Lauren Rich Fine

/s/ GEORGE ROSSI Director March 9, 2012
George Rossi

/s/ GARY H. STERN Director March 9, 2012
Gary H. Stern
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Exhibit
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    4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate Filed herewith.

  10.48 Second Amendment to Services Agreement among American
Processing Company, LLC (d/b/a NDeX), James E. Albertelli,
P.A. and James E. Albertelli, individually, dated as of November
15, 2011

Filed herewith.

  10.49 Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated March 6, 2012, by and among the Dolan
Company, its consolidated subsidiaries, the lenders from time to
time party to the Credit Agreement, U.S. Bank National
Association, as a lender, LC issuer, swing line lender, and as
administrative agent for the lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as a lender and as syndication agent

Filed herewith.

  21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed herewith.

  23.1 Consent of McGladrey & Pullen, LLP Filed herewith.

  23.2 Consent of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP Filed herewith.

  31.1 Section 302 Certification of James P. Dolan Filed herewith.

  31.2 Section 302 Certification of Vicki J. Duncomb Filed herewith.

  32.1 Section 906 Certification of James P. Dolan Filed herewith.

  32.2 Section 906 Certification of Vicki J. Duncomb Filed herewith.

101 Interactive Data File Filed herewith.

109

Edgar Filing: Dolan Co. - Form 10-K

137


